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Corporate Profile

THE PRC CITY GAS DISTRIBUTION
FLAGSHIP OF CHINA RESOURCES GROUP

China Resources Gas Group Limited (“CR Gas”), substantially
owned by China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited, one
of the largest state-owned conglomerates in China, is a leading
gas utilities group in China, which is principally engaged in
downstream city gas distribution business including piped natural
gas distribution, natural gas filling stations operation and sales of
gas appliances. lts operations are strategically located in areas
of China, which are economically more developed and densely
populated and areas with rich reserves of natural gas.

Leveraging on the excellent industry fundamentals and the Group’s
execution competency, CR Gas continues to expand rapidly in 2016
via organic and acquisition growths. At the end of 2015, CR Gas'’s
portfolio is consisted of 227 city gas projects in 22 provinces of
China including 14 provincial capitals and 3 direct administrative
municipalities with an annual gross gas sales volume of some 16.3
billion cubic meters and 26.49 million customers.

The optimization of energy structure and environmental pollution
control will promote the sustainable growth of natural gas
consumption in China. The PRC government has, in recent years,
taken various measures to promote the development and utilization
of less polluting energy sources. The natural gas industry is in sync
with the core development idea of innovation, harmony, green, open
and sharing as compared with conventional energy resources such
as coal and crude oil. The Natural Gas Development “13th Five-
Year” Plan recently published by the State also stresses that the
popular use of natural gas will play an important role to protect the
ecological environment, improve air quality, enhance life quality and
health of the general public and achieve sustainable development.

The natural gas market in China is still in the important development
period, as China remains the most important region in the
global rise of natural gas development. CR Gas is well placed
to take advantage of such a favorable operating environment
and to become the most respectable leader in the PRC’s gas
industry by continuously expanding through organic and external
growths; diligently enhancing its operational efficiency in pursue
of excellence; delivering a safe and reliable supply of clean
energy as well as the caring, competent and efficient service to
our customers; offering growing and sustainable performance
to shareholders; creating extensive professional and personal
development opportunities to employees; and contributing to the
protection and improvement of the Chinese and global environment.
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Pan-China Footprint of CR Gas
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The Group will expand steadily via sustainable
organic growth and quality external acquisitions, at
the same time actively explore new opportunities
arising from its gas value chain and customer
base.

OVERALL RESULTS

In 2016, China’s economy has entered into the “new normal” phase
whereby its economic growth shifted from high speed of double-
digit growth to medium-to-high speed growth of about 7%. Under the
shifting pace of economic growth and increasingly tight environmental
constraints, the need for green transformation of energy is increasingly
pressing, and the optimisation of energy structure will significantly
improve the consumption proportion of natural gas. In 2016, the
international natural gas market continued with the supply-to-demand
relationship of turning from relatively tight supply to loose, and from
a seller’'s market to a buyer’'s market. Therefore, benefiting from the
supportive national policy and reduction of natural gas price, the growth
of China’s overall consumption of natural gas rebounded from 5.7% in
2015 t0 6.6% in 2016.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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Despite the challenging economic environment, the Group’s gross
gas sales volume increased by 15% and new connected residential
customers increased by 10%. Although the turnover for 2016 increased
by only 0.3% to HK$32,916 million, profit attributable to the Company’s
equity holders increased by 16% to HK$3,289 million. The Group’s city
gas distribution business in China continued to contribute significant
profit and cash inflow to the Group. The Group has become the largest
city gas distributor in the PRC with gross annual gas sales volume of
16.3 billion m® and 26.49 million customers.

FAVOURABLE DOWNSTREAM NATURAL GAS
INDUSTRY FUNDAMENTALS IN THE PRC

The economic growth and urbanisation in China have continued to
increase the demand for energy in China. In order to reduce reliance
on more polluting energy sources such as coal and crude oil, the PRC
government has, in recent years, taken concrete measures to promote
the development and utilisation of less polluting energy sources. Natural
gas is considered an effective and cleaner substitute for conventional
energy sources such as coal and crude oil. The PRC government has
therefore been very supportive of the development of the natural gas
industry in China.

The percentage of natural gas in total energy consumption in the PRC
is very low compared to international levels. According to BP Statistical
Review of World Energy June 2016 and the Natural Gas Development
“13th Five-Year” Plan published by the National Development and
Reform Committee (“NDRC”), for 2015, natural gas only accounted for
5.9% of China’s total primary energy consumption, which is far lower
than the international average of 23.8%.

The Natural Gas Development “13th Five-Year” Plan recently published
by NDRC has stated that natural gas will account for 10% of the
energy sources in China by 2020, up from the current level of 5.9%.
The Group believes that natural gas is a high quality, efficient and
cleaner low-carbon energy. To accelerate the development of natural
gas industries and increase the proportion of natural gas consumption
in the primary energy source is a requisite move for China to speed
up the development of a clean, low-carbon, safe and efficient modern
energy system. Furthermore it is an efficient path to relieve environment
constraints, improve air quality and realise green and low-carbon
development. It is also important for promoting energy conservation
and emission reduction, benefiting the masses and promoting stable
economic development.

EBRRERERAT —Z—RFFR
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With the increasingly serious haze problem, the national environmental
policy continues relentlessly. The efforts on pushing forward “coal-to-gas
conversion” projects have increased significantly so as to decrease air
pollution resulting from burning coal by promoting the use of natural gas.
In some regions where air pollution is serious, compulsory measures
have been taken. “Coal-to-gas conversion” projects have provided a
strong support for the growth of demand on natural gas in China.

After the implementation of natural gas pricing mechanism reform
in China in 2015, the PRC government in 2016 published a series of
documents, such as “Measures for the Administration of the Price of
Natural Gas Pipeline Transportation (Trial Implementation)” ( { KARE &

BEIEREESA(F1T)) ) and “Notice on Specifying the Pricing Policy
on Storage Facility” ( BB RRIEEBERBESABA) ). These
are to promote the separation of upstream natural gas pipelines network
operation from natural gas sales, require operators of long-distance
pipelines networks to proactively disclose relevant information and
specify the conditions for downstream users to have access to pipeline
networks. The above documents will further drive upstream pipeline
networks, LNG receiving terminals and other infrastructures to be
opened fairly to third party market players.

In addition to those related to long-distance pipelines, NDRC issued
“Notice on Strengthening Provincial Price Regulation of Natural Gas
Transmission and Reducing Gas Consumption Costs of Enterprises”
( CEER hNsaith T XRARBE R EBREERECERRKARBA) ) in August
2016. This requires provincial pipeline entities to lower the high price of
intra-provincial pipeline transmission and distribution charges, reduce
intermediate levels of operation in gas supply and reduce costs of gas
transportation. It is expected that the natural gas cost for end users will
be further decreased, which will facilitate the development and usage
of natural gas.

The above factors augur well for the natural gas industry in China and
offer significant opportunity for the continuous growth of the Group in
the foreseeable future.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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SUSTAINABLE EXPANSION AND GROWTH OF
EXISTING BUSINESS

During 2008, the Group acquired a portfolio of 7 city gas distribution
projects from China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited. The
acquisition allowed the Company to enter into the fast growing city gas
distribution business in China and provided the Group with a sound
foundation to tap into the burgeoning city gas distribution business in
the PRC by capturing the rapid increase in demand for natural gas in
China and leveraging on China Resources Group's strong presence and
brand name in China.

From 2009 to 2016, the Group acquired another 220 city gas projects.
These projects are mainly located in regions where there are rich natural
gas reserves and the economically more developed Eastern Board as
well as densely populated provincial capitals and emerging cities of
China. The Group also focuses on developing gas distribution projects
in areas where there are existing or potential piped natural gas supply.
During 2016, the city gas projects acquired from 2008 to 2015 continue
to grow organically in line with the growth in natural gas supply in China.

During 2016, the Group continued to make new acquisitions from the
market and invested in 15 city gas projects. As at 31st December,
2016, CR Gas portfolio included 227 city gas projects and its footprint
covered 22 Chinese provinces and included 3 direct administrative
municipalities, 14 provincial capitals and 72 prefecture level cities.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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EXTENSION OF GAS VALUE CHAIN & CUSTOMER
BASE

In 2016, the Group also actively explored the extension of its industry
value chain and customer base. The Company cooperated with China
Resources Power Holdings Company Limited in Fujian Province in
respect of power sales by leveraging the advantages of both parties
and establishing a joint venture. CR Gas has 26.3 million residential
users and 0.19 million industrial and commercial users. In future, we
will continuously utilise CR Gas’s competitive advantage in customer
resources; select those provinces with healthy development in gas
business and with relevant policies to engage in power sales business
and explore the demand for power usage of existing gas customers.

In 2016, the Company carried out 6 pilot projects in distributed energy
sector with a total installed capacity of 40MW and an expected total
investment of approximately HK$380 million, covering various formats
such as hotels, hospitals, shopping complexes and industrial parks.
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Furthermore, CR Gas will pay close attention to the national development
policies on new energy automobiles and proactively conduct research on
the development of charging posts business. CR Gas cooperated with
local public transportation group in Hangzhou to provide electricity for
electric buses which have replaced the traditional buses.

BENCHMARKING TO ENHANCE EFFICIENCY

The Group’s growth in the past have been mainly driven by acquisition.
Going forward, the Group will focus more on improving the operational
efficiency and performance of its existing city gas projects, as the
number of available acquisition targets, especially bigger city gas
projects, have been reducing over the years. In this respect, the Group
continues to carry out the company-wide Lean Management Campaign
started since 2012 with the aim of utilising minimum amount of resources
to maximise value added product and service delivery to customers in
timely manners.

The Group also continues the company-wide Benchmarking Campaign
which started in 2013 with the objective of learning and implementing the
best practices in the downstream city gas industry. This is to enable the
Group to measure up with the best and eventually outperform the peers.

The Benchmarking practice, which is continuing relentlessly throughout
the Group’s member companies, has integrated seamlessly with the
Lean Management measures, by comparing benchmarks, finding
differences, learning from others. These Benchmarking measures will
accelerate the materialisation of the Company’s goal.

HONESTY & INTEGRITY CULTURE

The Group always regards honesty & integrity as its foundation of
development, and has issued and implemented a series of measures
in recent years, including Regulation on Honesty & Integrity ( {Fl{z&
MEEPHE) ) and Rules for Staff Responsible for Honesty & Integrity
Culture ( (BEAHEB TIERIE) ) and requires every staff to sign the
Honesty & Integrity Declaration ( (HEABEE) ).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to enhance its standard of corporate governance
by benchmarking with good corporate governance practices and has
adopted a Corporate Governance Handbook based on the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Code”) issued by The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Corporate Governance Report
is set out on pages 41 to 54 of this annual report.
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Chairman’s Statement

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group is constantly alert to the threats or uncertainties with negative
consequences facing the industry and has been taking various measures
to safeguard the Group’s interest.

The system of annual and regular safety audit has been established
continuously on all operating member companies of the Group to ensure
compliance with national and local safety regulations.

With new structure and increase in staff number, the Company has set
up 5 regional auditing centers across the country and carried out 86
audits at the Group and member company levels covering areas such
financial, operation and project construction. Various audit and risk
management guidelines have been revised and issued.

The Group has also set up the Preliminary Investment Review Committee
and carried out legal due diligence and reviews on investment proposals
and major contracts. Investment rules covering investments in private
enterprises, LNG gas stations, pre and post-investment evaluation
process, have been revised, issued and implemented. In 2016, the
risk management measures in respect of anti-monopoly and anti-
unfair competition was significantly reinforced through specific legal
training, compiling and issuing the Guidance for Anti-monopoly and
Anti-unfair Competition. Member companies were required to conduct
self-inspection and self-correction, made correct response, strengthened
the concept of all member companies in compliance with laws and

regulations. All these measures yielded positive results.

ENVIRONMENT AND SOCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS

The Group is supporting the ongoing green environmental policies of
the PRC government by actively expanding our cleaner natural gas
business. Based on the annualised gross amount of about 16.3 billion
m? of natural gas distributed by the Group, it is estimated that annually
the Group helps to replace approximately 20,836,000 tons of coal usage
and reduce approximately 47,088,000 tons of carbon dioxide emissions
and 399,070 tons of pollutants.

The Group also carried out charitable activities as token of measure
to contribute to society. The Group’s member companies participated
in poverty alleviation, donation towards education, caring for
underprivileged groups and volunteer service activities in several
regions, proactively donated money and goods for various public welfare
activities in 2016, thus building good corporate images for the Group.
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CAPITAL MARKET PERFORMANCE

From 2008 to 2016, the share price of the Group has increased by
5.37 times from HK$3.42 to HK$21.80 and its market capitalisation has
increased by 14.7 times from HK$3.083 billion to HK$48.483 billion.

From 2008 to 2016, the profit of the Group increased by 12.9 times from
HK$237 million to HK$3.289 billion, turnover increased by 10.0 times
from HK$2.99 billion to HK$32.92 billion and total assets increased by
15.1 times from HK$3.71 billion to HK$59.68 billion.

Based on Bloomberg’s report, as at 31st December, 2016, the Group
was covered by 25 analyst reports which is the highest number among
all listed peers in Hong Kong.

BBB+

BBB+

In 2016, International rating agencies, Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s and
Fitch, have affirmed the Group’s investment grade ratings of BBB+/Baal/
BBB+ respectively, affirming the healthy state of the Group’s financial
position as well as its quality income stream from its Pan-China city gas

project portfolio.

Yazm E}HI:
Asia
News-
week
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The Group continues to receive many prestigious international and
domestic acknowledgements from respected publications and institutions
in 2016. Platts named us in Top 250 Global Energy Company Rankings.
Our ranking continued its climb and advanced significantly in 2016
to position 140 from position 181 in 2015. Asia Newsweek Magazine
awarded the Company the “Best Results Performance Company” and
the “Green New Energy Enterprise”. It was included in “Top 100 Hong
Kong Listed Companies” by cailianpress.com for the first time.

INCENTIVE AWARD SCHEME

The Group adopted an incentive award scheme (the “Incentive Award
Scheme”) on 1st December, 2008 and amended the scheme on
16th March, 2010, for the purpose of recognising and motivating
the contribution of employees and providing incentives to existing
employees. Details of the Incentive Award Scheme are set out in the
Directors’ Report.

OUTLOOK

In 2017, CR Gas continually adheres to bench-marking for efficiency
as our direction, further explores business opportunities arising from
gas value chain and customer base, persistently enhances internal
management efficiency, reduces operating cost and maintains positive
results.

Qinhuangdao Project acquired in 2015 has started to contribute positively
to the Group’s profit. Acquisition of Qingdao and Dalian Projects which
were announced in 2015 will be completed in 2017. These new projects
will contribute significantly to the Group’s gas volume and bottom line in
the next few years.

The Group has embarked on various operational enhancement
measures to boost the quality of its organic growth, starting with “Lean
Management” practice and “Bench-marking” measure in 2012 and 2013
respectively. The Group continues to focus intensely on these measures
to improve operation efficiencies relentlessly in 2017 and beyond.

The Group will ride on the continuing favourable industry fundamentals

and its experienced management team with strong execution record to
scale new heights via quality organic growth and external acquisitions.
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APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express
our most sincere appreciation to our business partners, customers
and shareholders for their unfailing support as well as all the Group’s
employees for their hard work and dedication in carrying out their duties
and in achieving the Group’s business goal.

WANG CHUANDONG
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28th March, 2017
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The management team continuously improves
the operational efficiency of the Group to achieve
sustainable organic growth.

I
]
il

OPERATING RESULTS

The Group achieved an increase in turnover of 0.3% to HK$32,916
million and recorded profit attributable to the Company’s equity holders
of HK$3,289 million for the year ended 31st December, 2016 an increase
of 16% over previous corresponding period. The operating profit of
the Company increased by 21.7% to HK$5,955 million and the cash
generated from operations increased from HK$5,690 million in 2015 to
HK$7,365 million in 2016.

The revenue of the Group was derived from gas sales, gas connection
fee, engineering design & construction fees and sales of gas appliances,
which respectively accounts for 72.5%, 22.6%, 4.1% and 0.8% of the
revenue for 2016 (2015: 73.8%, 20.9%, 4.7% and 0.6% respectively).
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Gross gas sales volume increased 15% from 14.12 billion m® to 16.27
billion m?3.

Thanks to the recovery of the real estate market in China in 2016, the
continuing promotion of affordable housing construction by the state
government and the Group’s effort in connecting gas to old residential
households, the total new connected residential customers in 2016
increased by 10% to 2.69 million from 2.45 million in 2015.

New Investments

In 2016, the Group continued to make new acquisitions and invested
or paid HK$391 million in 15 city gas projects. Most of these projects
are either wholly owned or majority owned by the Group. In addition,
as at 31st December, 2016, the Company has announced or the Board
has approved another 17 proposed city gas distribution and related
projects with proposed investments of HK$1,183 million. The above new
investments amounted to HK$1,574 million.

The investments will enable the Group to further extend its coverage
and footprint in the PRC. The Group has existing city gas operations in
these provinces and has 17 regional offices set up in various strategic
locations in the PRC. The projects of the Investments will be efficiently
integrated and managed by the relevant regional office depending on
their geographical locations. As such, the Group considers that the
investments create synergy with the Group’s existing gas operation,
thereby will broaden the Group’s revenue base as well as enhance and
sustain its profitability.

The Group also conducts ongoing evaluation of past investments, which
are essential for making decisions on future investments.
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Market Driven Gas Price Reforms

In the effort to make natural gas price more market based, reverse
unrealistic residential gas pricing and shift the cost burden away
from the industrial and commercial sectors, the NDRC announced in
March 2014 that the country would introduce three-tiered gas pricing
for residential use. By the end of 2016, 85% of our affected residential
volume in cities such as Wuxi, Zhengzhou, Nanjing, Shanghai, etc., have
adopted step pricing system for residential customers. This step pricing
mechanism has led to expansion of residential dollar-margin in 2016.

Among all peers, CR Gas has the most number of residential customers,
thus benefit most from this measure and future upward revisions of
residential gas price.

In 2016, with further deepening of the market-oriented pricing reform,
various category of prices were further liberalised. This time NDRC
did not make adjustment on the non-residential city gate natural gas
price, but chose to allow the upstream suppliers to negotiate with
downstream enterprises according to the benchmark city-gate price and
relevant provisions. Since the winter season which started in November,
upstream enterprise CNPC began to carry out price negotiation with
downstream gas companies according to the actual local supply and
demand situations. Furthermore, in accordance with the notice issued
by NDRC, the natural gas price for fertilizer use was fully liberalised
on 10th November, 2016. Given that the prices for shale gas, coalbed
methane, coal-based gas, LNG and direct-supply customers have been
liberalised, the domestic natural gas volume with market-oriented pricing
has exceeded 50% of the total consumption volume. This indicated that
the market-oriented pricing reform for natural gas in China has achieved
a significant breakthrough.
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In the long run, the cheaper market based gas will greatly stimulate
demand as abundant cheaper gas is going to be available globally and in
China within the next 3 to 5 years and will thus enable the NDRC to meet
its 2020 goal of gas making 10% of the total Chinese energy sources,
up from the current 5.9% level. Such an environment will be extremely
positive for the entire downstream city gas industry.

“BENCHMARKING” TO ENHANCE
OPERATIONAL EFFICIENCY

“Benchmarking” is the process of comparing one’s business processes
and performance metrics to the best practices of the industry. The
Group has embarked on this best practice to benchmark across all
business units. “Benchmarking” has started off internally with intra-group
benchmarking and have extended to benchmarking against external best
practices of the industry.

Implementing “Benchmarking” measure is an indispensable choice for
CR Gas to accomplish the fundamental transformation of its growth
model from resources-driven growth to efficiency improvement, and is
also one crucial approach taken by CR Gas to achieve its strategic goal
to become the leading world-class gas enterprise in China.

This combination of internal and external benchmarking helps each
member company to identify the most important gaps between its current
state and where it wants to be. It creates a road map for change and
generates the rigorous cost and performance baseline necessary to
effectively track progress on that road map over time in terms of cost
reductions and performance improvements. All member companies
were required to sign “Benchmarking Responsibility Contracts” with
head office, and the 82 benchmarks previously identified were further
streamlined into 25 operation management benchmarks, highlighting the
key objectives and becoming more focused and precise. This ongoing
campaign has led to many satisfying results in 2016. For example, the
average gas leakage rate has decreased further to 2.3%, lower than the
industrial average of 4%.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016



BEREESROMRIRT
RO NE

FEEBERI7TERET OASBHERAE
BEEZPBEETMRRARNATREE - Z&
HRLBERES B MEEAN— AT
AReE - HEADRSZEWE  ="HE
A IRTS & R E 3 TN ET R BRI
RIBIELRE -

A BB BT AB R - Bk
B MABERATERD B B AR AR
S0+ TR DA DR A B Y
B

REEMRFER - REBREMNN=FARE
BRETR=ZEARREBTRTORENEER
SREE - ARBETETR REELD
O — ST EBRR R ETRENEEL
Te[E - fEMmHE— SRR o

REWE

Report from the Chief Executive Officer

CONTINUOUS EFFICIENCY IMPROVEMENT
OF REGIONAL CENTRES AND DESIGN &
CONSTRUCTION CENTRES

The Group has 17 regional centres to decentralise the management
of the day to day operation of the Group’s city gas projects across
China. Each regional centre is responsible for the day to day operation
of a cluster of cities within their respective regions. This enhances the
operation efficiencies and provides better services that respond faster
to changing local demand and conditions.

Members of the Group’s management team concurrently serve as
regional general managers. The arrangement minimises the increase
in headcounts or resources, thereby achieving the goal of attaining
maximum results with minimum resources.

The Group’s three gas pipeline design centres and three gas pipeline
construction centres in Nanjing, Chengdu and Zhengzhou were
centralised and managed directly by the Head Office. The centralisation
of the Group’s design and construction activities will further enhance
standardisation of pipeline construction and central procurements

thereby resulting in further cost reductions.
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BUSINESS PROCESS STREAMLINING AND
OPERATION ENHANCEMENT

The Group continues its systematic review of the business and
management processes of its various city gas projects. This ongoing
process is expected to continuously enhance the overall operational
efficiency of city gas projects.

The Group’s supply chain management was further streamlined with
rigorous tender system covering construction projects with the issue
and implementation of new or revised guidelines covering various
categories of projects and quality control measures. With the help of
centralised procurement IT system, most of our purchase materials
have been centralised, representing 85.5% of total material procurement
expenditure up to the end of 2016. The procurement costs have
decreased by 6% as a whole through centralised purchase, thereby
reducing procurement costs significantly.

Improvements were also carried out on the employee recruitment,
assessment, remuneration and staff retention policies to enhance the
human resources management process with the objective of recruiting,
promoting and retaining the best talents, from both internal and external
sources. CR Gas’s management team comprises utility professionals
with significant expertise and experiences across financial, regulatory,
commercial and engineering disciplines. We strive to provide and
maintain a satisfying and rewarding working environment for employees
and commit to their training and professional development.

With the objective of efficiency enhancement in view of the significant
increase in operation size of the Group in recent years, information
technology systems covering project management, top-up cards for gas
stations, office administration, centralised cash management, financial
reporting, human resources, centralised procurement and customer
service are continuously being rolled out across various levels of the
Group’s operation.

On the continuous enhancement of customer service, 10 standards on
customer service have been introduced to 142 member companies to
further improve the safety inspection services and skills of our staff and
protect customers’ safety. To further explore customers’ demand and
expectations, we collect and listen to customers’ opinions from various
channels and dedicate our efforts to provide quality services and safe
products to our customers.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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On the financial and tax management areas, the Group has successfully
promoted value-oriented management system to each member company
and thus effectively reduced costs and expenses. In particular, we
further enhanced the centralization of cash management with the
inclusion of more member companies in the system with significant
increase of cash pool size. By doing so, the Group has greatly
reduced the overall cost of borrowing. Furthermore, various taxation
rationalization and reduction measures were taken to reduce tax
exposure and speed up tax setoffs and refunds.

SAFETY MANAGEMENT ENHANCEMENT

The Group has formulated a number of safety management policies and
procedures as well as hiring qualified engineers and technical staff to
manage and prevent any potential accidents in the Group’s natural gas
related facilities which may cause damage to the environment.

In addition to our internally commissioned control, hazard prevention
and emergency recovery procedures, the Group have fully complied
with the relevant local and national environmental protection regulations

and licensing requirement.

|a: :: .

FHRRERBRDA —FRFFRH



BEWRE

Report from the Chief Executive Officer

ARALZEZEE AEEEZQAHRE
BHRLZE2RRRESNEFIH HR
24837 ANE BBEHMAMW - H» X E
B RAPEE MRk AT
HL2RERYERELT 2RI EEEF
OB P 2 AR I B 5T & 0 A #1807
FERRBAMLEEAM e RZF—XF
AEBEELZHEEEREKPHER F @MEEE
BRE - Pl BB BLEERED
#7509503%  MEMOBETEAEEN
EZFHIEREEEE0.498 - W EFMRF
{K0. 178 -

FEESERAETIRAPREHLZ2RER
Frigall o Bt AEBEEHAEMEE TS
WMEAIRGERE RN REAF  AEE2
EFBREHRERF  TEMLTHFER
IR R R REF -

BIIRERES

RZB-AF+=A=+—R AEE*
TAHI455045 8T AKE —HERA
T ORERM  EINBRESETRR
EEBET 2 - REBASH HAS
Bt ) A7 B T RIR R RIR G5 It 8)
S AEERRY T BEER - Fip -

To improve our safety standard, the Group implemented a range of
company-wide safety and environment conscious campaigns involving
24,837 persons; closely monitored safety performance by conducting
regular safety inspection of gas stations, branch pipelines, customer
pipelines, gas meters and gas appliances; carried out safety related
trainings and seminars in regional centres and hired more than 807
state certified safety technicians. In 2016, the Group made great
achievements in many pipeline network KPI indices. For example, the
pipeline leakage self-inspection rate has been enhanced to 95.03%
and the number of network third party damage accidents per hundred
kilometers has been reduced by 0.1 to 0.49, as compared to last year.

The Group places emphasis on educating staff and users in respect
of safety procedures. Accordingly, regular trainings and seminars are
held for relevant staff. For end users, thorough explanations of safety
procedures are given and regular seminars as well as distribution of
brochures and booklets on safety are arranged.

TRAINING AND REWARD FOR EMPLOYEES

As at 31st December, 2016, the Group have approximately 45,504
employees. The Group values human resources and recognises the
importance of attracting, training and retaining quality staff for its
continual success. In addition to the “Gas Faculty” in China Resources
University, which designs courses and provides training programs to the
Group’s workforce, the Group also operates 5 regional training centres

A-RERNRERARD /
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Report from the Chief Executive Officer

covering Eastern, Northern, Central, Southern and South-Western China.
These centres are located in our regional centres of Wuxi, Jining,
Zhengzhou, Fuzhou and Chengdu. Various types of management and
technical trainings are conducted through the Group for different levels
of staff to enhance their knowledge and skills. Improvements were also
carried out on the employee recruitment, assessment, remuneration and
staff retention policies to enhance the human resources management
process with the objective of recruiting, promoting and retaining the best
talents, from both internal and external sources. CR Gas’s management
team comprises utility professionals with significant expertise across
financial, regulatory, commercial and engineering disciplines. We
strive to provide and maintain a satisfying and rewarding working
environment for employees and commit to their training and professional
development. The Group remunerates its employees based on their
performance, work experience and the prevailing market wage level.
Further, bonuses are granted to employees and incentive awards
are made to employees based on merit and performance. The Group
believes this will assist to attract and retain quality staff and at the same
time encourage the employees to give their best performances.

APPRECIATION

| would like to express my deepest gratitude to our management
team and staff members for their unfailing hard work and dedication.
We would continue to work hand in hand to improve service to our
customers, increase efficiency to enhance the values of the shareholders
and employees.

SHI SHANBO
Executive Director & Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 28th March, 2017
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Financial & Operational Highlights

MBEE FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
i,/
—E-RE —ZE—hF CRiA)
For the year ended Increase/
BEt+-A=1+—HLFE 31st December, 2016 2015 (Decrease)
wE7
Restated
FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
HHEE Turnover 32,916,149 32,834,035 0.3%
ES| Gross profit 11,184,128 9,998,862 11.9%
REHEN (NeBEIERk AR Profit from operations
IR EMBENTEE) (before finance cost and
share of JV & associates results) 5,955,007 4,891,555 21.7%
F R A Profit for the year 4,437,808 3,803,107 16.7%
RARRAFEE AL & T Profit attributable to the Company’s
equity holders 3,289,399 2,837,910 15.9%
KEEBMEHREF5 Net cash from operating activities
(ZFZ218) (after tax payments) 7,364,946 5,690,055 29.4%
GIREARZF (BIT) Basic EPS(" (HK$) 1.51 1.30 16.2%
BIRFPHRRE - &% GB) Interim dividend paid per share
(HK cents) 15 10 50.0%
R AHIAR S - B GBL) Final dividend proposed per share
(HK cents) 30 23 30.4%
2EIRE - & GBI Total dividend per share for the year
(HK cents) 45 33 36.4%

MIEE (1) SREARMZRD BTN OMEF
BYEE - TRELZREIFER

T/\ °

Note: (1)

scheme.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016

Basic earnings per share is calculated based on weighted average
number of issued shares, excluding shares held for incentive award
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Financial & Operational Highlights

—EB-RE —E-RE N SCRD)
For the year ended Increase/
BE+-A=+—HLEE 31st December, 2016 2015 (Decrease)
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
HBEE Total assets 59,675,118 59,896,272 (0.4%)
SRITEB MRS AN EMTFF  Bank balances and cash and
other deposits 9,525,301 10,750,872 (11.4%)
RITREREERTE Total bank and note borrowings 12,167,694 14,899,191 (18.3%)
BEF5E Net borrowings 2,642,393 4,148,319 (36.3%)
ARFBIRAFA AR Equity attributable to the
Company'’s equity holders 17,768,243 17,009,359 4.5%
AR M 2 Non-controlling interests 5,936,550 5,477,647 8.4%
RN Total equity 23,704,793 22,487,006 5.4%

HE_Z—XE+ZA=+—80 14%"
37% ~ 47%K2%H R1T M RiEfE B 85
(ZZ—FF 3% 57% * 38%M2%) 5
BIAARE - 30 - ELRAEGE -

As at 31st December 2016, 14%, 37%, 47% and 2% of the total bank
and note borrowings (2015: 3%, 57%, 38% and 2%) are denominated in
Renminbi, HK Dollar, US Dollar and Japanese Yen, respectively.

—B-RF ZE-AF

B Financial Indicators 2016 2015
EF=E Gross profit margin 34.0% 30.5%"
SFRR (AREEML) Net profit margin (attributable to shareholders) 10.0% 8.6%"
FRE (FA) Net profit margin (for the year) 13.5% 11.6%
B (EEEBITDAZEL Debt to EBITDA 1.5x 2.2x
FEABEEE Net Debt to equity ratio® 14.9% 24.4%
BERBELEO Debt to capitalization ratio® 33.9% 39.9%
BEABHE® Debt to assets ratio® 20.4% 24.9%
DOREF 19 E A O] 3R R ) Return on weighted average equity® 18.5% 16.6%"
Hsx - Notes:
1) RIE—AF+-A=+—88HFERE (1)  Margin and return as at 31st December, 2015 (restated).

| (E7)) -
(2) FEAABELRIEEE FHEMEREEGR (2)  Net Debt/equity gearing ratio is the ratio of net borrowings to shareholders’

RE LA o equity.

(B) EAXREBBULEERTREBESLERAR
TREEEEEENIBRARERNLA -

(4) EEBBUHERERTREBRERGEHSAE
ERENLS -

(5) METBITAHHE  BREH12.4% (=
T—RF) R11.0% (ZF—FHF) -

Debt/capitalization gearing ratio is the ratio of total bank and note borrowings
to total bank and note borrowings and total equity.

Debt/asset gearing ratio is the ratio of total bank and note borrowings to total

assets.

If merger reserve is excluded, return was 12.4% (2016), 11.0% (2015).

EBMRRERERDT

—=

—NEFR
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Financial & Operational Highlights

EERE OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE
—E-REFEEHE Operational data for 2016
RIB-XRE RZZ—hF
+=A=+-H +-B=1+-H
As at As at
31st December, 31st December, 28
EERR Operational Performance 2016 2015 Change
EHEE Number of projects 227 220 7
ERUEEFY (BF) Connectable householders
(ten thousand) 5,717 5,317 400
ERAFBEXR Penetration rate of residential
household 46.0% 44.4% 1.6%pt
BHERE (ABILFK) Gross sales volume (million m?3) 16,272 14,121 15.2%
BERAR Residential 4,314 3,863 11.7%
T¥RF Industrial 6,646 5,802 14.6%
[SESEIS Commercial 3,592 2,743 31.0%
CNGINF A CNG station 1,408 1,448 -2.8%
LNG NGk LNG station 312 265 17.6%
FHHERE KL EF Average gas tariff/Cost/Gross margin
(AR®EIFHK) (RMB per m?) 2.55/1.84/0.71 2.94/2.23/0.71  (0.39)/(0.39)/(0.00)
IH£CRERERE Installed designed capacity for C&I
(XAKER)/ EHE (%) customers (m? per day)/Utilization 78,586,300 62,869,040 15,717,260
rate (%) 35.7% 37.2% (1.5%)pt
ERRE (RE) Total length of pipeline (km) 128,575 116,241 12,334
EBAFE Connected customers 26,495,642 23,782,652 2,712,990
ERAEF Residential 26,303,006 23,608,806 2,694,200
T¥RF Industrial 11,293 9,541 1,752
BERP Commercial 181,343 164,305 17,038
THEREZEBRUA (AEH) Average residential connection fee
(RMB) 2,970 2,990 (20)
FREBERE (BEUWR) Gross new households with paid
connection fee
B Total 2,694,200 2,447,548 246,652
ApOE Consolidated 1,778,172 1,544,982 233,190
HI$ 35 (CNG/LNG/L-CNG) Gas station (CNG/LNG/L-CNG) 335 (221/73/41) 317 (217/67/33) 8 (4/6/8)

24 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group’s results for 2016 were mainly driven by organic growth. The
Group’s turnover for the year amounted to HK$32,916 million (2015:
HK$32,834 million).

The city gas distribution business contributed an after tax but before
non-controlling interest profit of HK$4,438 million (2015: HK$3,803
million) and profit attributable to shareholders of the Company of
HK$3,289 million (2015: HK$2,838 million).

Turnover

Due to the reduction of city gate prices since November 2015, as well
as the reduction of RMB exchange rate used in translating results into
Hong Kong dollars for the two comparative periods, the turnover of
CR Gas only registered an increase of 0.3% from HK$32.834 billion to
HK$32.916 billion for the year ended 31st December, 2016.

However, the Group recorded profit attributable to the Company’s
equity holders of HK$3,289 million, representing an increase of 16% as
compared to HK$2,838 million for the previous corresponding period.

Gross Margin

The increase in profit of the Company was mainly due to the overall
gross profit margin of 34.0% for 2016, which was 3.5 percentage points
higher than the 30.5% for 2015. This is because the gross margin of gas
sales increased from 23.7% to 27.2% while gross margin of connection
fee remained at 59.8%. The higher overall gas sales margin was mainly
due to higher margin achieved in sales to commercial and industrial
customers arising from dollar margin expansion during gas price
reductions and the increase in residential dollar margin due to tiered
pricing implementation through residential customers.

EBRRERERAT —Z—RFFR
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Management Discussion and Analysis

HWBA ~ BARAX

HAUW AR 0.34(E8 T = EHABEAIRTT
TR R TR EHMBRAR D MEERE
BRI

RIZ—RF  HERDHEANERSE
BN ESHANPRETIZERAEARA
AIEEENRIEE BNBARMEESR B
X THAXHRSETEZEERAA/EN
AGHRAEEBANRD - BOEWABDLE
B HERDHEAIARITRERS MG
10.4%}7.5% (ZZE— T : H 31 59.5%
$8.1%) °

BRSO L2278 BT b T Em NS E T
ATERERBRAESBREFRARYE
METREHIMNREERRBRSMAF S
SR T FRFTE

EliEEERRIEERI1.87EETIIEEH
REGBRXEHABERATIEREARMNE
NI

FABERREERBEBTE  KEHAEE
HEMER -

FRIEIE hN2.43B B T E17.51EB T - 5%
AT F/28.3% (ZF — AL F : 28.4%) °
T EBZHRE THBARRARD BEFA
IRIEF TR BB AT o

Other income, costs and expenses

The decrease of HK$34 million in other income was mainly due to the
decrease of interest income resulting from the falling deposit interest
rate of domestic banks and decrease of repair and installation fees.

The increase in absolute amounts of selling and distribution expenses
in 2016 was mainly due to inclusion of related expenses of T & B4
RABMRAF] as a result of its consolidation as a subsidiary from a joint
venture. The decrease of administrative expenses was mainly due to
the reduction of development expenses of computer systems. As a
percentage of revenue, selling and distribution expenses as well as the
administration expenses were 10.4% and 7.5% respectively (2015: 9.5%
and 8.1% respectively).

Finance expense reduced by HK$2.27 million was mainly due to
conversion of some Hong Kong Dollar denominated term loans into
lower interest revolving loans, as well as the reduction of interest paid
to the cash pool of joint ventures as a result of the decrease of RMB
denominated interest rate.

Share of results of joint ventures reduced by HK$187 million was mainly
due to the losses suffered by Tianjin Project and the consolidation of
Zhenjiang Project as a subsidiary.

Results of associates, which were mainly contributed by Chongaging
Project, remained stable during the year.

Taxation increased by HK$243 million to HK$1,751 million, representing
28.3% of profit before taxation (2015: 28.4%). This was mainly due
to deferred taxation provision on undistributed profits of certain
subsidiaries.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Strong operating and free cash flow generation

The city gas distribution operation continued to generate healthy cash
flow with a net operating cash flow after tax of HK$7,365 million and
free operating cash flow of HK$3,788 million in 2016 before external
acquisition expenditure. The Group recorded bank balances and cash
and other deposits of HK$9,525 million at the end of 2016. The Group
has continued to leverage on its strong balance sheet to raise low cost
finance during 2016 and has a total bank loans and senior notes of
HK$12,168 million outstanding as at 31st December, 2016, with a gross
debt to total asset ratio of 20% (2015: 25%). The Group maintains a very
healthy balance sheet with low gross debt ratio, and low debt to EBITDA
ratio of 1.5 times at 31st December, 2016 (2015: 2.2 times).

Reasonable rates of return

In view of the fact that the Group is still in expansion phase, the city gas
distribution operation registered reasonable return on equity of 18.5% in
2016 (2015: 16.6%). The Group invested 15 new projects in 2016. The
rates of returns are expected to improve once all these newly acquired
projects start to attain higher operating efficiency and generate more
returns in 2017 and thereafter.

Major contributors

Previously, the earlier projects of Chengdu, Wuxi and Suzhou acquired
in 2008 used to account for more than 80% of the gas sales volume,
connection fee and net profit contribution. As the Group has acquired
more new projects from 2009 to 2016, their contribution percentages
have decreased and taken up by others such as Chongging, Zhengzhou,
Zhenjiang, Fuzhou, Nanjing, Xiamen, Yueyang and Wuhan. The
percentage contribution from all projects are expected to gradually
become more evenly distributed in the future. The broadening of the
Group’s earning base will insure the Group from relying heavily on any
single city gas project.

EBRRERERAT —Z—RFFR
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Liquidity and Financial Resources

The net cash inflow after tax from operations during the year amounted
to HK$7,365 million (2015: HK$5,690 million).

To fund its acquisition expansion, the Group spent HK$391 million in
capital expenditure during the year. The Group spent HK$3.6 billion
in upgrading and expanding of its existing city gas pipelines and
related facilities (2015: HK$3.7 billion). The above required funding
was financed by the operating cash flow, bank borrowings and cash on
hand of the Group. As at year end, the Group’s bank balances and cash
and other deposits was HK$9.5 billion (2015: HK$10.8 billion). Among
the balances, 3% was denominated in Hong Kong dollar and 96% in
Renminbi and 1% in US dollar.

It is the Group’s policy to use the cash flow generated from operations
and appropriate level of borrowings as the principal source of fund to
finance major expansion and acquisition. As at the end of the year, the
Group has total bank and note borrowings of HK$12.2 billion (2015:
HK$14.9 billion). 26% (2015: 28%) of the bank and note borrowings
is considered as current liabilities and repayable within one year, the
remaining are repayable in two to seven years. Renminbi, Japanese Yen,
Hong Kong dollar and US dollar denominated borrowings accounted for
14%, 2%, 37% and 47% of the total borrowings respectively (2015: 3%,
2%, 57% and 38%). 50% (2015: 58%) of bank and note borrowings are
interest bearing on floating rate terms and 50% (2015: 42%) are interest
bearing bank loans and senior notes with fixed interest rate.

The bank balances and cash and other deposits of the Group was
HK$9.5 billion as at the year end. The gearing ratio of the Group at
the end of the year, calculated as total bank and note borrowings over
total assets, was 20% (2015: 25%). The debt to EBITDA ratio was at the
healthy level of 1.5 times (2015: 2.2 times). The financial position and
liquidity of the Group is very healthy and stable.

The Group has been granted a total of HK$7.9 billion and RMB1.8 billion
(2015: HK$8.5 billion) banking facilities with maturities from 2017 to
2018. The facilities are unsecured and with floating interest rates. As at
the end of the year, 72% of the HK$ facilities (2015: 100%) and 18% of
the RMB facilities has been drawn down.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Other than the above, the Group has no other committed borrowing
facilities. For day-to-day liquidity management and maintaining flexibility
in funding, the Group has managed to obtain sufficient uncommitted
short-term facilities from banks.

Charge of Assets

As at 31st December, 2016, bank deposits of HK$47 million were
pledged as securities for bank borrowings and trade payable to
suppliers of natural gas.

Property, Plant and Equipment

During the year ended 31st December, 2016, the Group’s city gas
distribution business spent HK$177 million on machinery and equipment
and HK$1,712 million on construction in progress.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31st December, 2016, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities.

Financial Management and Treasury Policy

The financial risk management of the Group is the responsibility of
the Group’s treasury function at the head office in Hong Kong. One of
the major objectives of the Group’s treasury policies is to manage its
exposure to fluctuation in interest rates and foreign currency exchange
rates. It is the Group’s policy not to engage in speculative activities.

Most of the Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in Hong
Kong dollar, US dollar and Renminbi with some denominated in JPY.
The Group does not expect significant exposure to foreign exchange
fluctuations in this regard.

EBRRERERAT —Z—RFFR
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Exg BOARD OF DIRECTORS

#${TEZE  Executive Directors

FEHELE Mr. Wang Chuandong

AE1E%E Mr. Shi Shanbo

IEREE At=m RITZ\F+—-A=ZREZERERFNTERHR
BEE FR-F-—FAA-ARZERARREZSIE ARRART
REZEGIFRREZESGNRE - RE-_TELF - AREEEEMRR (&
) BRARzERRELE  RAEFH (£E) 6RAFNEILELE - TE4
R—ANEEMAEBLLE (RE) GRAR - CREETEEHILLHE - A
ARRIEHERESRAETEERE - TAFARERER  HETHAOMH
REBPEZRHBEXETRBELBUNERARRERTARTHERRT2M -

Mr. Wang Chuandong, aged 53, was appointed as an Executive Director
and General Manager of the Company on 3rd November, 2008. He was
appointed as the Chairman of the Board of the Company with effect from
1st June, 2012. He is also the Chairman of the Company’'s Nomination
Committee and a member of the Investment Committee. He was appointed
as a Director and the General Manager of China Resources Gas (Holdings)
Limited in February 2007. He is currently a Deputy General Manager of China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited. Mr. Wang joined China Resources
Petrochems (Group) Company Limited in 1985 and was previously its
Director and Deputy General Manager. He has over 25 years of corporate
management experience in the area of petroleum and related products
trading and distribution and holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Science majoring
in Petroleum Refining from the China University of Petroleum and a Master
of Business Administration Degree from the University of Texas, USA.

AEFEE BAt—m R-Z——FRA-HEZEAARAFTNTESRLE
B RARARRARAZEGROEEAZEGNE - RRAEFEH (KE) §
RARBEAKE - AEER-NAN—FMAER (RE) GRAF - LHE
EHEE () ARAR (AIREBAXARLAR)  FHEMERARKE
HENZERERARZFNTES - REHKEERERAFNEERATER
BEE (RERTHURBEREXZMBERIAERLET) - BEHERFRIIE
HFRGAETZEBNBERNERRABDZES - FER_ZETRF+—A
E_T-TFE-AHMEENRINESRRZ M LM 2 ERBERNERABZ
ExR - RELEER (BEE) BRAFEEQEMP G QL8 REBL
B (EE) ERARAERE - I ARILMERBEBERRLEBMN -

Mr. Shi Shanbo, aged 51, was appointed as an Executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 1st June, 2012 and is also a
member of the Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance Committee
of the Company. He is currently the Assistant General Manager of China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited. Mr. Shi joined China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited in 1991, and was a Non-executive Director
of China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (formerly known as
China Resources Enterprise, Limited), China Resources Land Limited and
China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited, and Vice Chairman
and General Manager of China Resources Cement Holdings Limited, which
are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
He was a Director of China Resources Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. He was the
Chairman of China Resources Jinhua Co., Ltd., a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, from November 2006 to March 2010. He was
previously the Audit Director and Deputy General Manager of the Finance
Department of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited and the
General Manager of China Resources Textiles (Holdings) Company Limited.
Mr. Shi holds a Master’s Degree in Economics from Dongbei University of
Finance and Economics.
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Mr. Ge Bin, aged 53, was appointed as an Executive Director and Vice
Chairman of the Company on 20th February, 2014. He is responsible for
customer service and gas business in the Greater Area of Shanghai, Jiangsu,
Fujian, Hunan and Hubei. Mr. Ge joined China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited in September 1996 and has been with China Resources
Gas (Holdings) Limited since September 2007 and held former positions as
Assistant General Manager, Deputy General Manager, Senior Vice President.
Mr. Ge holds a Master’s Degree in Engineering from Nanjing Tech University,
and holds a senior economist qualification.
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Mr. Ong Thiam Kin, aged 59, was appointed as an Executive Director
and Chief Financial Officer of the Company on 28th May, 2001. He is also
the Company Secretary of the Company and a member of the Company’s
Corporate Governance Committee. He is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom, the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and members of the national
accounting bodies of Singapore and Malaysia. He obtained a Master of
Business Administration Degree from the University of Southern Queensland,
Australia. He has more than 30 years of diverse range of experience in
professional accounting practice as well as senior financial positions in
various industries straddling countries in Southeast Asia, Hong Kong and
the PRC.
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Mr. Du Wenmin, aged 53, was appointed as a Non-executive Director of
the Company in March 2008, and is also a member of the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company. He is a
non-executive director of China Resources Land Limited in August 2007,
and a non-executive director of China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
in August 2008. These companies are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Du is the Deputy General Manager of
China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited. Mr. Du is also the Director
of China Resources National Corporation. Mr. Du was previously the Chief
Human Resources Officer of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited.
He was a director of China Resources Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd., which is listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, and China Resources
Double-Crane Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., which is listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange. He was previously the Managing Director of China
Resources Construction (Holdings) Limited and the Internal Audit Director
of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited. He was a non-executive
director of China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (formerly
known as China Resources Enterprise, Limited) from September 2007 to
April 2016 and a non-executive director of China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited from July 2010 to April 2016. These companies are listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr.
Du obtained a Master’'s Degree in Business and Administration from the
University of San Francisco, USA. He joined China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited in 1985.
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Mr. Wei Bin, aged 47, was appointed as a Non-executive Director of the
Company in November 2008, and is also the Chairman of the Investment
Committee and a member of Audit and Risk Management Committee of
the Company. He is a non-executive director of China Resources Cement
Holdings Limited in August 2008, and a non-executive director of China
Resources Land Limited in October 2010. These companies are listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Wei was
appointed as a non-executive director of China Vanke Co., Ltd. in March
2013, which is listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited and the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. He has been appointed
the Chief Financial Officer of China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited. Mr. Wei was a director of China Resources Sanjiu Medical &
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. and Shan Dong Dong-E E-Jiao Co., Ltd, which are
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, and China Resources Double-Crane
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., which is listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange.
He was also a non-executive director of China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited from July 2010 to April 2016 and a non-executive director
of China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (formerly known as
China Resources Enterprise, Limited) from November 2010 to April 2016.
These companies are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Wei holds a Bachelor's degree in Auditing from
Zhongnan University of Economics in China and a Master’'s degree in
Finance from Jinan University in China, and is a Senior Accountant and a
Senior Auditor in China. He is also a non-practicing member of the Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wei joined China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited in 2001.
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Mr. Chen Ying, aged 46, was appointed as a Non-executive Director
of the Company in June 2012, and is also a member of the Investment
Committee of the Company. He was appointed as a non-executive director
of China Resources Cement Holdings Limited in May 2012, and China
Resources Power Holdings Company Limited and China Resources Land
Limited in June 2012. These companies are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Chen was appointed as
a non-executive director of China Vanke Co., Ltd. in March 2013, which
is listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
and the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. He is Chief Strategy Officer of China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited since July 2013 and the Director of
Strategy Management Department since October 2011. He has worked as
Project Engineer, Project Manager and Manager of Procurement Department
and Executive Director of China Resources Construction (Holdings)
Company Limited, a fellow subsidiary of the Company, from September
1993 to March 2002. He was also the Managing Director of China Resources
Land (Beijing) Limited from March 2002 to October 2011 and a Director of
China Resources Land Limited from March 2003 to February 2006. He was
also a Director of China Resources Double-Crane Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
from May 2012 to December 2015 and a director of China Resources Sanjiu
Medical & Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. from June 2012 to December 2015.
He was also a non-executive director of China Resources Beer (Holdings)
Company Limited (formerly known as China Resources Enterprise, Limited)
from May 2012 to April 2016, which is listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Chen obtained a Bachelor's degree
of Architectural Management from the Tsinghua University, China in 1993
and a Master’s degree of Business Administration from University of Oxford,
the United Kingdom, in 2007. Mr. Chen joined China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited in 1993.
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Mr. Wang Yan, aged 45, was appointed as a Non-executive Director of
the Company in August 2014, and is also a member of the Audit and Risk
Management Committee of the Company. He joined China Resources
National Corporation in July 1994. He worked for China Resources
Petrochems (Group) Company Limited from 2000 to 2006. Mr. Wang was
appointed as a director of China Resources Gas Limited in November 2005.
He was a Deputy General Manager of China Resources Gas (Holdings)
Limited from September 2007 to April 2012. He was a Deputy Director
of Internal Audit Department of China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited from April 2012 to January 2016. He was appointed as a Director
of Internal Audit Department of China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited in February 2016. He was appointed as the non-executive director
of China Resources Power Holdings Co. Ltd., China Resources Land Limited
and China Resources Cement Holdings Ltd. in August 2014. He was also
appointed as the non-executive director of China Resources Phoenix
Healthcare Holdings Company Limited in November 2016. Mr. Wang was
a non-executive director of China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company
Limited (formerly known as China Resources Enterprise, Limited) from
August 2014 to April 2016. These companies are listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Wang holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Economics from the Finance and Accounting Department, Capital
University of Economics and Business, a Master of Business Administration
Degree from the University of South Australia and is a qualified PRC Certified
Accountant.
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Mr. Wong Tak Shing, aged 66, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in 1998. He is the Chairman of the
Company’s Remuneration Committee and members of the Audit and Risk
Management Committee, Nomination Committee, Investment Committee and
Corporate Governance Committee. Mr. Wong involves in various professional
appointments and public duties, including Chairman of the Appeal Tribunal
Panel, Member of Probate Committee of the Law Society of Hong Kong and
Member of Working Committee of the Law Society of Hong Kong (2011-2012)
on proposed reform of Trustee Ordinance, Cap 29. He was admitted as a
solicitor of the Supreme Court of Hong Kong in 1984, a solicitor of England
& Wales and Australia respectively in 1989, a solicitor of Singapore in
1995 and was appointed as a China-Appointed Attesting Officer with effect
from 18th January, 2003 and full member (TEP) of the Society of Trust and
Estate Practitioners (STEP) with effect from 12th February, 2010. Mr. Wong
has been in private practice in Hong Kong for over 30 years. From 1984 to
1987, he worked as an assistant solicitor with two local law firms in Hong
Kong before setting up his own practice in 1987. Mr. Wong holds a Master’s
Degree in Laws from the Peking University of China and a Master’'s Degree
in Laws from the University of London of England.
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Ms. Yu Jian, aged 63 was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company on 17th March, 2010. She is the Chairman of the
Company’s Corporate Governance Committee and a member of the Audit
and Risk Management Committee and Nomination Committee. She actively
involves in various bodies and associations, including Executive President
of the Shenzhen Federation of Entrepreneurs and Shenzhen Entrepreneurs
Association. Ms. Yu was previously the Chairman of Shenzhen Water (Group)
Co., Ltd, the General Manager of Shenzhen Gas Corporation Limited and
Vice-President of the China Urban Water Association. Ms. Yu graduated from
the Harbin University of Civil Engineering and Architecture and is a Senior
Engineer with professorship.
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Mr. Yu Hon To, David, aged 69, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director, Chairman of the Audit and Risk Management
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company on 28th December, 2012. Mr. Yu is
a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales and an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He has extensive experience in the fields of auditing,
corporate finance, financial investigation and corporate management. He
was formerly a partner of an international accounting firm. He is currently an
Independent Non-executive Director of China Renewable Energy Investment
Limited, Haier Electronics Group Co., Ltd., Keck Seng Investments (Hong
Kong) Limited, Media Chinese International Limited, New Century Asset
Management Limited (which is the manager of New Century Real Estate
Investment Trust, a Hong Kong Collective Investment Scheme listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited), One Media
Group Limited, Playmates Holdings Limited and Synergis Holdings Limited,
which are Main Board listed companies in Hong Kong. He was an Independent
Non-executive Director of Great China Holdings Limited, Bracell Limited and
Crown International Corporation Limited (formerly known as VXL Capital
Limited), which are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.
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Mr. Qin Chaokui, aged 48, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director and members of the Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company on 28th December, 2012. He is a professor, doctoral
supervisor and Head of Gas Engineering Research Centre of the School of
Mechanical and Energy Engineering, Tongji University, performing research
in the field of gas utilization, transmission/distribution, and production. He is
currently a member of Renewable Energy Utilization in Buildings Sub-group of
MOHURD (Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development of the People’s
Republic of China), a member of Shanghai Municipal Urban-Rural Development
& Transportation Commission Science and Technology Committee, a council
member of China Gas Association, a member of Gas Sub-society of China Civil
Engineer Society. He is currently member of editorial boards of some academic
periodicals, including “Gas and Heat”, “Building Energy Conservation”, “City
Gas” etc. Mr. Qin graduated from Tongji University and holds a Doctor’s Degree

in Engineering.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Qin Xuwen, aged 55, was appointed as a Senior Vice President
of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in February 2014. She is
responsible for operation and management of Greater Jiangsu Area
and in charge of Greater Anhui Area, and concurrently serves as the
General Manager of Nanjing Jiangning China Resources Gas Co., Ltd.
She was the General Manager of Nanjing China Resources Gas Co.,
Ltd. from 2006 to 2013.

Mr. Zhu Likun, aged 50, was appointed as a Senior Vice President of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in February 2014, responsible
for operation, safety and information technology management. Mr.
Zhu holds a Bachelor’'s Degree majoring in Petro-chemical Industry
Automation from the Nanjing University of Chemical Technology
(currently known as Nanjing University of Technology), a Master’s Degree
majoring in International Economics from the Soochow University, and
a Senior Engineer qualification. He joined China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited in August 2003.

Ms. Cheng Jie, aged 42, was appointed as a Senior Vice President of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in February 2014, responsible
for the Finance Department and the Internal Audit Department. Ms.
Cheng holds a Bachelor's Degree in Business Administration from
Zhongnan University of Finance and Economics. She has worked in
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited since June 2005, where she
once served as the Financial Controller. Prior to joining China Resources
Gas (Holdings) Limited, Ms. Cheng served as a senior manager in
investment banking division of Head & Shoulders Securities.

Mr. Zheng Xifeng, aged 59, was appointed as a Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in September 2007, responsible
for internal corporate affairs. Mr. Zheng holds a Bachelor's Degree in
Law from the School of Law of Xiamen University, a Master of Business
Administration Degree from the University of San Francisco in the United
States, and the qualification as Senior International Business Engineer.
He joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in August
1985 and has been with China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited since
September 2007.

Mr. Huang Weizhong, aged 51, was appointed as a Vice President of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in September 2007, responsible
for investment and PRC legal affairs. Mr. Huang holds a Master’s Degree
majoring in International Finance from the Fudan University and licenses
to practice as a lawyer and an engineer. He joined China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited in March 2000 and has been working for
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited since March 2007.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016



BIMNEXE W+=Zm R-T——F=
REZAREBRMR (58) BRAA&R
o AEERERRLLEEETIE  RFRE
FERNRBKE - BR-NANAAFEZET
=F EBREEHNTERIARAE - T
ERET - BERFBITR  BEMBIER - 2
TRl EF BEFEREERER - TR
ZET=FE_TTRFAHMNEBRRE
RARBNBERKIE  _ T REE-TTH,
FEXREBWTRRBEREE LA BB E B
B —ETNFE T —FIEPEHR
REBRARBLIE - RAEEEERREEKX
Z BERREXEELEM -

KERE A+—m R ——F=A%
ZEAERRR (58) AR AR
o EW)I|IKEMALAREEEET
B R ZZTTNFAAREEBRR (£
E) BRAFMER - TREEITHRER - RiE
EREERETHEIAREIGKE  —TFZ
FEE-_ET—F EHUBETREERA
AREEB YR_ET—FE_FTTN
FoARMNTBRIAR AR SHAIE R KR
N ABAEIR o

SEIELRE W+Am R Z—F=
AEZEEAEBRE (£@) BRARE®
H O BEANEREEBENERAERIE- %
EERBERERBABTRERBETEMM
PRERIEESRELSMN  THE SR
TIZARERE - W EENEMAFEY (&£
B) BRAR WR_ZEZ+F= AMAE
HRE (RE) BRAR -

REBXRE Ht+tham R-ZT—-F=
AEZEREBRME (RE) AR QFER
B BAEURKREAREEERTE
LR MR AR BRI R EEE IR
ERAFBESEEMELE - A -2 —0F
mAR  FEETERIIAAREESEET
B AERTGMEBRRERARES
& BEE - RIREPREIATERSSME
REZEXZEEZE - FR-NNAEENA
BEMRRRBR  —WN\AFE—N
NARFEEETERARRRAMPE TR
Bl —ANREFE-_ZZTFEBEEMER
AREGRERETERTIZM  —TTRFE

EENRSREEAEERE
Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Yin Xiaojun, aged 43, was appointed as Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible for
operation and management of Greater Liaoning Area and concurrently
acts as the General Manager of Liaoning Area. He served as various
posts in Suzhou Xin Qu Gas Corporation (BRM¥TEREAF]) from
1996 to 2003, including Scheduling, Engineering Design, Pipelines
Deputy Director, Business Deputy Director, Deputy Director of the Chief
Engineer Office, Workshop Director and Production Chief Director, he
also served as Assistant General Manager in Suzhou China Resources
Gas Co., Ltd. from 2003 to 2005, Executive Deputy General Manager of
Chengdu City Gas Co., Ltd. from 2005 to 2009 and General Manager
of Kunming China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. from 2009 to 2011. Mr. Yin
graduated from Tongji University and holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Gas
Profession.

Mr. Zhu Ping, aged 51, was appointed as a Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, assisting in operation
and management of Greater Sichuan and Greater Northwest Areas. He
has been with China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited since September
2004, where he once served as the Head of Administration. Mr. Zhu had
served as a Deputy General Manager in Huainan Gas Corporation (&
A& A R]), an Executive Deputy General Manager in Yuyao Urban Gas
Co., Ltd. (BRBk3k AR AR 2 7)) from 2000 to 2001, and Senior Project
Manager and General Manager in Wenzhou Xinao Gas Co., Ltd. &/
TEMRE AR ATF]) from 2001 to 2004.

Mr. Shi Baofeng, aged 45, was appointed as a Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible for human
resources management and the Greater Guangdong Area. Mr. Shi holds
a Master of Business Administration Degree from the Southwest Jiaotong
University and a Master Degree from the China Europe International
Business School; he also holds a Senior Engineer qualification. He
joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 2006 and China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2007.

Mr. Chen Guoyong, aged 55, was appointed as Vice President of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible
for operation and management of the Greater Shandong and Jinji Area,
and concurrently serves as General Manager of the Greater Shandong
and Jinji Area as well as Vice Chairman and General Manager of
Jining China Resources Gas Co., Ltd.. He is also responsible for
operation and management of the Greater Henan and Shanxi Area, and
concurrently serves as Chairman and General Manager of Zhengzhou
China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. (EBMNZEBMABRAE]) since April
2015. He is currently a Committee Member of the Gas Transmission
and Distribution Professional of the China Civil Engineering Society. He
joined the Design Institute of Jining Gas Company in 1984 and served as
an Assistant Engineer from 1985 to 1986. Mr. Chen served as Director of
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the Dispatch Office and an Engineer of Jining Gas Company from 1986
to 2000, Deputy Secretary of the CPC Committee and Deputy General
Manager of Jining Gas Company from 2000 to 2005, and Secretary of
CPC Committee and General Manager of Jining Gas Company from
2005 to 2007.

Mr. Lu Hong, aged 46, was appointed as Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible for
operation and management of the Greater Fujian Area, and concurrently
serves as General Manager of the Greater Fujian Area and General
Manager of Fuzhou China Resources Gas Co., Ltd.. Mr. Lu holds a
Bachelor’'s Degree in Commercial Enterprise Management from Tianjin
University of Commerce. He served at various posts (from staff member
to Executive Deputy General Manager) in Beijing Jinye Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. (b R&ZEFEHE) from 1993 to 2000, Chairman
of Fuzhou Jingyou New Building Materials Co., Ltd. ({&/MR & A2
WA 7R]) from 2000 to 2004, and various posts (from staff member
to Deputy General Manager) in Fujian Anran Gas Co., Ltd. (&% A
MRARR
Yueyang China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. and Qianjiang China Resources
Gas Co., Ltd. from 2007 to 2008, General Manager of Kunming China
Resources Gas Co. Ltd. from 2008 to 2009, General Manager of Fuzhou
China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. since 2009, General Manager of Greater
Fujian Area since 2011, and Acting General Manager of Xiamen China
Resources Gas Co., Ltd. since May 2015.

Al) from 2004 to 2007. He served as General Manager of

Mr. Yang Changyi, aged 56, was appointed as Vice President of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in December 2014, and he
also serves as the General Manager of Zhengzhou China Resources
Gas Limited. Mr. Yang was the Financial Controller of Suzhou China
Resources Gas Co., Ltd. from 2003 to 2005, the Financial Controller of
Chengdu City Gas Co., Ltd. from 2005 to 2007, the General Manager of
Xiamen China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. from 2007 to 2011. Mr. Yang has
studied ldeological and Political Education in Nanjing Normal University
and Technology Economy and Management in Hohai University; he is
also a qualified accountant in the PRC.

Mr. Yang Ping, aged 43, was appointed as Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in December 2016, and he also
serves as the General Manager of the Greater Hubei Area and the
General Manager of Wugang China Resources Gas (Wuhan) Co., Ltd.
Mr. Yang was the Chief Representative of the Shanghai Representative
Office of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited from 2005 to 2011,
the General Manager of the Office & Administration Department of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited from 2011 to 2012, the Vice
General Manager of the Greater Hubei Area and the General Manager of
Wugang China Resources Gas (Wuhan) Co., Ltd from 2012 to 2014. Mr.
Yang graduated from Tongji University and holds a Bachelor's Degree
in Gas Profession.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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TRERBE
Corporate Governance Report

The Group is dedicated to maintaining a good credible framework
of corporate governance with a view to being transparent, open and
accountable to its shareholders.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

The Company has adopted the mandatory provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Code”) set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules. In line with the mandatory provisions of the Code, the Company
has adopted a Corporate Governance Handbook (the “Handbook”)
on 23rd December, 2005 and subsequently updated it in 2008, 2009,
2010, 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015 and 2016 respectively. The contents of
the Handbook include, among others, directors’ duties, model code for
directors’ transactions in securities, model code for securities transaction
by relevant employees, the functions and terms of reference of the
Audit and Risk Management, Remuneration, Nomination, Investment
and Corporate Governance Committees, disclosure of information,
communication with shareholders, procedures for shareholders to
propose a person for election as a director and board diversity policy.
All the mandatory provisions under the Code have been adopted and
reflected in the Handbook. The Company has throughout the year
complied with the mandatory provisions of the Code except for the
deviation from the code provisions D.1.4 and E.1.2 which is explained
as follows:

Under the code provision D.1.4, the Company should have formal
letters of appointment for directors setting out the key terms and
conditions of their appointment. The Company did not have formal
letters of appointment for Directors. However, the Directors are subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years in accordance
with the Bye-Laws. In addition, the Directors are required to refer to
the guidelines set out in “A Guide on Directors’ Duties” issued by the
Companies Registry and “Guidelines for Directors” and “Guide for
Independent Non-executive Directors” (if applicable) published by
the Hong Kong Institute of Directors in performing their duties and
responsibilities as directors of the Company. Besides, the Directors are
required to comply with the requirements under statute and common
law, the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and the
Company’s business and governance policies.

Under the code provision E.1.2, the Chairman of the Board should attend
the annual general meeting. Due to other business commitment, the
Chairman of the Board did not attend the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 2nd June, 2016.

Save as mentioned above and in the opinion of the Directors, the
Company has met the code provisions set out in the Code throughout
the year.
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THE BOARD

As at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of four
Executive Directors, four Non-executive Directors and four Independent
Non-executive Directors, one of whom namely Mr. Yu Hon To, David has
the appropriate professional accounting experience and expertise as
required under the Listing Rules. The names and biographical details
of each Director are disclosed on pages 30 to 37 of this annual report.

Each Independent Non-executive Director has, pursuant to the
guidelines set out in rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, confirmed that he
is independent of the Company and the Company also considers that
they are independent. The term of office of each Non-executive Director,
including Independent Non-executive Director, is for a period of three
years subject to the requirement that one-third of all the Directors shall
retire from office by rotation at each annual general meeting pursuant
to the Bye-laws of the Company. The relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship), if any, among
members of the Board are disclosed in this annual report. There is no
such relationship between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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Corporate Governance Report

FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible both for how the Company is managed and
the Company’s direction. Approval of the Board is required for the
strategy of the Group, yearly budget, major acquisition and disposal,
major capital investment, dividend policy, appointment and removal
of Directors and senior management, remuneration policy and other
major operational, financial, risk management and internal control
matters. Day-to-day operations of the Group are the responsibility of
the Company’s management.

The Board has held regular meetings during 2016. Details of individual
attendance of Directors are set out in the table below:

—E-RF —E-RF —E-REF ZE-REF
B =HA=+H EA+TAA NA+7<AH +HA=+xH
30th March, 19th May, 16th August, 26th October,
Date 2016 2016 2016 2016
= E- FEREE ITEREE AEELEE ITEREE
Mr. Wang Mr. Wang Mr. Shi Mr. Wang
Meeting Chairman Chuandong Chuandong Shanbo Chuandong
HITES Executive Directors
FEREE Mr. Wang Chuandong N N 0 V
AEEEE Mr. Shi Shanbo N 0 N v
BWEAE Mr. Ge Bin N N N N
TAMREE Mr. Ong Thiam Kin N N N N
FHITES Non-executive Directors
MXREE Mr. Du Wenmin 0 N o 0
PRt Mr. Wei Bin 0 0 1) o
PRIE LA Mr. Chen Ying 0 0 0 0
TEXRE Mr. Wang Yan 0 0 N 0
BIUFHTES Independent Non-executive
Directors
H5EBEE Mr. Wong Tak Shing N N N J
Falz+ Ms. Yu Jian N N N N
AMEELLE Mr. Yu Hon To, David V J v J
REAEA Mr. Qin Chaokui V J N N

i (TRERANTXER)
v o= HE
o0 = WE

Remarks (also applicable to the tables set out below):
J = attended
O = didn't attend
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The Company has held one general meeting during 2016. Details of

individual attendance of Directors are set out in the table below:

—E-REF
HH AA=ZH
2nd June,
Date 2016
=E E3 AEFEEE

Meeting Chairman Mr. Shi Shanbo

HTES
FERELE
hEEELE
Bwit
ERRELE

FBTES
HxXREE
e
RELE
ITEEE

BUKHTES
HEBLE
Falz+
BEE A
ESEES S

Executive Directors
Mr. Wang Chuandong
Mr. Shi Shanbo

Mr. Ge Bin

Mr. Ong Thiam Kin

< < =< O

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Du Wenmin

Mr. Wei Bin

Mr. Chen Ying

Mr. Wang Yan

O O O =

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Tak Shing

Ms. Yu Jian

Mr. Yu Hon To, David

Mr. Qin Chaokui

< << <

EEEHRESTILEE
ARRAR-F-=FNA-+=ARNE
FERASTIBE (KA - LERZ
BEEER AT BRI HIE 2 A5 EE
B REE R TR -

BERBE

ARABRESSEEANEZ TLABERT

BEMNEELE HAEEZT{EMES
BEEAETR R HE RITEL

BoAR MHIREMBEENESSK

=

B WATMMUFA ZEEZEBERETE
EENREAAKNETUEE  WHRAE

ERTRIFEEFE - EZFMAZEY
REZGBRRAVEFEMTENREERE
KR

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) on 23rd
August, 2013. A summary of this Policy, together with the measurable
objectives set for implementing this Policy, and the progress made
towards achieving those objectives are disclosed as below.

Summary of the Policy

The Company sees diversity at Board level as an essential element in
maintaining a competitive advantage. A truly diverse Board will include
and make good use of differences in the skills, regional and industry
experience, background, gender and other qualities of the members
of the Board. These differences will be considered in determining
the optimum composition of the Board and when possible should be
balanced appropriately. All Board appointments are made on merit, in
the content of the skills and experience the Board as a whole requires
to be effective.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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Gender

T ik
Ethnicity

FHRHE R

Age Group 40-494)

BRTGFH

Year of Service

0-7 (7)

Measurable Objectives

The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree annually all
measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and
recommend them to the Board for adoption. At any given time, the Board
may seek to improve one or more aspects of its diversity and measure
progress accordingly. For the year under review, no measurable
objective was set by the Nomination Committee.

Implementation

As at the date of this report, the Board’s composition under major

diversified perspectives was summarized as follows:

50-59 (5)

M ERANBETRREEAK

E5EI

AABRBEMAEF2MFETERR AR
= REH A KB - MR ED
EEHRIIRE LT RREFHETE ER
S - BRELTRAUREMEREER
EBMERNBEERTERETESE - U
BRAAEMESREHRECEE RN
E o

FR- 2BEFHEZMREIRINES

AR ERMEARENEFE 2B ME XS

Fl - HEBBEERNAMRHREE - ARF
WE & E R IEHIRER N Shatek o

Note: the number in bracket represents the number of the Directors

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Each
newly appointed Director would receive the guides covering the statutory
and regulatory obligations of a director of a listed company. The relevant
updates on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements are also provided to the
Directors in order to ensure compliance and raise their concerns on
good corporate governance.

During the year, all the Directors have participated in the relevant
professional training, attended relevant briefings and gave talks which
cover the Company'’s business and the statutory and regulatory updates.
The Company has received the confirmations of and/or records of the
training from the respective Directors.
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CHAIRMAN AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

As at the date of this annual report, the Chairman of the Board is
Mr. Wang Chuandong while Mr. Shi Shanbo is the Chief Executive
Officer. The Chairman provides leadership to the Board and formulate,
together with the Board, the business strategies and long-term objectives
of the Company whilst the Chief Executive Officer carries out the
decisions made by the Board and is in charge of the Company’s
day-to-day management.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To strengthen the functions of the Board and to enhance its expertise,
as at the date of this annual report, there are five committees namely,
the Audit and Risk Management, Remuneration, Nomination, Investment
and Corporate Governance Committees under the Board, with each
performing different functions.

Audit and Risk Management Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit and Risk Management
Committee comprises of three Independent Non-executive Directors
namely Mr. Yu Hon To, David (Chairman), Mr. Wong Tak Shing and
Ms. Yu Jian and two Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wei Bin and
Mr. Wang Yan. The Committee’s role is to provide an independent and
objective review of the effectiveness of the financial reporting process,
internal control, risk management as well as internal audit function of
the Group. Its functions broadly fall into the following three main areas:

. make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of external auditor, and to approve
the remuneration and terms of engagement of external auditor
and any matters related to the resignation or dismissal of external
auditor;

. review the financial statements of the Company’s annual and
half-year reports and accounts; and

° oversee the Company’s financial reporting system, internal controls
and risk management systems.

The terms of reference of the Audit and Risk Management Committee
have been uploaded to the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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During 2016 and up to the date of this annual report, the Audit and
Risk Management Committee has reviewed the financial statements
and yearly results announcement for 2015, and those for the half-yearly
results and yearly results for 2016. These include the review of the
Group’s financial and accounting policies and practices; the review
of the continuing connected transactions of the Company conducted
in 2016; and the review of the internal audit reports prepared by the
Company’s Audit Division.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee has held three meetings
during 2016. Details of individual attendance of its members are set out
in the table below:

£ K&

Chairman Members
BRinEE Tzt
(R=B—RF (R=B—7<F
=A=tH =B=tH
MEELE EZE) IBRE  EGBEL EZE)
Mr. Wei Bin Ms. Yu Jian
(appointed (appointed
Mr. Yu Hon on 30th Mr. Wang Mr. Wong on 30th
B Date To, David March, 2016) Yan Tak Shing March, 2016)
ZE-AF=ZA=Z+M@EA 24th March, 2016 Vo TEA NA 0 Vv TER NA
ZT-A"FNARTH 10th August, 2016 V 0 0 N 0
—T-R"FtZAt+ZH 12th December, 2016 N 0 0 N 0

FMEES

FMZEEMERBELETE MRIHITE
FEREAERABNFYRENBE - 85
BENRNEAS - REET S R EMEE
BErE - URERTEZRSREEAEN
AN RF 2 HEE -

YN EoRERESE LHEBRMAAR
NG

RAFEHRAY  FMEZEShMEBEILIEN
TEFEEBEE (XF) aEELEER
—HIFMITESHEXREAEMR

Remuneration Committee

The role and main function of the Remuneration Committee is to
determine and review the compensation and benefit policy of Executive
Directors and senior management, including but not limited to bonus
plan, Incentive Award Scheme and other long term incentive plan,
as well as bonus allocation and salary adjustment of each Executive
Director and senior management.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee have been
uploaded to the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee
comprises of two Independent Non-executive Directors namely Mr. Wong
Tak Shing (Chairman) and Mr. Yu Hon To, David and one Non-executive
Director namely Mr. Du Wenmin.
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During 2016, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting to review
and determine the incentive awards, related bonus and compensation
of the Executive Directors and senior management. Details of individual
attendance of its members are set out in the table below:

EE HE
Chairman Members
EEBAE HXREE MEELE
=] Date Mr. Wong Tak Shing Mr. Du Wenmin Mr. Yu Hon To, David
—Z—-X"F+=-A—H 1st December, 2016 N 0 N

RBE-T-—AGE+-A=t+—ALSA
B ERERABRBERD 2 HMR
m -

FIRE (85T)

For the year ended 31st December, 2016, the remuneration of the
members of the senior management by band is set out below:

A

Remuneration band (HKD) Number of persons

1,500,001, 7C%2,000,000/% 7T
2,500,001 7T % 3,000,000/ 7T
3,500,001% 754,000,000/ 7T
7,000,001 7% 7,500,000/% 7T
8,000,001 7L 28,500,000/ 7T

HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000
HKD2,500,001 to HKD3,000,000
HKD3,500,001 to HKD4,000,000
HKD7,000,001 to HKD7,500,000
HKD8,000,001 to HKD8,500,000

W o = = N

i ERBER-Z—AFEKN—ZaEE
AR -

FHEEHE R ARRSHFALTZESH
B CREMARMBI6ZHRE T UE
B IHEHNMEE M ImRMEN -

REZE"
REZEGNIEBREARTETTRE
R UHHEEERERALTHEES
MEESRHEEBER -

REZECHBREBRECD LREBIAR
FN/NETFEpre

]]]

RAFHAHY REAZESHMERTE
EIXIEMELE (TR AEEELER A
FERTEEMXREEUA R OE B IEHR
TEEESEEL Tkt wEEX
ERRHELEEK -

Note: the above includes a senior executive who retired in 2016.

Further particulars regarding the directors’ emoluments and the
five highest paid individuals as required to be disclosed pursuant
to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The role and main function of the Nomination Committee is to review the
structure and composition of the Board, and to make recommendation
to the Board on the selection of individual nominated for directorships.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee have been uploaded
to the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee comprises
of two Executive Directors namely Mr. Wang Chuandong (Chairman),
Mr. Shi Shanbo and one Non-executive Director namely Mr. Du Wenmin
and four Independent Non-executive Directors namely Mr. Wong Tak
Shing, Ms. Yu Jian, Mr. Yu Hon To, David and Mr. Qin Chaokui.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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The selection criteria for Directors are the candidate(s) must have
substantial experience in business relevant to the Company or in
corporate management, or in relevant profession and must be able to
contribute effectively to the objectives of the Company. In identifying
suitable candidates for appointment to the Board, the Nomination
Committee will consider candidates on merit against objective criteria
and with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. Any
committee member may propose suitable candidates for directorship for
discussion and approval by the Nomination Committee, after which the
Board will consider and, if proper, approve such nomination. Directors
thus selected is subject to re-election by shareholders of the Company in
the next general meeting or next annual general meeting, as appropriate,
according to the Bye-laws of the Company.

During 2016, the Nomination Committee has reviewed the existing terms
of reference of the Nomination Committee as well as the composition of
the Board and its committees.

The Nomination Committee has held one meeting during 2016. Details of
the individual attendance of its members are set out in the table below:

IR K&
Chairman Members
IERNE FREBXE HIRKE  ESBiLE Falzt mEERE RUgRE
Mr. Wang Mr. Shi Mr. Du Mr. Wong Ms. Yu Mr. Yu Hon Mr. Qin
A Date Chuandong Shanbo Wenmin Tak Shing Jian To, David Chaokui
T AE-A=1H 30t March, 2016 J I 0 y | / /

REEES
RELZEENTEREABHEFSENT
3,000,000 JT £8,000,000% 7T Z 1% &
BEESS TR EMPIERELIRE
R (BERERHERS) -

REZEERERESD LHEARAS
U o

RAFREHY  REZEGH—EZHTES
ITEMEE  MAFFRTEFFELE (E
) RREREAR —RBULIFNTESFE
S EEK -

Investment Committee

The role and main function of the Investment Committee is to assist
the Board in making investment decisions (including acquisition or
divestment opportunity) within the investment threshold of US$3 million
to US$8 million or other thresholds as authorised by the Board from
time to time.

The terms of reference of the Investment Committee have been uploaded
to the website of the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Investment Committee
comprises of one Executive Director namely Mr. Wang Chuandong, two
Non-executive Directors namely Mr. Wei Bin (Chairman) and Mr. Chen
Ying, and one Independent Non-executive Director namely Mr. Wong
Tak Shing.
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During 2016, the Investment Committee passed 6 written resolutions by
all members of the Investment Committee dated 11th January, 2016,
25th January, 2016, 22nd February, 2016, 23rd May, 2016 and 28th
June, 2016, respectively to review and approve 6 investment proposals.

Corporate Governance Committee

The role and main function of the Corporate Governance Committee is to
assist the Board in developing and reviewing the policies and practices
on corporate governance which are applicable to the Group and making
recommendations to the Board.

The terms of reference of the Corporate Governance Committee have
been uploaded to the website of the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Corporate Governance Committee
comprises of three Independent Non-executive Directors namely Ms. Yu
Jian (Chairman), Mr. Wong Tak Shing and Mr. Qin Chaokui, and two
Executive Directors namely Mr. Shi Shanbo and Mr. Ong Thiam Kin.

During 2016, the Corporate Governance Committee has reviewed the
Company’s compliance with the Code during the year 2015.

The Corporate Governance Committee has held one meeting during
2016. Details of the individual attendance of its members are set out in
the table below:

ES: 4 K&
Chairman Members
Falzt REBRE IAREE EEBLLE ELiE A
Ms. Yu Mr. Shi Mr. Ong Mr. Wong Mr. Qin
=R:t] Date Jian Shanbo Thiam Kin Tak Shing Chaokui
“Z-R¥=A=1H 30th March, 2016 y V N N J

B BB E A RSN - B E B R A
R EHARRIE13.51(B)(1) KT ARKE -

Save for the information disclosed above, there is no other information
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(B)(1) of the Listing
Rules.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility of maintaining an effective risk
management and internal control system to provide reasonable, though
not absolute, ensurance against material misstatement or loss and to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives.

The Board, through the Audit and Risk Management Committee,
conducts annual review of the effectiveness of the Company’s systems
of risk management and internal control covering all material controls,
including financial controls, internal control and risk management
systems.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee considers the major
investigation findings on risk management and internal control matter
as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and management’s
response to these findings.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee also considers the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of the Company’s
accounting, financial reporting and internal audit functions, and their
training programmes and budget. With respect to procedures and
internal controls for handling and dissemination of inside information,
the Company has set out written policies and procedures in relation to
the handling of inside information, including but not limited to measures
to ensure compliance of disclosure requirement.

The Internal Audit Division assists the Audit and Risk Management
Committee to review the effectiveness of such risk management and
internal control system in operation. The Division regularly carries out
internal audit and other related audit reviews and reports its findings
and suggestions for improvement on better internal controls to the Audit
and Risk Management Committee for their consideration. During the
year, the Internal Audit Division has also conducted reviews of key risk
management system of the Company. Its findings were reported to the
Audit and Risk Management Committee for consideration and would
form the basis for further improvement in the future. Inspections and
risk assessments were carried out in key risk areas such as operation
environment (concession rights availability and their protection, pipeline
infrastructure bottlenecks, strategy execution hurdles, etc); financial
management (cash custody and management, payment approval
process, receivables management, accounting policy adherence, etc);
safety management (pipeline infrastructure inspection and maintenance
process, safety system and related safety incident reporting structure,
etc); engineering and construction management (tender process
reviews, project management procedures and practice); key materials
procurement (vendor and materials qualification process, tendering and
quality control processes, etc).
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In addition, internal audit division also closely follows up on corrective
actions by all business units on their self-inspections of key risk areas.
Self-correction rate has improved to 89% in 2016.

Based on the results of the annual review, the Board is satisfied with the
effectiveness of risk management and internal control system currently
put in place for the Company.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct in relation to Directors’
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the
Company confirmed that all Directors have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARING
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. The statement by the Auditor about
their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements
is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 89 to 97.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company re-appointed Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as independent
auditor during the year. The remuneration for services provided during
the year to the Company’s Auditor includes:

—E-REF

2016

FET

FriR RS Services rendered HK$°000
FET RIS Audit services 13,751
IEEET RIS « R ERRARE Non-audit services for: Interim results review 700
| BiTSERTR : Tax compliance 77

| B RTS : Tax consulting services 133

&t Total 14,661
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene special general meeting

In accordance with the Section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (“Companies Act”), the shareholders of the Company holding
at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
such of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company, shall have the right to convene a
special general meeting of the Company. If the directors do not within
twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of the requisition proceed
duly to convene a meeting, the requisitionists representing more than
one half of the total voting rights may themselves convene a meeting.

The written requisition for the special general meeting can be lodged at
the Company'’s principal office in Hong Kong at Room 1901-02, China
Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at a general
meeting

Pursuant to the Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act, either
any number of the registered shareholders holding not less than
one-twentieth (5%) of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company (“Requisitionists”),
or not less than 100 of such registered shareholders, can request
the Company in writing to (a) give to shareholders entitled to receive
notice of the next general meeting notice of any resolution which may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and (b)
circulate to shareholders entitled to have notice of any general meeting
any statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter
referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with
at that meeting.

The requisition signed by all the Requisitionists may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the
Requisitionists; and it must be deposited at the Registered Office with a
sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company'’s relevant expenses, not
less than six weeks before the meeting in case of a requisition requiring
notice of a resolution or not less than one week before the meeting in the
case of any other requisition. Provided that if an AGM is called for a date
six weeks or less after the requisition has been deposited, the requisition
though not deposited within the time required shall be deemed to have
been properly deposited for the purposes thereof.
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Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as
a director

Pursuant to bye-law 113 of the Bye-laws of the Company, the Company
may from time to time in general meeting by ordinary resolution elect, or
authorize the Directors to elect or appoint, any person to be a Director
either to fill a vacancy or to act as an additional Director up to the
maximum number of Directors determined by the members in general
meeting.

Pursuant to bye-law 115 of the Bye-laws of the Company, no person,
other than a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the Board
for election, be eligible for election to the office of Director at any
general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to propose that
person for election as a Director and notice in writing by that person
of his willingness to be elected shall have been given to the Company
provided that the minimum length of the period, during which such
notices are given, shall be at least seven days. The period for lodgment
of such notices will commence no earlier than the day after the dispatch
of the notice of the meeting appointed for such election and end no later
than seven days prior to the date of such meeting.

The detailed procedures regarding the election are published on the
Company’s website under Corporate Governance section.

Investor Relations

The Company has always recognised the importance of investor
relations activities, as it believes that effective communication with
shareholders and investors is very important to help investors to gain a
better understanding about the Company’s business performance and
strategies.

In 2016, we hosted different types of activities through which
shareholders and investors have increased their understanding about
the Company. During the year, the Company met with more than 1,000
fund managers and analysts by means of investor seminars, advisory
meetings and telephone conferences to introduce the Company’s
operating results, development strategies and business updates.

The Company welcomes any suggestions and participation of
shareholders and investors. Any enquiries and suggestions may be
made by letter, telephone, fax or email to the Investor Relations
Department of the Company according to the contact information set
out below:

China Resources Gas Group Limited
Room 1901-02, China Resources Building
26 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

E-mail: investor-relations@crgas.com.hk
Tel: 852-2593-8200

Annual Report 2016



ATEN

FERMRRAAIIN2007F1 5 - REFEBEE
BEEBEILZ—  FBEFBEAMEELE
HAREZEEENBTIRAEL  B1F
EEMR  ERAMARERRSAEES -

REBREDE  £5558% THRER
TEBXNER BRiofEmR - K& &
E R Em @M BN EE @
8 RKE BN & BEFIS200% E KR
R MIEERL TR AR ¥BEREH
22(E% - 3EEET  MRFHEHLIAE162
B FK - FP#2,6498F @ EERAD
KEEKATPEEANATRRESS -
200810 AEEBM AL B AR £
ERAZEBEEETHRRRBHLETES B
BEAIHEBEELEEIEEMGK -

EhERRBERBRET  FEENREEREE
EEeRRBaNER  BRELTH S
EEMERE  HEOR  ZEHBE - AN
8 RIENRE - TERB RUEERENGE
B - ARRIREERNEARLE &5
ERER - BBREPIMERER - BREURQ
FHERAMGEEET - HER - -FP K
FFERFT - AR R B FESFI=BR T
MEE - LBEmRSTS  RISEE - UA
BRGERITARRNEMEFIEE -

RE - HERERKRE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

CORPORATE PROFILE

CR Gas, established in January 2007 as one of China Resources
Group's strategic business units, is principally engaged in investment
and operation of city gas business in mainland China which is closely
linked with the livelihood of the public, including piped gas, vehicle-use
gas, sales of gas appliances, etc.

Growing out of nothing and evolving from being a regional gas enterprise
into a leading gas utilities group in China, the Group has achieved
leapfrog development within a decade. So far, the Group has set up gas
companies in more than 200 large and medium-sized cities, including
Nanjing, Chengdu, Wuhan, Kunming, Jinan, Fuzhou, Zhengzhou,
Chongging, Nanchang, Tianjin, Suzhou, Wuxi, Xiamen, etc., and its
business covers 22 provinces and 3 direct administrative municipalities
in China with annual gas sales volume of more than 16.2 billion m?®
and more than 26.49 million customers. In view of this, CR Gas has
developed into the largest urban gas operator in China. The successful
listing in Hong Kong at the end of October in 2008 enabled CR Gas to
become the listed gas segment platform of China Resources Group,
and CR Gas has been included in the constituent stocks of Hong Kong
Hang Seng Composite Index.

In the course of its rapid development, CR Gas proactively facilitated
development of the corporate governance of its Board of Directors. It
built and constantly enhanced the role of the Board of Directors and
the management, whereby each had defined terms of reference and
responsibilities, executed effective check and balance and conducted
rational decision-making, thus forming a corporate governance structure
with high efficiency. The Company has always attached great importance
to honesty & integrity management, and complied with laws and
regulations, international practice and business ethics. It has also
insisted that the relationship among staff, suppliers, customers, relevant
authorities, partners, competitors and other interested parties shall
be dealt with on an arm's length basis and in good faith, so as to
gain market share and win respect with integrity and to improve the
Company's inherent qualities and value with strict compliance of rules
and regulations.
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HRBE162.7F 7K
Gross gas volume of 16.27 billion m?

B SRR 8 1228 MR
Reduction of carbon dioxide
emissions of 1.22 million tons

HEEARAREN7)ELIT K
Vehicle natural gas volume of (1.7) billion m3

For sustainable development in future, the Company proactively explores
and expands the integrated and synergetic development of its industry
value chain with an aim of creating a green and low-carbon energy
model. This model will play an important role in optimising the urban
energy structure, promoting urban low-carbon economic development,
protecting ecological environment and improving the image of cities and
investment environment.

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE

Emissions

As a gas company, CR Gas is supporting the ongoing environmental
policies of the PRC government by promoting the use of natural gas.
Based on the gross amount of about 16.2 billion m® of natural gas
distributed by the Company in 2016, it is estimated that annually the
Company helps to replace 20,836,000 tons of coal usage and reduce
approximately 47,088,000 tons of carbon dioxide emissions and 399,070
tons of pollutants.

B> — AR E 658 IR BRBM1458 1
Reduction of carbon monoxide Replaced fuel of 1.45 million tons
emissions of 0.65 million tons

WD REACHHERLE10,90087

B E6,1008 1 Reduction of nitrogen oxide
Replaced coal of 61 million tons emissions of 10,900 tons
R B HE R K738 MR

Reduction of soot emissions of
approximately 0.73 million tons
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Use of Resources

CR Gas conducted strict target management on energy conservation
and emission reduction, and strengthened process monitoring by
separating our control target into divisible tasks. CR Gas optimised
information system of energy conservation and emission reduction
according to actual conditions, which added many new functions such
as data fluctuation description. The updated system provided strong
support to the target management of energy conservation, emission
reduction and data submission.

Case:

Implementing the "Coal-to-Gas Conversion" Project, Guarding the
Clear Water and Blue Sky of Xiangyang

In 2016, the Xiangyang municipal government issued a notice on
designation of the "banned area" in downtown, which required making
efforts to promote the early elimination of coal-fired boilers or "coal-to-
gas conversion" in downtown area in a limited period. ESZEEREAH
[R A 7] actively responded to the call of the municipal government and
immediately held a special meeting on the day that the government
notice was issued so as to conduct a special discussion on supporting
the government's decision of "designating banned area, eliminating coal-
fired boilers", and promptly developed a series of effective measures to
promote the transformation of coal-fired boilers to use cleaner natural
gas.

ERFEBEMRBIR AT established the working team of "coal-to-gas
conversion" by transferring staff in marketing, design, engineer and
materials departments and formulated specific implementation measures
to fully assist the government to complete the "coal-to-gas conversion”
of coal-fired boilers in downtown area. For users of gas boilers that
used to be coal-fired boiler users, ESEBMREBR LT will offer two
promotions: one is discount of gas price; the other is installation cost
concessions, including quick quotes and reduction of installation costs.
Moreover, for natural gas users that used to be coal-fired boiler users
in the "banned area", E5E B R AR 2 F] will optimise the installation
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process and shorten the construction period from 50 days to 30 days,
and if the gas connection conditions are fulfilled, it can complete
acceptance inspection for gas supply in 30 days after signing contracts
and making payment. With the cooperation and efforts of Z[5E BIAE,
BBRAT], the air quality of Xiangyang continued to improve in 2016, with

206 days of good air quality and the rate of good air quality achieved
56.4%.

Environmental and Natural Resources

CR Gas organised internal training and provided training for its staff
members. The training included the reviewing critical points on energy
conservation and emission reduction, frequently asked questions,
indicators of energy conservation and emission reduction. Meanwhile,
the Safety Management Department of CR Gas reviewed the energy
conservation and emission reduction measures in 17 regions. CR Gas
adopted the updated check list of energy conservation and emission
reduction, and conducted system inspection in various aspects including
system completeness, target management, fuel and power consumption
management, staff training, etc.

In 2016, the Company organised its member companies to carry out
a series of promotional activities relating to energy conservation and
emission reduction under the subject of "Energy Saving, Frugality and
Virtue" (BigE B8 + E1RB12) of National Energy Efficiency Publicity Week
and the subject of "Low-carbon City, Livable and Sustainable" ({KX#x#
M EEAH4E) of National Low Carbon Day.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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Case:

The distributed energy project of the headquarter building of F(#D
EHMRE AR, which was approved by the Development and Reform
Commission of Sichuan Province at the end of 2014, has overcome
many difficulties in technology, policy, power grid, etc. after the busy
early-stage preparation and construction, and has completed system
commissioning and commenced trial operation in August 2015.

The installed capacity of the project is designed to realize cooling-
heating-power supply for the building by using 4x30kW micro gas
turbine generators in the form of grid connection rather than on-grid to
provide power to the headquarter building of A #BZEE R A F], and by
using one lithium bromide absorbent hot and cold water unit fueled by
flue gas to recycle high temperature flue gas from generators for cooling

and heating purpose. The project can provide the building with electricity
of 380,000 kWh and has cooling capacity of 170,000 kWh and heating
capacity of 200,000 kWh annually, with the efficiency of integrated
energy utilisation reaching 71.2% and the energy consumption being
lowered by approximately 38.06 tons of standard coal per year.
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As the first natural gas distributed energy project applied to buildings
in Sichuan Province, the distributed energy project of the headquarter
building of AUHREE BMAR A A will play an exemplary role in protecting
environment and optimising energy structure and lay a solid foundation
for promoting the application and development of distributed energy
system which uses natural gas as primary energy in various industries
in Sichuan Province.
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SOCIAL PERFORMANCE

Employment
Protection of Basic Rights and Interests

CR Gas signed labour contracts with employees according to state and
local laws and regulations and policies, prohibited discrimination and
punishment and protected employees' privacy. It purchased statutory
social security required by the state, including five insurances, housing
provident fund, mandatory provident fund, etc., and further purchased
commercial insurance for its employees. CR Gas also strictly protected
employees' rest and leave entitlements, offered transparent promotion
channels and fair promotion opportunities to employees and provided
them with any support and assistance it could offer, so as to safeguard
employees' interests, improve their satisfaction and sense of belonging
and ensure the steady and harmonious development of the Company.
CR Gas showed its sense of social responsibility and the people-
oriented operational concept through its meticulous care for employees.

Protection of Employees' Right to Remuneration

The rules and regulations of CR Gas require that employees' right to
remuneration shall be protected; the payment of remuneration shall be
made in full and in a timely manner; the remuneration shall not be lower
than local minimum wages; and allowance for overtime and holidays
shall be paid according to national regulations. Furthermore, it monitors
the payment of remuneration and the implementation of systems on
minimum wages and overtime allowance in real time by improving human
resources information system. Meanwhile, CR Gas has designed rules
on the increase of salary of employees, which allow their remuneration to
increase in line with the Company's improvement in results and local CPI
growth, so as to not only guarantee the employees' quality of life but also
allow them to share the achievements brought by the Company's growth.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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Health and Safety

Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases, Occupational Health
Training, Physical Examination and Mental Health Assistance

CR Gas required its member companies to conduct regular training
of prevention and control of occupational diseases and occupational
health training, for the purpose of improving their vocational skills
and emphasizing safety. The headquarter took the lead and prepared
37 skill and knowledge sections that the employees must master for
different positions, covering gas safety, transmission and customer
service departments which are mainly consisted of grass-roots staff, and
organised on-line group study and certification to effectively improve the
employees' safety awareness and standard operation. Meanwhile, in the
ordinary course of production process, CR Gas required its front-line
production operators to wear complete protective equipment according
to safe production requirements and conduct orderly operation, and
required the complete preconstruction plan and on-site supervision, so
as to safeguard employees' safety and health in production process.
Moreover, CR Gas organises physical examination for employees
annually and attaches importance to mental health guidance, including
providing mental health assistance for employees in forms of mental
training, domestic activities, cultural salon and employee discussion

forum.

Case:

BEZEBMR: Prevention of Occupational Diseases, Care for
Employees' Occupational Health

R EEMR is committed to actively improving the working environment
and ensuring safety of employees. It has actively conducted prevention
of occupational diseases, occupational health training, physical
examination, mental health assistance and reasonable allocation of
safety equipment.
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On one hand, EEZEMMREA identified harmful factors existing in
workplaces and operating environment through identification of sources
of hazards and developed relevant control measures and business
process, so as to prevent employees from harm in their production
process and daily lives. It also informed the employees about the sources
of risks and control measures within the scope of work. On the other
hand, B 2 BB A strengthened prevention and control of occupational
diseases by actively contacting occupational disease prevention and
treatment hospitals to carry out relevant works, purchasing protective
equipment for employees and conducting regular physical examinations.
In 2016, it has conducted physical examination for 37 employees, with
a physical examination rate of 100%, and completed vocational health
training for 30 employees.
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Development and Training

Emphasising leadership development of senior management while
focusing on improvement of capacity of frontline staff: CR Gas attached
importance to leadership development and improvement of senior
executives, whereby it focused on the training core of 3C leadership
model and adhered to bench-marking to conduct leadership training and
development of managers. It also organised Benchmarking Campaign to
promote managers to improve both operational capacity and leadership
in solving practical problems with reference to 25 key indicators and by
using lean management and action learning as tools. Moreover, CR Gas
took "Everyone learns benchmarking" as the core to encourage each
employee to find good examples and find the difference between them
with reference to the skill and knowledge standards required by different
positions, in order to improve the target rate of skill requirements and
working abilities step by step.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016



EHEIRERENRE  ERRIANER
MR BT BITE - £E 22T X
2INEEFE  EEBGHERF  &ITE
—BETHMNENESIZE HEBTE
B R ERERINE R A EN - IR E
[B—iREENEE - ZHEBEESERMRIER
M2ERMZERET15,000A °

I‘_.

T o iy e
k5 G5 T EEYE

# TR
BEEBETRAEERET

ERRREBRIRREZARERBRERER
RETREIE  ABAFAZE  &RER
IH0ESE BREFBEL R 8T
ABR - FRRRANERIEHERETA
BAEA - MEINAEARFERBER - K
FRE R A BK F EHEEL REE - MR
HEX-BBRAIAIRZILHAR - AERA
BEBHIBERHEA ﬁiﬂwﬂﬁiﬁ%ﬁﬂﬂ’ﬂ%
BREMEANT  KEPEEMAFLE
BEERRERAT - 1@*%&%1@%21&
ERBIETHERIBR -

I]

RiE - HERER®RE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

While paying attention to the development of senior management, Gas
Faculty of Human Resources Department of CR Gas has cooperated
with business lines to develop a series of skill and knowledge standards
and explore study resources for front-line positions based on the
industry and under the management subject of "benchmarking and
safety" (B2 » E%L %), realising the implementation of compliance
assessment measurements and pilot points, with the aim of enhancing
front-line capability. This project covered 15,000 employees of CR Gas's
subsidiaries and joint venture companies.

Labour Standards
Avoid Child and Forced Labour

CR Gas recruits employees strictly pursuant to the state laws and
regulations. It will carefully check and verify the potential employees'
identity information prior to joining the Company so as to avoid child
labour. Meanwhile, the Human Resources Department of CR Gas will
have a pre-joining interview with the potential staff to introduce the
corporate profile and the necessary information about relevant positions
and remuneration, and will sign the labour contracts only after reaching
agreement by both parties for the purpose of avoiding forced labour.
As CR Gas always selects talents through official recruitment channels
and recruits them after negotiation and confirmation by the employer
and labours, no violation event such as child and forced labour has

ever occurred.
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Supply Chain Management

To safeguard the interests of the Company and investors, we carried
out centralised procurement for 46 types of materials with largest
utilisation amount, and through stringent inspection mechanism, the
Company selected its suppliers for cooperation, and entered into
cooperation agreements with 216 domestic and international well-known
manufacturers and service suppliers.

In selecting suppliers for cooperation, we always adhere to the concept
of mutual development together with our business partners, and
encourage them to enhance their management in terms of environment
and occupational safety, including obtaining the qualifications of
"Environment Management System Certification" and "Occupational
Health and Safety Management System Certification"; for processes
involve the handling of radioactive substances, our business partners
are required to provide "Radiation Safety Permit"; for the manufacturing
of special equipment, our business partners are required to have
"Manufacturing License for Special Equipment" (to obtain such license,
mandatory clauses in relation to environment, occupational safety and
health, etc must be fulfilled).

In respect of quality assurance, we have formulated stringent system
to carry out all-round inspection on the manufacturing process of
our potential suppliers, which includes environmental protection and
occupational health, such as labour protection and operation of sewage
treatment facilities of steel pipe manufacturers. In addition, we assess
the cooperation with our existing suppliers on regular basis and carry
out on-site inspections on their production sites, and will suspend the
cooperation with suppliers with material violation of regulations.

Product Responsibility

As a supplier for gas products and services, CR Gas always adhered
to its mission of "providing professional, efficient and friendly services",
earnestly fulfilled its service commitments and specified customer
service standards. Meanwhile, CR Gas constantly made innovations
in service initiatives, launched internet service channels and built up
service brand, thereby winning the trust of customers and established
an excellent service brand image among its customers.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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Implementing customer service standards

To enhance standardised and professional services, CR Gas promoted
10 "customer service standards" in 142 member companies under
the Group, which covered the services provided by all front-line
positions, and through tools such as service conduct observation, the
implementation results of service staff were improved. In 2016, CR
Gas organised a nation-wide customer service skills contest (involving
over 1,800 front-line staff in all member companies) for the first time.
The contest comprises of three rounds, i.e. preliminary round in each
company, second round in each regional center and final round in the
Group. Through combining examinations on theories and appraisals
on practical skills, the contests for customer safety inspection services
and PERCEN ("B &") after-sale customer service skills were carried out,
thereby improving the safety inspection service skills of staff.
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Applying information technology on customer service

Sticking to the principle of "unified planning, centralised deployment
and construction by stages", CR Gas built up its customer information
system (CIS), and 114 member companies were successfully connected
into the system in 2016, thereby achieving standardised processes and
higher efficiency. Based on the standardised business practices, the full
life-cycle management for customers, covering business development,
customer services and value-added services were completed. In 2016,
CR Gas launched innovative internet service channels (including various
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application channels such as online “business office”, mobile phone
application “business office”, WeChat service account and customer
payment platform), so as to provide convenient internet services for
customers, and the functions of inquiry, customer service, sales and
payment through mobile platforms were realized. The accumulated
number of followers of the WeChat service account for CR Gas has
exceeded 150,000.

Improving handling mechanism for customer complaints

CR Gas attached high importance on the customer experiences for
products and services and actively responded to customer complaints.
CR Gas formulated specific service commitment objectives for “handling
of customer complaints” in “service commitment”, and undertook to
respond to customer complaints within 2 working days (i.e. the gas
company shall solve the problem raised by the customer and reply the
customer, or reply the customer with the solutions for the problem and
time required to solve the problem, within 2 working days), so as to
ensure the complaints can be handled in a timely and effective manner.
In 2016, CR Gas developed channels such as mobile phone application

“business office” as internet channels for customer complaints, so

as to provide convenient means for customer's recommendation and
feedback.
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Safeguarding information security and privacy of customers

CR Gas implemented effective measures to safeguard the information
security of customer, standardised customer information management
in customer service management, took care of potential risks of
information security in each process of business and operation, and
clearly specified the requirements on the collection, use and storage
of customer's personal information. CR Gas established a sound

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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internal control mechanism for information security, clearly specified the
responsibilities and authorities for confidentiality and management of
each personnel, and established restricted areas at information handling
site in accordance with the importance of information and relevant rules,
personnel not permitted by the competent authority shall not enter the
restricted areas.

Anti-corruption

CR Gas proactively established a long-term normalized integrity
compliance management mechanism by constructing and improving
the relevant organisational system. CR Gas has established an integrity
compliance management system, the Chairman of the Board serves
as the Head of the Integrity Compliance Management Committee, and
the General Manager of the Office of the Board serves as the Director
of the Integrity Compliance Office. Integrity Compliance Management
Committees have been set up in 17 regional areas and member
companies, with the General Manager of the regional areas or the
General Manager of the member company serving as the Director of
the committee. At the member company level, the General Manager
of the company shall serve as the Director, the senior management of
the company shall serve as members of the committee, and personnel
in responsible for disciplinary inspection and supervision shall serve
as integrity compliance officers to carry out specific tasks such as
prevention of bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering. CR Gas
improved its system development, formulated and revised a series of
integrity compliance management rules, including "Integrity Compliance
Management Measures of CR Gas", "Work Procedures for Integrity
Compliance Officers of CR Gas", "Ten Dos and Ten Don'ts for Integrity
Compliance of CR Gas", "Ten Don'ts for Sunshine Project of CR Gas" and
"Ten Disciplinary Actions to Enhance the Management of Engineering
Construction, Material Procurement and Other Operating Activities", the
accountability system and prevention mechanism of all personnel, from
senior management of the Company to front-line staff, have been set
up, so as to prevent the occurrence of dishonest and non-compliance
incidents.
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Community Investment

CR Gas has always been grateful and devoted to contribute to
the society, through earnestly perform the duties of a state-owned
enterprise, proactively participate in the activities of local economic
and social development and extensively carry out poverty alleviation,
donation towards education, caring for underprivileged groups and
volunteer service activities by member companies in local regions,
built up an image of good corporate citizen with concrete actions. CR
Gas supported the development of underdeveloped regions, helped
the students suffering in poverty and cared for the elderly living alone.

Case:

|5 E MK Voluntary blood donation was organized to fulfil social
responsibility

In 2016, &5 MR R organized a voluntary blood donation drive, more
than 60 staff actively participated in the voluntary blood donation. Over
the years, many volunteers of #5ZEEMA have participated in the
voluntary blood donation, including senior management and employees,
which demonstrated the good social image of the company and showed
the interests and concerns of the company for public welfare, thereby
receiving unanimous good comments and praises from the society. In
2015, the company received the award of "Advanced Unit on Voluntary
Blood Donation in Wuxi" for 2014 organized by the Leading Team of
Wuxi Citizen Blood Donation. This has been the third consecutive year
for the company to win this award since 2012.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries and joint ventures are set out in Note 45 and Note
46 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Review of the business of the Group during the year and discussion on
the Group’s prospects, the Group’s compliance with relevant laws and
regulations which have a significant impact on the Group, relationships
with its key stakeholders and environmental policy are provided in the
Chairman’s Statement on pages 2 to 12, Report from the Chief Executive
Officer on pages 13 to 21, Management Discussion and Analysis on
pages 25 to 29, Corporate Governance Report on pages 41 to 54,
Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages 55 to 68 and
Directors’ Report on pages 69 to 88 of this annual report. Description of
key risk factors and uncertainties that the Group is facing is provided in
the Chairman’s Statement and Report from the Chief Executive Officer
and note 5 to the consolidated financial statements while the financial
risk management objectives and policies of the Group can be found
in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of the
Group’s performance during the year using financial key performance
indicators is provided in Financial and Operational Highlights on pages
22 to 24 of this annual report.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2016
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 98.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 101 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders at 31st
December, 2016, amounted to HK$7,790,265,000.
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors have resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of 30 HK cents per share. Together with the interim dividend of
15 HK cents per share paid in October 2016, total distribution for 2016
would thus be 45 HK cents per share (2015: 33 HK cents per share).

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting, the final dividend will be payable on 16th June, 2017
to shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on 2nd June, 2017.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 19th May,
2017 to 26th May, 2017, both days inclusive. In order to determine the
identity of members who are entitled to attend and vote at the annual
general meeting to be held on 26th May, 2017, completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office, Tricor
Secretaries Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 18th May, 2017.

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the annual general meeting,
the proposed final dividend will be payable to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company on 2nd
June, 2017 and the register of members of the Company will be closed
on 2nd June, 2017. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend,
completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar
and transfer office, Tricor Secretaries Limited at Level 22, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m.
on 1st June, 2017.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at the end of the year, the authorized share capital of the Company
was HK$1,000,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.10
each, of which 2,224,012,871 shares had been issued and fully paid,
and the shareholders’ equity of the Group was HK$17,768,243,000.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

During 2016, the Company continued to make new acquisitions and
invested or paid HK$391 million in 15 city gas projects. Most of these
projects are either wholly owned or majority owned by the Group. As at
31st December, 2016, CR Gas portfolio included 227 city gas projects
and its footprint covered 22 Chinese provinces and included 3 direct
administrative municipalities, 14 provincial capitals and 72 prefecture
level cities.

In addition, as at 31st December, 2016, the Company has announced
or the Board has approved another 17 proposed city gas distribution
and related projects with proposed investments of HK$1,183 million.

Other acquisitions are stated in Note 36 of the consolidated financial
statements.

GOING CONCERN

On the basis of current financial projections and facilities available, the
Group has adequate financial resources to continue its operation for the
foreseeable future. For this reason, the going concern basis continues to
be adopted in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31st
December, 2016 are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A financial summary of the Group for the last five financial periods is set
out on page 223 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Group during the year are set out in Note
14 and Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Details of the movements in the goodwill and operating rights of
the Group during the year are set out in Note 20 and Note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31st December, 2016, the aggregate turnover
attributable to the five largest customers accounted for less than 1.3%
of the Group’s total turnover.

For the year ended 31st December, 2016, the aggregate purchases
attributable to the five largest suppliers accounted for approximately
28% of the Group’s total purchases, out of which 13% was attributable
to the largest supplier.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders (which
to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s
share capital) has any interest in any of the Group’s five largest
customers or suppliers.

CHARITABLE DONATION

During the year, the Group made donations in cash and in various form
of goods in the total amount of approximately HK$2,858,033 (2015:
HK$2,477,408).

DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
annual report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Wang Chuandong
Mr. Shi Shanbo

Mr. Ge Bin

Mr. Ong Thiam Kin

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Du Wenmin
Mr. Wei Bin
Mr. Chen Ying
Mr. Wang Yan
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Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Tak Shing
Ms. Yu Jian

Mr. Yu Hon To, David
Mr. Qin Chaokui

The Company has received an annual confirmation from each
Independent Non-executive Director with each confirming his
independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the
Company still considers such Directors are independent of the Company.

Pursuant to bye-law 110(A) of the Company, Mr. Wang Chuandong,
Mr. Wei Bin, Mr. Wong Tak Shing and Mr. Qin Chaokui shall retire from
office by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and shall
be eligible for re-election.

None of Directors, including Directors proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, has a
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which
is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The term of office of each Non-executive Director, including Independent
Non-executive Director, is for a period of three years subject to
requirement that one-third of all the Directors shall retire from office by
rotation at each annual general meeting pursuant to the Bye-laws of
the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

There was no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance (to
which the Company or its subsidiary or its holding company or its fellow
subsidiary was a party) subsisting during or at the end of the financial
year in which a Director of the Company or his/her connected entities is
or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The emolument payable to each Director is based on his relevant
qualifications, experience and expertise, his duties and responsibilities
and performance of the Company. The current market situation will also
be taken into account. Bonus and incentive awards may be granted to
individual Directors in recognition of their contribution to the Group. All
the aforesaid form the emolument policy and long term incentive for
Directors of the Company.
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(a) RARBEBITEBRHERS

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SECURITIES

Save as disclosed below, as at 31st December, 2016, none of the
Directors, chief executive of the Company and their associates had
any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO”)) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they are deemed or taken
to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

(a) Interests in issued ordinary shares of the Company

FrikfEz=
BEADL
HRRKRE BB EE Aggregate
EEnR 514 Long or Number of percentage
Name of Directors Capacity short position shares of interest’
IR EmEBAA HE 94,000 0.0042%
Mr. Ong Thiam Kin Beneficial owner Long position
MXEREE BB A E=) 54,000 0.0024%
Mr. Du Wenmin Beneficial owner Long position
B E Note:
1. WARZZE—AF+=ZA=+—H0H 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary
BARR BRI EBEEAARR shares to the total issued shares of the Company as at 31st December,
BEBTROOHBAIL - 2016.
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HER D K

(b) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares

of China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (“CR

Beer”), an associated corporation of the Company

FrikfEz=

wEEL

HERKXE A EE Aggregate

EEHE Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Directors position shares of interest’

HXREE iR 100,000 0.0031%
Mr. Du Wenmin Long position

TEXRE iE 167,999 0.0052%
Mr. Wang Yan Long position
B EE Notes:

1. WARZZE—AF+ZA=+—HH 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary

FERSHLBRIABROFRLE
BEEHEE2RERTRONED
L o

2. EXAEBENMERSRHESUE
BEBAFNEA °

(c) RELAMEBEEERELBRALT
(T£HE®]) ERTEBRREBR
7 B S

shares and underlying shares of CR Beer to the total issued shares of

CR Beer as at 31st December, 2016.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his

capacity as beneficial owner.

(c) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares

of China Resources Land Limited (“CRL”), an associated

corporation of the Company

Frit iR

BEAIL

HFREKRE R E R Aggregate

EEHE Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Directors position shares of interest’

AEEELE HE 171,111 0.0025%
Mr. Shi Shanbo Long position

HXRESE HE 640,000 0.0092%
Mr. Du Wenmin Long position

PRIE S HE 500,000 0.0072%
Mr. Chen Ying Long position
B aE Notes:

1. AR -—ZE—XE+-B=+—H0FF 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary

HEBEHETBRIEERNITRE
BIEEREB2HCHTRONED
Lt o

2. LtXHRBENMARARAEEAE
SEBAFDEEA

shares and underlying shares of CRL to the total issued shares of CRL

as at 31st December, 2016.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his

capacity as beneficial owner.
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(d) REQXFEBEEEBELEZRAR
DA ([EHEN]) ERTEHERRMAE
B IR 1D Ry RE 2R

(d) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited (“CRP”),

an associated corporation of the Company

Frib s

BEAI

HRRKR BRBEE Aggregate

EFENE Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Directors position shares of interest’

AEEELE HE 500,000 0.0104%
Mr. Shi Shanbo Long position

MXREA S~y 480,240 0.0100%
Mr. Du Wenmin Long position

TEXRE e 44,000 0.0009%
Mr. Wang Yan Long position
B EE Notes:

1. HWER-_ZE—XNE+-_A=1+—HFF 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary

HEREHLBRIBEROTFELE
BEEREH2MEBRTRONED
Lt o

2. EXMEENMERRBEHESUE
BEBAFDFEA °

(e) MALQAMEB EEEBKEEZRAR
DA ([EBXRE]) ERTHERRAE
B 1D Ry R 2R

shares and underlying shares of CRP to the total issued shares of CRP

as at 31st December, 2016.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his

capacity as beneficial owner.

(e) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
China Resources Cement Holdings Limited (“CR Cement”), an

associated corporation of the Company

Frib s

wEEL

HREKRE R EE Aggregate

EENR Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Directors position shares of interest’

AEBEAE S~ 280,000 0.0043%
Mr. Shi Shanbo Long position

PRIE S HE 230,000 0.0035%
Mr. Chen Ying Long position
BiE - Notes:

1. WARZZE—AF+ZA=+—HH 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary

FEBOREBRIABROTFELR
BHERKERHERTRONED
A

2. EXMEENMERSHEHESUE
SHBASNEE -

shares and underlying shares of CR Cement to the total issued shares

of CR Cement as at 31st December, 2016.

2. All interest disclosed above are being held by the Director in his

capacity as beneficial owner.
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(f) REQXAEBLEEBBEEERR
NE ([EBEE]) ERTHEERRMAE
B IR Ry RE 2R

(f) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited (“CR Pharm”),
an associated corporation of the Company

Frib R

BEEDL

HFREKRE R EE Aggregate

EEHRE Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Directors position shares of interest’

ERREE LSY) 300,000 0.0048%
Mr. Ong Thiam Kin Long position

TEXRE e 2,000® 0.0001%
Mr. Wang Yan Long position
B e Notes:

1. WAR-—ZE—XE+-_A=+—HFF 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary

HEERETER LARRGTAE shares and underlying shares of CR Pharm to the total issued shares

(R ES MO RITRONE S of CR Pharm as at 31st December, 2016.

L e

2. WERDBRMABEREAERBERA
BINFEA -

3. WEHARBAMEEIRERA -

REREEE
RIZZENF+-A—HB  ARARH—IA
iR e RS ((REBEE])) &
bt AEBERBRERRNEIEEELHE
REBFT BB 2 MERR S - RERARTYHE
FA—HKAAR R EE L EEEF5%IA
tRBEERNAR ((RERAD  gatE
BEERADLME ERERBMSAR
BB D LARUAERERBEMARFE
ZHEBNZETHATNADIL -

HEFE S ERTE TREN T REER
SEHER - WIRESRB RBEIAEE R
BRRGBHERAEREREEEZES - 1
HEINRARHRAEE I ERREERHE
BREERZ - RIEWESSRATKLL - BE
STEIERM AR+ FEREK - RIREE
B SRR G RN EBEE SRR &
HiEEERBRMO B RO BIARAF]
T2 BITIRZNE5% % 0.5% R °

2. These interest are being held by the Director concerned in his capacity
as beneficial owner.

3. These interest are being held by the spouse of the Director concerned.

LONG TERM AWARD SCHEME

On 1st December, 2008, the Company adopted a share repurchased
cash award scheme (the “Incentive Award Scheme”) in which selected
employees of the Group or investee companies (being any company in
which the Company directly or indirectly owns 5% or more attributable
equity interests and in calculating the percentage interest so attributed
(the “Investee Company”), the percentage interest held in the Investee
Company shall be multiplied by the percentage interest in each level of
entity through which such interest is held by the Group), are entitled to
participate in the Incentive Award Scheme pursuant to the scheme rules.

The purpose of the Incentive Award Scheme is to recognise and
motivate the contribution of certain employees and to provide incentives
and to enable the Group and the Investee Companies in retaining its
existing employees and recruiting additional employees and to provide
them with a direct economic interest in attaining the long-term business
objectives of the Company. Unless early termination by the Board, the
Incentive Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term of 10
years commencing on the adoption date. The maximum aggregate
numbers of award shares which can be awarded under the Incentive
Award Scheme and to a selected employee throughout its duration are
limited to 5% and 0.5% respectively of the issued share capital of the
Company from time to time.
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Pursuant to the rules of the Incentive Award Scheme, the Company has
appointed BOCI-Prudential Trustee Limited as trustee (the “Trustee”),
pursuant to which existing shares will be purchased by the Trustee from
the market out of cash contributed by the Group and be held in trust for
the relevant selected employees until such shares are vested with the
relevant selected employees in accordance with the provisions of the
Incentive Award Scheme. A total of 70,000,000 shares were purchased
at an aggregate cost of approximately HK$253,534,680 (including
transaction costs) on 7th April, 2009, representing approximately 4.95%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at date of acquisition and
held by the Trustee. The Company does not intend to purchase any
further share under the Incentive Award Scheme.

On 16th March, 2010, the Company amended the Incentive Award
Scheme such that cash instead of award shares will be awarded under
the Incentive Award Scheme. The Company will utilize the proceeds
generated from disposal of the award shares held by the Trustee for
the awards made under the scheme. The awards will be subject to
the approval of the Company’s Remuneration Committee and the cash
under the award will only be given upon fulfillment of relevant vesting
conditions imposed on the date of grant of the award.

On 1st December, 2016, upon the approvals of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company, the Company granted 2,266,000 award
shares which vested immediately. During the year, the Trustee
disposed of these award shares which generated a net proceeds of
HK$52,302,000, and distributed these to selected employees including
3 executive directors. Details of the movement of the award shares held
by the Trustee are as follows:

REROEE
Number of
award shares

R-EZNFNALHEE Purchased on 7th April, 2009 70,000,000
RZTE—TFRERLE Granted and disposed of during 2010 (1,818,000)
RIE——FREREE Granted and disposed of during 2011 (7,741,496)
RIE——FRENEE Granted and disposed of during 2012 (6,893,520)
RZE—=FRERLEE Granted and disposed of during 2013 (2,268,500)
R-E—NmNEREREE Granted and disposed of during 2014 (1,905,100)
RIZ—RAFREREE Granted and disposed of during 2015 (1,310,000)
RZT—ARFREREE Granted and disposed of during 2016 (2,266,000)
R-E—RE+-_A=+—HHN&EH Balance as at 31st December, 2016 45,797,384
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has entered into certain connected transactions with
connected persons, details of which are set out bellow:

Connected Transaction

On 16th November, 2016, China Resources Gas Investment (China)
Limited (“CR Gas Investment”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, and China Resources Power Investment Co., Ltd (“CRP
Investment”), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of China Resources Power
Holdings Company Limited, entered into a joint venture agreement, to
establish a joint venture in Fujian Province of the PRC. The joint venture
will be owned by CR Gas Investment and CRP Investment as to 49%
and 51%, respectively.

The joint venture will principally engage in the sale and distribution
of electricity and design and implementation of electrical engineering
projects; research and development, technical consulting, technology
transfer and technical services for new energy technology; energy
management contract, energy-saving consulting and electricity usage
consulting services; production, sales and research of environmental
friendly electrical products; and electricity business agency service and
other electricity-related business approved by the government.

As at 31st December, 2016, the joint venture has been set up but has
not commenced any business operation.
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Continuing Connected Transactions

During the year, members of the Group have entered into continuing
connected transactions with connected persons, details of which are
subject to the reporting requirements under rule 14A.71 of the Listing
Rules and are summarised herein below. The Company’s auditor was
engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group as below in accordance with Main
Board Listing Rule 14A.56. The Independent Non-executive Directors
have reviewed the continuing connected transactions and confirmed that
the continuing connected transactions have been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and
(iii) according to the agreement governing them on terms that are fair

and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the
Company as a whole.
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Details of the above-mentioned continuing connected transactions and

the actual amount incurred for the year ended 31st December, 2016 or

as at 31st December, 2016 are summarized as follows:

For the year
ended

31st December,
2016

BEEHE
(FE LR : AK¥610,234,7047T)

ARBZRMBARBILARARRO AR
RF (—KRFPERIHNEREETRE 5
AAEAARBANERR (B5REBRE
BRAR - KREBRMRIARDR - HRE
HEEMAERAE  EMNEBRITARA
BARGHEIRRARAR (28H&ESA
R-ZE-—RFE+-A=1+AIY) HTER
) RERAAR - BHISE -

Sale and Purchase Agreement
(Annual Cap: RMB610,234,704)

Purchase of natural gas for 3 years by a number of
subsidiaries of the Company from Shanxi Natural Gas
Limited (ILAXRARKRHDBR AR, a limited liability
company established in the PRC and is the substantial
shareholder of these subsidiaries of the Company
namely, Yangquan China Resources Gas Limited,
Datong China Resources Gas Co., Ltd, Hongdong
China Resources Hengfu Gas Co., Ltd., Huozhou China
Resources Gas Co., Ltd. and Yangqu China Resources
Gas Co., Limited (all agreements entered on 30th
December, 2015 respectively).

AR#515,812,0007C
RMB515,812,000
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BB S 1R =
(FE LR : AK¥1,700,000,0005T)

Yoy R=ZZE—ZTF+—A=Z+=ZH &
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R-Z—RFE+-A=+H AR
BIBLAE AP SRTT ARG B EE M SR 1T
RN — e BT —AF—
A—BRAEN - AHIZTF (BKRIEHIR
KHE—FER) -

(i)(b) B T FHIRFE SN - ARBEAEH

RIT 2 ARRITIRS

Strategic Cooperation Agreements
(Annual Cap: RMB1,700,000,000)
(i)(@) On 22nd November, 2010, the Company AR#1,280,956,0007T

entered into an agreement and subsequently
on 23rd April, 2013 entered into a supplemental
agreement in respect of placing of deposits
with China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd.,
(“CR Bank”), a municipal bank headquartered
in Zhuhai, which effective from the date of the
supplemental agreement until 31st December,
2014. China Resources Co., Limited (“CRC")
has a controlling interest of CR Bank and the
Company.

On 31st December, 2013, the Company entered
into an agreement in respect of the use of
commercial banking services with CR Bank for
2 years (unless extended for a further period).
On 19th December, 2014, the Company entered
into a supplemental agreement in respect of
adjusting the aggregate deposits amount and
extending the effective date to 31st December,
2015.

On 30th December, 2015, the Company entered
into a new agreement in respect of the use of
commercial bank services with CR Bank for 3
years effective from 1st January 2016 (unless
extended for a further period).

(i)(b)Other than deposit services, the Company

utilised commercial banking services provided
by CR Bank.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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As at

31st December,

2016

iy R=ZZTE—=F+=-_A=+—H A& (i) On 31st December, 2013, the Company TEA

N AR S FE IR TS B 2 R R B4R entered into an agreement in respect of the N/A
EFEARAR ([EEEFE]) 71 use of the trust services with China Resources
o RER2E (BRIFHRAE — I SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd., (“CR Trust”), for 2 years
) - EBEROBHEEBETEEA (unless extended for a further period). CRC
AR ER o has a controlling interest of CR Trust and the

Company.
RZTE—RAF+ZA=+H " AR On 30th December, 2015, the Company entered
A E RS RIS B{S5E5T L into an agreement in respect of the use of the
—HEHm BT —X<F—H—H trust services with CR Trust for 3 years effective
AR - BEI3E (BRIFHAR AT — from 1st January 2016 (unless extended for a
FHER) ° further period).
ERERBE Framework Loan Agreements
(FE LR AK¥1,600,000,0005T) (Annual Cap: RMB1,600,000,000)

iy R=ZFE—=F+=A=+—H & (i) On 31st December, 2013, the Company entered TiEA
RAIART (REEMANE AT into an agreement in respect of the intra-group N/A
(ERHPBEKZERBKRIN) KE lending between the Company (and any of its
B(EE) ARAF - EEBHE subsidiaries but exclude entity established
ELEmRARREENTANERR in the PRC) and China Resources (Holdings)
(EERARARBHPA-ZT—=F1+ Company Limited, any China Resources Group
ZA=t+—8z2%) E@EET - listed company and any of their subsidiaries (as
ARBHETERNEERNBEE defined in the Company’s announcement dated
RN R - AHIBE (BRIFHARACH 31st December, 2013) in respect of Hong Kong
—FER) ° dollars, RMB or, United States dollars loan for 3

years (unless extended for a further period).

(i) R=ZF—=F+=—A=+—H & (i) On 31st December, 2013, the Company entered TiEA
NGV NG Nl dvas R s B L) into an agreement in respect of the intra- N/A
BARIREBRG (REBRORN group lending between any PRC established
B AR S Y (R AT B B A D) sk EE subsidiary of the Company and CRC (and any
SELETAR (EERARGAH PRC established subsidiary of CRC) or a China
BTE—=F+_-"A=+—HZARA Resources Group listed company (as defined
E)EBAREBERNEB NG in the Company’s announcement dated 31st
BT %% 0 AHSFE (BRIEHRK December, 2013) in respect of RMB loan for 3
E—FER) ° years (unless extended for a further period).
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Related Party Transactions

Details of the material related party transactions under normal course
of business are provided under note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements. None constitute a discloseable connected transaction as
defined under the Listing Rules.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for
the year ended 31st December, 2016.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed below, the Directors and chief executive of the
Company are not aware that there was any party (other than a Director
or chief executive of the Company), who, as at 31st December, 2016
had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO:

Management Company®

Beneficial owner

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016

Beneficial interest

Long position

REDBNHER Long Position in the Company
i st
BEROHL
BEMY HERKXA RABE  Aggregate
BRREEB &1 Nature of Long or short Number of  percentage
Name of shareholder Capacity interest position shares  of interest'
ZHEE (MR) B8R EEHEAA Ban 18 1,407,828,991 63.30%
([EHEERS Beneficial owner Beneficial interest Long position
CRH (Gas) Limited
(“CRH Gas")?
285 (&8) BRLA? REBHID A B RARER i) 1,422,298,991 63.95%
China Resources (Holdings) Controlled company's interest ~ Corporate interest Long position
Company Limited?
CRC Bluesky Limited REHA RS NAlER 1HE 1,422,298,991 63.95%
(“CRC Bluesky"y? Controlled company’s interest Corporate interest Long position
ERROHBRAR ([EBKH])? HIR AE RS REER j55) 1,422,298,991 63.95%
China Resources Co., Limited Controlled company’s interest Corporate interest Long position
(“CRCL")?
mEEEQAR ([hEEH])? RGN A8 ARER 18 1,422,298,991 63.95%
China Resources National Corp. Controlled company’s interest Corporate interest Long position
(“CRNC")?
The Capital Group Companies, Inc.®  ZiZ%| A E]##ER NAER e 179,007,800 8.05%
Controlled company’s interest Corporate interest Long position
Capital Research and ERERA Enan e 179,007,800 8.05%
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1. WARZE-—RE+ZA=+—HFAFRK
NEFREBEEARBR2HEBTRONTE
o e

2. EHBEERARAEARATDBNRAR
711,407,828,991% A% 13 k14,470,0000%
B EAEEES  ZMR AR EE
H(EE) BRARMNEZENBERR -
bt EH(EE) GRABPEIERED
A) 191,422,298,9911% % {7 1 # B # %= ©
#8 (£E) 5 R 2 A ACRC BlueskyH]
2EMBRAR EMBEARGCEZER
BoEHRMHMATEREBRNZ2ENER
Al At E=H(5E) BR2A7A - CRC
Bluesky * %0 [ B3 B AR /ERA R
A AEIHY1,422,298,991 R AR 1) R A HEES o

3. Capital Research and Management
Company & The Capital Group Companies,
Inc.H) = &M B AR - ELt - The Capital
Group Companies, Inc.# % AR AR 5]
179,007,800/ {7 h E A #E &s ©

ERERRNIEEBOEE

RZZ—=ZF=ZA=++t8 AQ7 (A
BRA) BRRRBITO R —ESEBETH
SEHEREE R —EEETHSFHER
BMEFT I RME R - XFERRMEH AEIEK
WRFE  BREFEREBEHARERZR]
AR =FEAEREE -

Notes:

1.

This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in shares to the
total issued shares of the Company as at 31st December, 2016.

CRH Gas and Commotra Company Limited directly interested in
1,407,828,991 shares and 14,470,000 shares in the Company respectively
and both companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries of China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited. China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited
is therefore deemed to be interested in 1,422,298,991 shares of the
Company. China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CRC Bluesky, which is in turn wholly-owned by CRCL. CRCL
is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRNC. So, China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited, CRC Bluesky, CRCL and CRNC are therefore deemed to
have interest in 1,422,298,991 shares of the Company.

Capital Research and Management Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of The Capital Group Companies, Inc. So, The Capital Group Companies,
Inc. is deemed to have interest in 179,007,800 shares of the Company.

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS ON
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

On 27th March, 2013, the Company, as borrower, entered into two
facility agreements in relation to a HK$800 million 3-year term loan

facility and a HK$300 million 3-year term loan facility with two banks

respectively. The loan facilities are unsecured and interest bearing with

any outstanding amounts to be repaid in full on the date falling three

years from the date of the facility agreements.
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On 13th May, 2013, the Company, as borrower, entered into two facility
agreements in relation to a HK$800 million 3-year term loan facility and a
HK$500 million 3-year term loan facility with two banks respectively. The
loan facilities are unsecured and interest bearing with any outstanding
amounts to be repaid in full on the date falling three years from the date
of the facility agreements.

On 23rd December, 2013, the Company, as borrower, entered into a
facility letter with a bank in relation to a HK$1,500 million 3-year term
loan facility. The loan facility is unsecured and interest bearing with any
outstanding amounts to be repaid in full on the date falling three years
from the date of first drawdown.

On 11th June, 2015, the Company, as borrower, entered into a facility
agreement in relation to a HK$2,000 million 3-year term loan facility
with a bank. The loan facility is unsecured and interest bearing with any
outstanding amounts to be repaid in full on the date falling three years
from the date of the facility agreement. The facility has been used to
repay the existing HK$2,000 million bilateral loan facility on 15th June,
2015.

On 6th August, 2015, the Company, as borrower, entered into a facility
agreement in relation to a HK$1,000 million 3-year term loan facility
with a bank. The loan facility is unsecured and interest bearing with any
outstanding amounts to be repaid in full on the date falling three years
from the date of the facility agreement.

Pursuant to the aforesaid facility agreements and facility letter, the
controlling shareholder of the Company, China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited is required, at all times, to hold an aggregate
beneficial ownership (directly or indirectly) of not less than 50% in
the issued share capital of the Company (the “Specific Performance
Obligation”). It will be an event of default if the Specific Performance
Obligation is breached; and in such case, the relevant banks shall
declare the commitments to be cancelled and/or declare all outstanding
amounts together with interests accrued thereon and all other sums
payable by the Company to be immediately due and payable.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the year was the
Company, its parent company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Save and except so far as the provisions of the Bye-law shall be avoided
by any provisions of the Statutes, the Board, President, Vice-president,
Managing Directors, alternate Directors, Secretary and other officers
for the time being of the Company and the trustees (if any) for the time
being acting in relation to any of the affairs of the Company, and their
respective executors or administrators, shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of
them, their or any of their executors or administrators, shall or may incur
or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about
the execution of their duty or supposed duty in their respective offices
or trusts, except such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain through their
own wilful neglect or default, fraud and dishonesty respectively.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liabilities and costs
associated with defending any proceedings which may be brought
against the Directors of the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this report, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Other than as disclosed in this report, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s shares
during the year ended 31st December, 2016.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws although there are no restrictions against such rights under
the laws of Bermuda.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of its Directors, as at the date of this annual report,
there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s
issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year have been audited by Messrs
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. A resolution will be submitted to the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to re-appoint
Messrs Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
Chairman

WANG Chuandong

Hong Kong, 28th March, 2017
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Independent Auditor’s Report

=2

To the Members of
China Resources Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Gas Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 98 to 222,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31st December, 2016, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31st
December, 2016, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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BRETEE Key audit matter
BREEFSEEETPNFAEREE How our audit addressed the key audit matter
&R TS Impairment assessment on goodwill
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We identified the impairment assessment on goodwill as a key
audit matter due to the involvement of significant judgements and
assumptions in estimating the recoverable amount of the cash-
generated units (“CGUs”) to which goodwill has been allocated.

As at 31st December, 2016, the carrying amount of goodwill was
HK$633,286,000. As disclosed in note 20 to the consolidated
financial statements, goodwill acquired in a business combination
was allocated to CGUs that were expected to benefit from that
business combination. The management considered each
subsidiary represented a separate CGU for the purpose of goodwill
impairment testing. The recoverable amounts of the CGUs were
determined based on the value in use calculations which required
the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from
the CGUs and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value.

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment on
goodwill included:

o Obtaining an understanding of the management’s process
and basis used in preparing the cash flow forecasts,
including significant assumptions;

o Assessing the reasonableness of the assumptions including
the growth rates made by the management by comparing
the prior year cash flow projections with the current year
actual cash flows;

o Evaluating the growth rates and discount rates applied in
the forecast by benchmarking them against economic and
industry data;

o Comparing the expected changes in selling prices and
direct costs used against historical performance and the
directors’ strategic plans in respect of each CGU; and

o Evaluating sensitivity analyses prepared by the management
on the growth rates and discount rates to assess the extent
of impact on the value in use.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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Recognition of gas connection income, margins and amounts
due from and to customers for contract works
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We identified the recognition of gas connection income, margins
and related receivables and liabilities as a key audit matter due
to the involvement of a number of judgements in the recognition.

As disclosed in notes 6 and 24 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group recorded gas connection income
amounting to HK$7,438,761,000 for the year ended 31st
December, 2016 and recognised amounts due from customers
for contract work and amounts due to customers for contract
work amounting to HK$1,881,976,000 and HK$11,162,862,000,
respectively as at 31st December, 2016.

Our procedures in relation to the recognition of gas connection
income, margins and amounts due from/to customers for contract
works included:

° Testing the key controls over the approval of construction
contracts for gas connection and the monitoring of stage of
completion and development of gas connection projects;

o Discussing with the management to assess the assumptions
used in the recognition and challenging the management’s
key judgements involved in determining the extent of work;

o Checking the accuracy of the construction progress
reports prepared by project managers on a sample basis
by agreeing the contract sum and budgeted total costs
to respective signed contracts and approved budgets
and checking material costs and labour costs incurred
to purchase invoices and internal payroll records, and
recalculating the percentage of completion based on the
costs incurred and the budgeted total costs; and
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Key audit matter
How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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Revenue from a construction contract for gas connection is
recognised using percentage of completion method, measured
by reference to the costs incurred during the year relative to the
estimated total costs of the contract, which requires the status
of contracts to be assessed on a regular basis. Management of
the Group is required to exercise significant judgements in the
assessment of the extent of progress towards completion of the
contract, valuation of contract variations, the completeness and
accuracy of forecast costs to complete; and the ability to deliver
contracts within forecast timescales. The complexity of the above
assessment process applied in the Group’s recognition policies
on gas connection requires significant judgments and could have
a material impact on the revenue, margins, and amounts due
from/to customers for contract works reported in the consolidated
financial statements.

o Evaluating the historical accuracy of the Group’s percentage
of completion estimates through identifying if there are any
late adjustments on the same contracts across different
years and checking completion of selected contracts
through evidencing delivery of completed contracts.
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BRESEEFTPOMEE How our audit addressed the key audit matter
REERTHI Interests in joint ventures
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We identified interests in joint ventures as a key audit matter
due to the significance of these investments to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements as a whole and the involvement
of judgements in the recognition of connection income which
could affect the amount of interests in joint ventures as at 31st
December, 2016 and share of results of joint ventures for the
year then ended.

The Group’s principal joint ventures were engaged in the
business of sales of liquefied gas and connection of gas
pipes as set out in note 46 to the consolidated financial
statements. As disclosed in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements, the carrying amount of interests in joint ventures
as at 31st December, 2016 and the gas connection income
of the joint ventures for the year ended 31st December, 2016
were HK$9,028,797,000 and HK$3,209,196,000 in aggregate,
respectively.

Due to the involvement of judgements explained in the above
key audit matter entitled “Recognition of gas connection income,
margins and amounts due from/to customers for contract works”,
we considered the recognition of connection income as one of
our focus areas in the component audits of the significant joint
ventures.

Our procedures in relation to the interests in joint ventures
included:

. Obtaining an understanding of the Group’s significant
joint ventures by reading their financial information
and discussing with their respective management and
component audit teams about the financial performance,
significant events occurred during the year and the key
areas of judgement made in preparing their financial
information to identify and assess the risks that are
significant to the audit of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements;

o Evaluating the sufficiency and appropriateness of audit
evidence obtained from work performed by component
audit teams of the significant joint ventures of the Group
by reviewing their audit documentation and discussing the
results of their work with them; and

. Working with component audit teams of the significant joint
ventures to carry out those procedures set out in the above
key audit matter entitled “Recognition of gas connection
income, margins and amounts due from/to customers for
contract works”.
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged with Governance
for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’'s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going

concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, related safeguards.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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Independent Auditor’s Report

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Leung Chui Shan.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
28th March, 2017
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

HIEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

—B-RF —E—AF
2016 2015
B s FBT FAT
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
(&E7)
(Restated)
A Revenue 6 32,916,149 32,834,035
SHERA Cost of sales (21,732,021) (22,835,173)
EF Gross profit 11,184,128 9,998,862
E g A Other income 7 648,334 682,373
HERDHEALZ Selling and distribution expenses (3,413,472) (3,126,233)
THRAZ Administrative expenses (2,463,983) (2,663,447)
5,955,007 4,891,555
B TSR AN Finance costs 8 (538,452) (540,722)
i RN Share of results of joint ventures 653,064 840,428
oy NS Share of results of associates 118,967 120,082
[ %5 AT 5 ) Profit before taxation 9 6,188,586 5,311,343
A Taxation 10 (1,750,778) (1,508,236)
F R F Profit for the year 4,437,808 3,803,107
FREMEEMAY Other comprehensive expense
for the year
BETEEN 7 Item that will not be subsequently
ERHHERHA reclassified to profit or loss
BRERZHNEEEE Exchange differences arising on
BB Z 5 translation to presentation currency (1,020,355) (1,565,831)
BEATREEH 75 Item that may be subsequently
ZEmER reclassified to profit or loss
BREELER Exchange differences arising on
fEREHE translation (1,293,136) =
FRE2AEWALLEE Total comprehensive income for the year 2,124,317 2,237,276
AT ALTEIEERER Profit for the year attributable to:
FiN/NEIE 2= N Owners of the Company 3,289,399 2,837,910
eI M 2 Non-controlling interests 1,148,409 965,197
4,437,808 3,803,107
IATALTEEEAN Total comprehensive income for the year
ZEIRALBEE attributable to:
FiN/NCTE 2= DN Owners of the Company 1,533,442 1,573,301
FEPE R Non-controlling interests 590,875 663,975
2,124,317 2,237,276
BT BT
HK$ HK$
GRRAF Earnings per share 13
B YN Basic 1.51 1.30

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RZE—RF+=-A=+—H At 31st December, 2016
ZEB-RF —ZE—AfF
2016 2015
Bt e FHET FAT
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
ERBEE Non-current assets
W% - BERZE Property, plant and equipment 14 24,058,871 22,717,164
TERHEARIE Prepaid lease payments 15 1,522,489 1,455,967
BEME Investment properties 16 41,640 39,855
RN Interests in joint ventures 17 9,028,797 9,993,948
KB AN Rl Interests in associates 18 1,863,017 1,952,824
A ERE Available-for-sale investments 19 63,983 59,805
EES Goodwill 20 633,286 676,169
R Operating rights 21 1,246,839 1,298,374
EEFIEE = Deferred tax assets 32 209,637 190,323
LEERS Deposits for operating rights 1,859 20,641
FERBOFIAERS Deposits for prepaid lease payments 74,757 65,460
HBEWME  BERX Deposits for property, plant and
HERE equipment 274,443 344,107
KERS Deposits for investments 684,732 731,098
39,704,350 39,545,735
mENE E Current assets
ER{ Inventories 22 413,426 570,516
FEUE 5 B 30 B E At fE U X Trade and other receivables 23 8,020,647 7,368,988
R EP&HTIE Amounts due from customers for
IR contract works 24 1,881,976 1,534,776
A ALRIE Prepaid lease payments 15 82,837 74,683
BEEIPIRITFR Pledged bank deposits 25 46,581 50,702
HibFR Other deposits 26(a) 4,024,548 =
RITHBRIA S Bank balances and cash 26(b) 5,500,753 10,750,872
19,970,768 20,350,537
mENaE Current liabilities
e E 5 8RR K A S 5K Trade and other payables 27 10,574,023 12,441,037
ERNEP&HIE Amounts due to customers for
KIE contract works 24 11,162,862 8,168,338
BT B & Government grants 28 44,782 24,490
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings 29 3,139,480 4,219,798
FERTFRIE Taxation payable 495,191 569,771
25,416,338 25,423,434
REBAEFE Net current liabilities (5,445,570) (5,072,897)
34,258,780 34,472,838
EBRRIZERERAE T—NFFR
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

R-E—RE+-_A=+—8H At 31st December, 2016
—E-XRE —E—RF
2016 2015
b= FHExT FHET
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
BAR N HE Capital and reserves
RN Share capital 33 222,401 222,401
Ed Reserves 17,545,842 16,786,958
ZAN/NEIEZ SN Equity attributable to owners of
FE(R R AN the Company 17,768,243 17,009,359
FEEIR R Non-controlling interests 5,936,550 5,477,647
23,704,793 22,487,006
ERBAE Non-current liabilities
BRITf B & Government grants 28 133,548 104,489
RITREMEER Bank and other borrowings 29 3,301,844 4,970,773
BRER Senior notes 30 5,726,370 5,708,620
HEtRHAE Other long-term liabilities 31 187,743 189,772
EEFIEAE Deferred tax liabilities 32 1,204,482 1,012,178
10,553,987 11,985,832
34,258,780 34,472,838

FOI8E222H VIR HERLHEFERN
—E—tF=Z A=+ /\ B RIRET
WHTIATRERESTSEHE :

The consolidated financial statements on pages 98 to 222 were approved

and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28th March, 2017

and are signed on its behalf by:

FER
WANG CHUANDONG
EF
DIRECTOR
Y1
CHAIRMAN

AER
SHI SHANBO
EE
DIRECTOR
ABE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

RNETZAS AL

A

BE—

For the year ended 31st December, 2016

ALAREARY
Attributable to owners of the Company

ARRE
KRR

Shares

held for FERER
Re BREEE £AB8 EXBE ENRE e HEEE AOEE REE Non- BAAE
Share Share Contributed ~ Capital Translation award Other ~ Merger  Retained A3t controling  Total
capital  premium  surplus  reserve  reserve  scheme  reserves  reserve profits Total interests  equity
Thn  TEn  TEr  TEr  TAr  TEr  TEr TR TR TEn  TEn A
HKS000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000

(M) (k) (k) (Mikd)
(Notea) ~ (Note b) (Notec)  (Note d)

R-%-1%-f-H At 1st January, 2015 222401 6378643 7,388,600 053 1380434 (179.212) 13475652 (8727518) 8222933 16063368 5064551 21,127,919
ERgH Profit for the year - - - - - - - - 2837910 2837910 965197 3,803,107
ENREELH Exchange differences arising on
EXZER iranslation and other
Lh2ERY comprehensive expense for the year - - - - (1,264,600) - - - - (1,264609)  (301,222) (1,565,831)
ER2E (F%) Total comprehensive (expense)
AR income for the year - - - - (1,264,609) - - - 2837910 1573301 663975 2237276
FhERTE Capital contribution from

non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - - 218356 278356
KEHBAR Acquisiton of a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - 5400 51400
HEBRBHE R Disposal of shares held for incentive

award scheme - - - - - 475 - - 03 25,082 - 2508
Bfifke (Hit12) Dividends paid (note 12) - - - - - - - - (652392) (652,392 - (65239
ERHBATESRERRS  Dividends paid to non-contoling

interests of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - (580,635) (580,635)
.71 Transfer - - - - - - 41010 - (421010) - - -
R-F-15+-A=1-A At 31st December, 2015 222401 6378643 7,388,600 2053 124825  (174.457) 1768562 (8,727,518) 10,007,768 17,009,359 5477647 22,487,006
ERgH Profit for the year - - - - - - - - 3200399 3289399 1148409 4437808
EhEEELY Exchange differences arising on
EAZER iranslafion and other comprehensive
Lp2ERR expense for the year = 5 = - (1,755,957 - = = - (1755,057)  (557534) (2:313.491)
FR2E (F%) Total comprehensive (expense)
WALE income for the year - - - - (1,755,957) - - - 3200399 1533442 590,875 2124317
FERERTE Capital contribution from

non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - - 119403 119403
KEHERT Acquistion of a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - 39693 329693
HEBREHE Disposal of shares held for
KELRR incentive award scheme - - - - -8 - - M0B R - R
BHRE (H:kt2) Dividends paid (note 12) - - - - - - - - (326860)  (826360) - (626,860)
BRHEAR Dividends paid to non-controling
FERELRS interests of subsiclaries - - - - - - - - = - (581,068) (581,068
2 Transfer - - - - - - 3012 - (30121) - - -
W51 -A=1-R At 31st December, 2016 222401 6378643 7,388,600 2053 (1631,132)  (166,250) 2,088,683 (8,727,518) 12,194,281 17,768,243 59365550 23,704,793
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For the year ended 31st December, 2016

Notes:

Pursuant to the approval of a special resolution at the special general
meeting of the Company on 30th May, 2011, the amount of HK$7,388,600,000
standing to the credit of share premium has been reduced and transferred
to the contributed surplus. The contributed surplus is a distributable reserve
and will be used for payment of dividends and for such other purposes as
allowed by the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

Capital reserve arose from (i) discount on acquisition of joint ventures from
an intermediate holding company and fellow subsidiaries of the Group
in prior years; and (ii) the difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the consideration paid for the
acquisition of additional interest in subsidiaries.

Other reserves comprise general reserve, statutory surplus reserve,
enterprise expansion fund, statutory public welfare fund and discretionary
surplus reserve of subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”), and the change in net assets attributable to the Group in relation
to the increase in ownership interests in subsidiaries through cash injection.

General reserve is appropriated each year on the basis of 5% to 10% of the
profit after taxation of certain subsidiaries as determined by their board of
directors in accordance with the Articles of Association of the subsidiaries.
This reserve should only be used for making up losses, capitalisation into
capital and expansion of production and operation.

Merger reserve represented the difference between (i) the cash consideration
paid, deemed distribution to a fellow subsidiary and shares issued by the
Company; and (ii) the amount of issued capital and premium of the combined
entities under group reorganisations.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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HMERERER
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31st December, 2016

—E—XRE —ZT—AF
2016 2015
FERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
mE K OPERATING ACTIVITIES
R 5 A Profit before taxation 6,188,586 5,311,343
RE Adjustments for:
FEZH Interest expense 538,452 540,722
AISNL@N Interest income (232,723) (252,766)
ERERBITRES Government grants recognised (48,869) (37,238)
R NGIE 34 Share of results of joint ventures (653,064) (840,428)
EIEEEE R RIEAE Share of results of associates (118,967) (120,082)
HEME - BER Loss on disposal of property,
e plant and equipment 17,345 6,090
HEBNHEOKEEIE Loss on disposal of prepaid lease payments 774 1,061
B E 5 R FUREE R Impairment loss on trade receivables 23,529 28,163
ME - BERRETE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,221,032 980,687
BRBR B X FRIE Release of prepaid lease payments 74,937 72,696
REMERE Depreciation of investment properties 2,921 3,371
AP Amortisation of operating rights 64,125 60,132
LEESEHHM Operating cash flows before movements in

KRERGRE working capital 7,078,078 5,753,751
FERL Decrease in inventories 183,684 32,987
JEULE 5 BR T N H b JEUZ ZNIE AN Increase in trade and other receivables (235,683) (688,049)
EREFEA# IR Increase in amounts due from customers for

FRIAIE AN contract works (465,022) (36,936)
BB SRR K (Decrease) increase in trade and other payables

H AR Ot ) 30 (1,216,131) 488,743
ENREA4TIE Increase in amounts due to customers for

FRIALE AN contract works 3,674,437 1,433,253
MEEBEENRE Cash generated from operations 9,019,363 6,983,749
Bt R B EMER PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid (1,654,417) (1,293,694)
FEF 3 9 R ] NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 7,364,946 5,690,055
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BE_Z—"F+-_A=1+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016
—E-RE —T—hHF
2016 2015
B 5 FHET FHT
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
REFEH INVESTING ACTIVITIES
B[] B 4t 77 3K Proceeds from redemption of
Fri3 k18 other deposits 33,387,739 9,888,794
A E RN TR E Dividend received from joint ventures 502,906 348,393
B U F 8 Interest received 234,145 268,661
HEWE - BE & Proceeds from disposal of property,
RIEFTISROR plant and equipment 171,184 126,952
BWEEEFBEN Government grants received related
BB & to assets 108,574 58,057
[BAL NI Dividend received from associates 79,138 69,266
WEEHT B A A Acquisition of subsidiaries 36 46,202 103,067
EREEARITER Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits 43,535 15,553
HEFB A FRIE Proceeds from disposal of
FR5 578 prepaid lease payments 28,492 4,272
A IR S Repayment from non-controlling
B3R interests 3,196 18,057
FIRE M7 5K Placement of other deposits (37,597,759) (7,771,546)
BEMX BER Payments for acquisition of property,
BTN EA plant and equipment (3,263,391) (3,523,267)
BEVX BER Deposits for property, plant and
BiERe equipment (287,091) (172,776)
S ASFER L KIE Prepaid lease payments made (176,265) (262,653)
FERBOFIAEES Deposits for prepaid lease payments (78,202) (65,460)
EERET IR Payments for operating rights (51,018) (37,052)
BAEFEWKENEAR Payments for acquisition of subsidiaries
OENEA in prior years (46,945) (96,048)
FEHREERRITFER Placement of pledged bank deposits (42,588) (3,625)
W B Payments for acquisition of investment
EOENEA properties (6,961) =
WEEAHEERE Payments for acquisition of
EOENEA available-for-sale investments (1,867) (11,099)
REE QA RINIEE Investment in associates (1,124) (31,367)
o REERR R BE R Repayment from an intermediate
holding company - 2,592,146
GELNEYNGEEN Repayment from a fellow subsidiary - 700,000
A AR A A Advance to an intermediate holding
R company - (1,917,978)
RERESIEM Increase in deposits for investments - (659,481)
REERRINEE Investment in joint ventures - (403,805)
Rz Deposits for operating rights - (20,641)
REEBFTA NET CASH USED IN
BeTE INVESTING ACTIVITIES (6,948,100) (783,580)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31st December, 2016

—E—XRE —ZT—AF
2016 2015
FERT FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
mEEK FINANCING ACTIVITIES
FBIRITREMEE New bank and other borrowings raised 2,514,567 1,282,081
M A R FEIE R s T & Contribution from non-controlling interests of
subsidiaries 119,403 278,356
HEAEREREZ Proceeds from disposal of shares held for
B& 15 FTiS 38 incentive award scheme 52,302 25,082
PELEINGIES 2 e 5 Advance from non-controlling interests of
HE subsidiaries 26,116 97,415
ERRITREMEE Repayments of bank and other borrowings (5,186,052) (1,279,077)
BRARE Dividends paid (826,860) (652,392)
A1a &R RIER Repayment to joint ventures (826,463) (26,607)
BB AR EERERRE Dividends paid to non-controlling interests
of subsidiaries (581,068) (580,635)
EAE Interest paid (523,736) (524,190)
MEXBARSTFHE NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES (5,231,791) (1,379,967)
RERBELEHE NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND
(R EmFeE CASH EQUIVALENTS (4,814,945) 3,526,508
FUHEER CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
ReEE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 10,750,872 7,552,519
IEEZSE EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE
e e CHANGES (435,174) (328,155)
FRESRBESEE CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF
BRTHEBRES THE YEAR, REPRESENTED BY
BANK BALANCES AND CASH 5,500,753 10,750,872
EBPRRIERERAET —ZT—FFk
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For the year ended 31st December, 2016

GENERAL

The Company is a listed public company incorporated in Bermuda
as an exempted company with limited liability and its shares are
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The Company’s intermediate parent company is China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited (*CRH”), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong and its ultimate holding company is
China Resources National Corp. (“CRNC”), a company established
in the PRC which is owned and controlled by the PRC government.
The addresses of registered office and principal place of business
of the Company are disclosed in the Corporate Information to the
annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of
its principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are set out
in notes 45, 46 and 47 respectively.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (*HKD”) as the Company is a public company with
its shares listed on the Stock Exchange in Hong Kong where
most of its investors are located and therefore, the directors of
the Company consider that HKD is preferable in presenting the
operating result and financial position of the Group.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company have given careful consideration to the future liquidity
of the Group in light of the fact that the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by HK$5,445,570,000, and the Group
has commitments of HK$133,584,000 as at 31st December, 2016.
As at 31st December, 2016, the Group has bank and other
borrowings totalling HK$6,441,324,000 of which HK$3,139,480,000
was classified as current liabilities. The directors of the Company
are of the opinion that there are good track records and relationship
with banks which would enhance the Group’s ability on renewing
the borrowing facilities.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that, taking into
account of the unutilised banking facilities and the internally
generated funds of the Group and the other factors described
above, the Group has sufficient working capital for its present
requirements for the next twelve months from 31st December,
2016. Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis.
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs

issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants

(the “HKICPA”) for the first time in the current year.

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual improvements to HKFRSs
2012 — 2014 cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28

Investment entities: Applying the
consolidation exception

Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for acquisition of

interests in joint operations
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure initiative
Amendments to HKAS 16

and HKAS 38

Clarification of acceptable
methods of depreciation and
amortisation

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 41

Agriculture: Bearer plants

The application of the above amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
performance and position and/or disclosures set out in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2016

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments

to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective.

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 15

HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKFRS 4

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 7

Amendments to HKAS 12

Financial instruments’

Revenue from contracts with
customers and the related
amendments'’

Leases?®

Annual improvements to HKFRSs
2014-2016 cycle®

Classification and measurement of
share-based payment
transactions'’

Applying HKFRS 9 “Financial
instruments” with HKFRS 4
“Insurance contracts”’

Sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and
its associate or joint venture*
Disclosure initiative?

Recognition of deferred tax assets
for unrealised losses?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2018.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2017.

s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2019.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2017

or 1st January, 2018, as appropriate.
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments”

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and
measurement of financial assets, financial liabilities, general hedge
amounting and impairment requirements for financial assets.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 that are relevant to the Group are
described below:

. All recognised financial assets that are within the scope
of HKFRS 9 are required to be subsequently measured at
amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments
that are held within a business model whose objective is to
collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal outstanding are generally measured at
amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods.
Debt instruments that are held within a business model whose
objective is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows
and selling financial assets, and that have contractual terms
that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding, are generally measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income. All other debt investments and
equity investments are measured at their fair value at the
end of subsequent accounting periods. In addition, under
HKFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable election to present
subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity investment
(that is not held for trading) in other comprehensive income,
with only dividend income generally recognised in profit or
loss.

o In relation to the impairment of financial assets, HKFRS
9 requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed to
an incurred credit loss model under HKAS 39 “Financial
instruments: Recognition and measurement”. The expected
credit loss model requires an entity to account for expected
credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition. In other words, it is no longer necessary
for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are
recognised.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2016

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments” (Continued)

Application of HKFRS 9 in the future may have a material impact
on the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial
assets. The Group’s available-for-sale investments, including those
currently stated at cost less impairment, will either be measured
as fair value through profit or loss or be designated as fair value
through other comprehensive income (subject to fulfillment of the
designation criteria). In addition, the expected credit loss model
may result in early provision of credit losses which are not yet
incurred in relation to the Group’s financial assets measured at
amortised cost.

It should be noted that the above assessments were made based
on an analysis of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities as at 31st December, 2016 on the basis of the facts and
circumstances that existed at that date. As facts and circumstances
may change during the period leading up to the initial date of
application of HKFRS 9, which is expected to be 1st January,
2018 as the Group does not intend to early apply the standard, the
assessment of the potential impact is subject to change.

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with customers”

HKFRS 15 was issued which established a single comprehensive
model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from
contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will supersede the current
revenue recognition guidance including HKAS 18 “Revenue”, HKAS
11 “Construction contracts” and the related interpretations when
it becomes effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which
the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services. Specifically, the standard introduces a 5-step approach
to revenue recognition:

° Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer
. Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
o Step 3: Determine the transaction price

. Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

° Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a
performance obligation

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with customers” (Continued)

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the
goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation
is transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive guidance
has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios.
Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 15.

In 2016, the HKICPA issued clarifications to HKFRS 15 in relation
to the identification of performance obligations, principal versus
agent considerations, as well as licensing application guidance.

The Group has performed a review of the existing contractual
arrangement with its customers and the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of HKFRS 15 in the future may
result in more disclosures but will not have a material impact on
the timing and amounts of revenue recognised in the respective
reporting periods.

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification
of lease arrangements and accounting treatments for both lessors
and lessees. HKFRS 16 will supersede HKAS 17 “Leases” and the
related interpretations when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the basis of
whether an identified asset is controlled by a customer. Distinctions
of operating leases and finance leases are removed for lessee
accounting, and is replaced by a model where a right-of-use asset
and a corresponding liability have to be recognised for all leases
by lessees, except for short-term leases and leases of low value
assets.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2016

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions)
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted
for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease liability
is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments
that are not paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is
adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of
lease modifications, amongst others. For the classification of cash
flows, the Group currently presents upfront prepaid lease payments
as investing cash flows in relation to leasehold lands for owned
use and those classified as investment properties while other
operating lease payments are presented as operating cash flows.
Under the HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation to lease liability
will be allocated into a principal and an interest portion which will
be presented as financing cash flows.

Under HKAS 17, the Group has already recognised an asset and
a related finance lease liability for finance lease arrangement and
prepaid lease payments for leasehold lands where the Group is
a lessee. The application of HKFRS 16 may result in potential
changes in classification of these assets depending on whether the
Group presents right-of-use assets separately or within the same
line item at which the corresponding underlying assets would be
presented if they were owned.

In contrast to lessee accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially carries
forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS 17, and
continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either as an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

As at 31st December, 2016, the Group as lessee has
non-cancellable operating lease commitments of HK$170,648,000
as disclosed in note 37. A preliminary assessment indicates that
these arrangements will meet the definition of a lease under HKFRS
16, and hence the Group will recognise a right-of-use asset and
a corresponding liability in respect of all these leases unless they
qualify for low value or short-term leases upon the application
of HKFRS 16. In addition, the application of new requirements
may result changes in measurement, presentation and disclosure
as indicated above. However, it is not practicable to provide
a reasonable estimate of the financial effect until the directors
complete a detailed review.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments which
are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based payment”, leasing transactions
that are within the scope of HKAS 17, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS
36 “Impairment of assets”.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of
an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights
are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the
Group’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power,
including:

o the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the
size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

o potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders
or other parties;

o rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

o the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time

that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at
previous shareholders’ meetings.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2016

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

POLICIES

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of
the Group’s relevant components of equity including reserves and
the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in
their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between
the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted after
re-attribution of the relevant equity component, and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses that are not combinations of business
under common control are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of
the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS
12 “Income taxes” and HKAS 19 “Employee benefits”
respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 at the acquisition
date; and

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale
in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current assets held for sale
and discontinued operations” are measured in accordance
with that standard.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2016

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
(Continued)

POLICIES

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount
of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed
as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest
in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in
profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially
measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made
on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling
interests are measured at their fair value.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of
cash-generating units) that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, which represent the lowest level at
which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes
and not larger than an operating segment.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or
more frequently whenever there is indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting
period, the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill, and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group
of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or a joint venture,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination
of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate and a joint venture is described below.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2016

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

POLICIES

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures
are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
associates and joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes
are prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the
Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.
Under the equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint
venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate or joint venture. When the Group’s share of losses
of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in
that associate or joint venture, the Group discontinues recognising
its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only
to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint
venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in
the period in which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to
the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint venture. When
necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36
as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted for
as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When the Group
retains an interest in the former associate or joint venture and the
retained interest is a financial asset within the scope of HKAS 39,
the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date
and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition.
The difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture and the fair value of any retained interest and any
proceeds from disposing the relevant interest in the associate
or joint venture is included in the determination of the gain or
loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition,
the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint
venture on the same basis as would be required if that associate
or joint venture had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that associate or joint venture would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets
or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to
profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity
method is discontinued.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment
in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or
an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an
associate. There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such
changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or
a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method,
the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or
loss that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain
or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests
in the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods sold
and services provided in the normal course of business, net of
discounts and taxes.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be reliably
measured; when it is probable that future economic benefits will
flow to the Group and when specific criteria have been met for
each of the Group’s activities, as described below.

Revenue from a construction contract for gas connection is
recognised when the outcome of the construction contract for gas
connection can be estimated reliably and the stage of completion
at the end of reporting period can be measured reliably. Revenue
from and expenses on construction contracts for gas connection
are recognised using the percentage of completion method,
measured by reference to the costs incurred during the year
relative to the estimated total costs of the contract. When the
outcome of a construction contract for gas connection cannot
be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent of
contract cost incurred that is probable to be recoverable.

Revenue from gas supply is recognised when gas is used by
customers.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when goods are
delivered and title has passed.

Service income is recognised when services are provided.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable,
which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the

shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established.

The Group’s accounting policy for recognition of revenue from
operating leases is described in the accounting policy for leasing
below.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold properties
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or
for administrative purposes (other than construction in progress)
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and equipment in
the course of construction for production or for own use purposes.
Construction in progress is carried at cost less any recognised
impairment loss. Construction in progress is classified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these
assets, on the same basis as other property assets commences
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment other than construction in progress
over their estimated useful lives and after taking into account their
estimated residual values, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2016

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
(Continued)

Leasehold land and buildings under development for future

POLICIES

owner-occupied purpose

When the leasehold land and buildings are in the course of
development for production or for administrative purposes, the
leasehold land component classified as an operating lease
is classified as a prepaid lease payment and amortised on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. During the construction
period, the amortisation charge provided for the leasehold land
is included as part of costs of buildings under construction.
Buildings under construction are carried at cost, less any identified
impairment losses and are classified as property, plant and
equipment. Depreciation of buildings commences when they are
available for use (i.e. when they are in the location and condition
necessary for them to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management).

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of investment
properties over their estimated useful lives and after taking into
account their estimated residual values, using the straight-line
method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period
in which the item is derecognised.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016



TESTHER (&)

BESH

il — IR R IEBIRE A R B REER]
SHAERNBERRENTREET
PRERBEF SEMETE - HWMARKAT)
2ERBEFRNEHTRT TR
BR WRESEXRBIREANS
RIRAME THFT AR KR AL IEHE ©

EMRERRESNNBERTME
HAER - AR AEE S HHER
RRAX - BERHKANBEA AL
BN - BB RS
F o

{3 5 FTE £ K& £ AR 1 B R0
AR B 7 R B 1R R A E OB - R
HED IR EP A TIZHIA -
i E FIRMBHE S FFEEMA LK
O E R RS C RERE 1R - RIER
HEBAIERN TP AL TEKA -
ASERK B B T2 AT Y ER B IR - TYET
ABZEMBRAARSAEFT AR
Mo RITIRTHBEHREEZPHA
SATHIRIRRIG A SR & BB AR R Y
FEWE PR R AR A FIRT »

BILEE

BIVEE~RENTEERMINEEHE -

BRI EE

BIWBERAIERFHARNETLE
EFR AN R R AT 35 S A7) REHRE
BRI - A AEMERNETE
EREE TR FRARREE -

e SRR M AT
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_Z—FRF+-_A=4  IFFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Construction contracts

When the outcome of a construction contract for gas connection
can be estimated reliably and the stage of contract completion at
the end of the reporting period can be measured reliably, revenue
and costs are recognised by reference to the stage of completion
of the contract activity at the end of the reporting period, measured
based on the proportion that contract costs incurred for work
performed to date relative to the estimated total contract costs.

When the outcome of a construction contract for gas connection
cannot be estimated reliably, contract costs are recognised as
an expense in the period in which they are incurred. When it is
probable that total contracts costs will exceed contract revenue,
the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is shown
as amounts due from customers for contract work. For contracts
where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date
plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is
shown as amounts due to customers for contract work. Amounts
received before the related work is performed are included in
the consolidated statement of financial position, as a liability, as
advances received. Amounts billed for work performed but not yet
paid by the customer are included in the consolidated statement
of financial position under trade and other receivables.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets refer to the operating rights for city pipeline
network.

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful lives
are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is provided on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2016

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
(Continued)

POLICIES

Intangible assets (Continued)
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as
their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are reported at costs
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued
use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset is measured as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
is recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset is
derecognised.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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BE-_Z—FRF+-_A=4  IFFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the
three categories, including financial assets at FVTPL, loans
and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets. The
classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial
assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and allocating interest income
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the asset on initial
recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments.

Financial assets at FVTPL

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may
be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

° such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

o the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets
or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with the Group’s documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is provided
internally on that basis; or

o it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded

derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the entire combined
contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at FVTPL.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
(Continued)

POLICIES

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or
losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit or loss. The
net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend
or interest earned on the financial assets. Fair value is determined
in the manner described in note 43(c).

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables
(including trade and other receivables, pledged bank deposits and
bank balances and cash) are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less any impairment (see accounting
policy on impairment loss on financial assets below).

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are
either designated or are not classified as financial assets at FVTPL,
loans and receivables, or held-to-maturity investments.

Equity securities held by the Group that are classified as
available-for-sale financial assets and are traded in an active
market are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Changes in the carrying amount of available-for-sale
financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated under the heading of investment revaluation reserve.
Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised
in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the dividends is
established. When the investment is disposed of or is determined
to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated
in the investments revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or
loss (see the accounting policy in respect of impairment loss on
financial assets below).

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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BE-_Z—FRF+-_A=4  IFFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets (Continued)

Available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted
market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot
be reliably measured are measured at cost less any identified
impairment losses at the end of each reporting period (see the
accounting policy in respect of impairment loss on financial assets
below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at the end of the reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired where there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been
affected.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment below its
cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

o breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments; or

o it becomes probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables,
assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are, in
addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective
evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include
the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in
the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average
credit period, as well as observable changes in national or local
economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
(Continued)

POLICIES

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate.

For investments in equity securities that are carried at cost, the
amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of
return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be
reversed in subsequent periods. For investment in equity securities
carried at fair value, any increase in fair value subsequent to
impairment loss is recognised directly in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in investment revaluation reserve.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception
of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through
the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable is
considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account
are recognised in profit and loss. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

When an available-for-sale financial asset is considered to be
impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in
the period.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent
period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is reversed through profit and loss to the extent that the
carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have
been had the impairment not been recognised.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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BE-_Z—FRF+-_A=4  IFFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities, including trade and other payables, bank and
other borrowings, senior notes and other long-term liabilities, are
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method
subsequent to initial recognition.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts are
treated as separate derivatives when they meet the definition of a
derivative, their risks and characteristics are not closely related to
those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not measured
at FVTPL. Generally, multiple embedded derivatives in a single
instrument are treated as a single compound embedded derivative
unless those derivatives relate to different risk exposures and are
readily separable and independent of each other.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
(Continued)

POLICIES

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or
loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liability when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

As lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
a straight-line basis over the relevant lease term.

As lessee

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring land
held for operating leases, are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the relevant lease term. Benefits received
and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are
recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term
on a straight-line basis.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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BE-_Z—FRF+-_A=4  IFFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)
Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the Group
assesses the classification of each element as a finance or an
operating lease separately based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
each element have been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear
that both elements are operating leases in which case the entire
lease is classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the minimum
lease payments (including any lump-sum upfront payments) are
allocated between the land and the building elements in proportion
to the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land
element and building element of the lease at the inception of the
lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in
the consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised
over the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the lease
payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land and
building elements, the entire lease is generally classified as a
finance lease and accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the costs of those assets until such time as
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is

deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2016

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
(Continued)

POLICIES

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans/
state-managed retirement benefit schemes/the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or
permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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BE-_Z—FRF+-_A=4  IFFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
when it relates to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from
the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2016

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
(Continued)

POLICIES

Foreign currencies

ltems included in the financial statements of the each of the group
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”).
The consolidated financial statements are presented in HKD, which
is the Company'’s functional currency and the Group’s presentation
currency.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency
of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a
foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely
to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign
operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive
income and are reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal
or partial disposal of the Group’s interests.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the group entities are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of translation reserve.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_Z—FRF+-_A=4  IFFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The functional currency of a group entity is changed only if there
is a change to the underlying transactions, events and conditions
relevant to the group entity. The group entity applies the translation
procedures applicable to the new functional currency prospectively
from the date of the change. At the date of the change, the group
entity translates all items into the new functional currency using the
prevailing exchange rate at that date and the resulting translated
amounts for non-monetary items are treated as their historical cost.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on or after 1st
January, 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign
operation and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the
end of the reporting period. Exchange differences arising are
recognised in the translation reserve.

Impairment losses of tangible and intangible assets other than
goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2016

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
(Continued)

POLICIES

Impairment losses of tangible and intangible assets other than
goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An
impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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BE-_ZT—R"F+-A=+  IFFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Government grants related to depreciable assets are recognised as
deferred income in the consolidated statement of financial position
and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis
over the useful lives of the related assets. Other government grants
are recognised as revenue over the periods necessary to match
them with the costs for which they are intended to compensate,
on a systematic basis. Government grants that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.

Long term award scheme

The cost of acquisition of the Company’s shares pursuant to the
long term award scheme is recorded as shares held for incentive
award scheme. The shares held for incentive award scheme will
be disposed of for cash which will be distributed to the eligible
employees.

When the shares held for long term award scheme are disposed
of and the resulting proceeds from disposal are distributed
to the employees, the proceeds distributed to employees are
recognised as expenses (staff costs), and the difference between
the consideration received and the cost of the shares will be
credited to retained profits.
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5.

For the year ended 31st December, 2016

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The followings are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors have made in
the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Control over EBEEMRAER A &

EBERNRAAER AR is subsidiary of the Group although the
Group has only 50% ownership interest and voting rights in & P&
R AR AR]. The Group has the 50% ownership interest since
June 2006 on EEEBEMAEMRAR and the remaining 50% of
equity interest is owned by a shareholder that is unrelated to the
Group. Details of these are set out in note 45.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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R RE+ZA=T—HILEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (Continued)

Control over E/EE B KR E R 2 7 (Continued)

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the Group
has control over E5EMMRABMR AR based on whether the
Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of
ESEBMRA AR AR unilaterally. In making their judgement, the
directors considered the Group’s voting power of shareholding in
BBEBRABRAA). The board of directors of & EBERRER
‘A A comprise 7 directors. The Group nominated and appointed 4
directors in EFSEBERRER A and the relevant activities of &
P EE B R A R AR require over 50% of directors’ approval. After
assessment, the directors concluded that the Group has sufficiently
dominant voting interest to direct the relevant activities of = k5%
HIRR AR AR and therefore the Group has control over E[Z%EE
HREARAT.

Control over BHEZFMRER AL 7, BEZFHMRERL 7 and &
STEBMAER A A (the “PRC Entities”)

The PRC Entities are subsidiaries of the Group although the Group
has only 50% or 51% ownership interests and voting rights in the
PRC Entities and the remaining equity interests of the PRC Entities
are owned by shareholders that are unrelated to the Group. Details
of these are set out in note 45.
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5.

For the year ended 31st December, 2016

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (Continued)

Control over ZEHEFRRER L &, BFEZFHREMREA ] and #H
STE MR ERZA 7 (the “PRC Entities”) (Continued)

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the Group
has control over the PRC Entities based on whether the Group
has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the
PRC Entities unilaterally. In making their judgement, the directors
considered the Group’s voting power of shareholding in the PRC
Entities. The shareholders of the PRC Entities signed memorandums
in which the other shareholders would agree the Group’s decisions
on operating, investing and financing activities of the PRC Entities,
and the other shareholders would agree the appointment of all
senior management of the PRC Entities nominated by the Group.
After assessment, the directors concluded that the Group has
sufficiently dominant voting interest to direct the relevant activities
of the PRC Entities and therefore the Group has control over the
PRC Entities.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets within the next
financial year.

Estimation of useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Management estimates the useful lives of property, plant and
equipment based on the expected lifespan of those property, plant
and equipment. The useful lives of property, plant and equipment
could change significantly as a result of technical innovation. When
the actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment due to the
change of commercial and technological environment are different
from their estimated useful lives, such difference will impact the
depreciation charges and the amounts of assets written down for
future periods.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment at 31st
December, 2016 is HK$24,058,871,000 (2015: HK$22,717,164,000).
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BE-_ZT—R"F+-A=+  IFFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016
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FE 1 570,516,000/ 7)) °

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units to which
goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher of the value in use
or fair value less costs of disposal. The value in use calculation
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value. Where the actual
future cash flows are less than expected, or changes in facts
and circumstances which results in downward revision of future
cash, a material impairment loss may arise. As at 31st December,
2016, the carrying amount of goodwill is HK$633,286,000 (2015:
HK$676,169,000). Details of the recoverable amount calculation
are disclosed in note 20.

Revenue recognition of gas connection contract

Construction revenue from gas connection contracts is recognised
on the percentage of completion method, measured by reference to
the proportion of the contract costs incurred for the work performed
to date over the estimated total contract costs. Accordingly, any
changes to the estimated total contract cost may have material
impact on the contract revenue recognised in each accounting
period over the contract term.

Allowance for inventories

The Group makes allowance for inventories based on an assessment
of the net realisable value of inventories. Allowances are applied to
inventories where events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the net realisable value is lower than the cost of inventories. The
identification of obsolete inventories requires the use of judgment
and estimates on the conditions and usefulness of the inventories.
In cases where the net realisable value of inventories assessed
are less than expected, a material recognition of allowance for
inventories may arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which such recognition takes place.

At 31st December, 2016, the carrying amount of inventories is
HK$413,426,000 (2015: HK$570,516,000).

EMRARRERAT —T A EEH
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For the year ended 31st December, 2016

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company,
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on types of goods or services delivered or provided.

The Group’s operating segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

(i)  Sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products — sale of
natural gas and to a much lesser extent, liquefied petroleum
gas for residential, commercial and industrial use

(i) Gas connection — construction of gas pipelines networks
under gas connection contracts

(iii) Sale of gas appliances — sale of gas appliances and related
products

(iv) Design and construction services — design, construction,
consultancy and management for gas connection projects

(v) Gas stations — sale of gas fuel in natural gas filling stations

In prior years, the chief operating decision maker assessed
the Group’s businesses by two operating segments: (a) sale
and distribution of gas fuel and related products and (b) gas
connection. During the six months ended 30th June, 2016, the
chief operating decision maker has reassessed and restructured
its businesses into (i) sale and distribution of gas fuel and related
products; (ii) gas connection; (iii) sale of gas appliances; and (iv)
design and construction services. In the second half of 2016, an
additional operating segment of (v) gas stations was identified.
This new segment reporting is used by management to analyse its
business performance.

Segment results represent the profit before taxation earned by
each segment, excluding sundry income, interest income, rental
income, finance costs, depreciation of investment properties,

central administrative costs and directors’ salaries.
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S
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DR DREE DBRBEERS
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BE—Z— A F+-A=t—-HILEE
VgL e E S

T RE+ZA=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

The information of segment revenue, segment results, segment

assets and segment liabilities are as follows:

For the year ended 31st December, 2016

Segment revenue and results

HERD#
RERBR
HEER
Sale and HE Rt R
distribution REEL ERBH
of gas fuel REER Sale of  Design and MG
and related Gas gas construction Gas fit
products  connection  appliances services stations Total
TEn Thn Thn ThEn ThEn FEn
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$000
Wi Revenue
4N External sales 20,765,144 7,438,761 268,877 1,336,892 3,106,475 32,916,149
E7 Results
DR Segment results 2,810,282 3,588,493 42,130 173,485 616,743 7,231,133
EEAENRIEE Share of results of joint ventures 653,064
EEBENAEE Share of results of associates 118,967
BIRERR Finance costs (538,452)
RATMA Unallocated income 473,032
AOEFX Unallocated expenses (1,749,158)
BHRART Profit before taxation 6,188,586
EHRIERERLT T FF®
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BHE-_T—R"F+-A=1+—"HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

6. WERSEER (&) 6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
BE-Z-—RE+-A=+—HLEE For the year ended 31st December, 2016 (Continued)
(%)
PHEEEREE Segment assets and liabilities
HERAH
RERHR
RBER
Sale and HE Rk
distribution REBE BRRHE
of gas fuel REER Sale of  Design and MR
and related Gas gas construction Gas ait
products  connection  appliances services stations Total

FiEn FiEn TiEn FiEx FiEx TiEn
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000

BE ASSETS

PEEE Segment assets 29,148,862 3,259,320 79,805 477,299 1,679,770 34,645,056

RNAEDNRINES Interests in joint ventures 9,028,797

REEARIMER Interests in associates 1,863,017

ERBEEE Deferred tax assets 209,637

RARAREE (Fiia) Unallocated corporate assets (Note a) 13,928,611
59,675,118

af LIABILITIES

NEERE Segment liabilities 2,826,367 12,599,333 62,446 782,892 226,987 16,498,025

EfFE Taxation payable 495,191

ELHEERE Deferred tax liabilities 1,204,482

RARATEE Unallocated corporate liabilities

(Wib) (Note b) 17,772,627

35,970,325
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HE-T R+ A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016
Wk EER (&) 6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
BE-E—XRE+-A=+—HLEE For the year ended 31st December, 2016 (Continued)
(#)
HE# Other information
AESBEEN RS BEEMGTAZR Amounts included in the measure of segment profit and segment
8 assets:
HERDH
KERBR
HEER
Sale and HE FiR
distribution REEL ERBH
of gas fuel ~ MEEHE  Saleof Design and JilE=AS
and related Gas gas construction Gas L) At
products connection appliances services  stations Unallocated Total
THET TR THET TR TR THET TR
HK$’000  HK$000  HK$'000 HK$’000  HK$’000 HK$’000  HK$°000
REFRDEE Additions to non-current assets 4,124,792 - - 5,211 139,921 8,828 4,278,752
WEHBAR Additions to non-current assets
FiEkZ arising from acquisition of
FRBEERE subsidiaries 803,661 - - - - 2,788 806,449
WERESH Depreciation and amortisation 1,180,084 - - 3,780 101,293 2,921 1,288,078
BREN Release of prepaid lease
BHFE payments 73,568 - - - 1,369 - 74,937
[EWE S5 Impairment loss on trade
RESE receivables 22,160 - 824 493 52 - 235%
HENE  BER Loss on disposal of property,
SEER plant and equipment 17,345 - - - - - 17,345
BNEAOZUERE  Loss on prepaid lease payments 774 - - - - - 774
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BE—Z—R"Ft+_A=+—HIEE

For the year ended 31st December, 2016

6. WERksBER (&) 6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
BE-Z—AF+-A=1+—HLEE For the year ended 31st December, 2015
DWW RFEE Segment revenue and results
REMER
RRER
Sale and HE FEtk
distribution MERE BERRS
of gas fuel RS Sale of  Design and k=R
and related Gas gas  construction Gas Bt
products  connection  appliances services stations Total
T Tz THR T THx T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
6 3 Revenue
O External sales 20,248,511 6,868,798 187,834 1,550,443 3,978,449 32,834,035
25 Results
DR Segment results 2,113,430 3,100,175 27,284 71,121 1,078,733 6,390,743
EREEDRIER Share of results of joint ventures 840,428
AN E Share of results of associates 120,082
BIRA Finance costs (540,722)
RABYPA Unallocated income 523513
FAEEY Unallocated expenses (2,022,701)
BB A& Profit before taxation 5,311,343
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For the year ended 31st December, 2016

WERDEER (& 6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
BE-—ZE-—HE+=-A=+—HIEE For the year ended 31st December, 2015 (Continued)
(#%&)
T EEERERE Segment assets and liabilities
HERDH
[ERHR HE Rtk
HEER MREE MEBA RS k=R At
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Sale of  Design and
and related Gas gas  construction Gas
products  connection  appliances services stations Total
TiBr TAL ThL FhEr FiEn TAL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
gE ASSETS
NEBE Segment assets 26,787,936 3,083,165 72,129 449,373 1,704,736 32,097,339
RAERRIMER Interests in joint ventures 9,993,948
REE R RN ER Interests in associates 1,952,824
ELFEEE Deferred tax assets 190,323
KARAFAE (MiFa)  Unallocated corporate assets (Note a) 15,661,838
59,896,272
af LIABILITIES
PEEE Segment liabilities 2,715,566 9,736,437 23,347 641,641 85,570 13,202,561
[EfTFE Taxation payable 569,771
ELHEEE Deferred tax liabilities 1,012,178
ROBRAREE Unallocated corporate
(M3ED) liabilities (Note b) 22,624,756
37,409,266
EHRIERERLT T FF®
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= Z

BHE-_T—R"F+-A=1+—"HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

6. WERSEER (&) 6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
BE-_Z—HF+-A=t—HLEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2015 (Continued)
(%)
Bt &# Other information
AESRRFNROBEEEMTAZRK Amounts included in the measure of segment profit and segment
8 assets:
HERDH
REMER #HE Fith
HEER  MEEX  MERE BERE MR RAR At
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Sale of Design and
and related Gas gas construction Gas
products  connection  appliances services stations Unallocated Total

TAL TEL TEL TET TEL TAR TEL
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK§O00  HK$'000

NEETHEE Additions to non-current assets 4,723,524 - - 3613 222,250 11,099 4,960,486
WEHRBAR Additions to non-current assets

FELZ arising from acquisition of

ERBEERE subsidiaries 5,609 - - - - 5,150 10,759
FEREH Depreciation and amortisation 967,520 = = 4,071 69,228 3,371 1,044,190
BRBARD Release of prepaid lease

HE payments 71,465 = = = 1,231 = 72,696
FERE BEUABERE  Impairment loss on trade receivables 26,313 - - 1,026 824 - 28163
HEWE BER Loss on disposal of property, plant and

REBR equipment 5,931 - - 159 - - 6,090

BREOTERSR Loss on prepaid lease payments 1,061 = = 5 - - 1,061

B eE - Notes:

a. AROWMRARBEERKBHEARME a.  Unallocated corporate assets represent goodwill arising on acquisition
EHHE REWE  RERE A of subsidiaries, investment properties, deposits for investments,
HHEERE - HtbEKR - BHERR available-for-sale investments, other receivables, pledged bank
17175~ HERARBITEHEIR deposits, other deposits and bank balances and cash.

%

b. FRHPBEARIABEREMMENK - Bt b.  Unallocated corporate liabilities represent other payables, accrued
X RITREMEEAREBER expenses, bank and other borrowings and senior notes. Bank and
& RITREMEERBEREEAAR other borrowings and senior notes are classified as unallocated
SENRESETER  HHEARD corporate liabilities because they are managed centrally by the
EARAE- treasury function of the Group.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2016

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Geographical information

Information about the Group’s non-current assets (excluding
financial instruments and deferred tax assets) is presented based
on the location of the assets:

—E-RE —ZT—AF

2016 2015

FHER FAET

HK$’000 HK$'000

F PRC 38,745,424 38,563,860
B Hong Kong 574 649
38,745,998 38,564,509

REZMER » RNEBHKAGRS
BEE o
BFRETEFFHNER

RzZmERN  WEXAE-INEEP
R M a1 A R B ER10%30A £

The Group’s revenue are arisen in the PRC during both years.

Information about major customers

No single external customer contributed revenue from transactions
amounting to 10% or more of the revenue of the Group during

both years.
HAb i A 7. OTHER INCOME
—EB-RF —E—AF
2016 2015
FHT FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
EfA B Other income included:
T FE B & Government grants 48,869 37,238
SRITIEFF B YA Interest income from bank deposits 99,934 159,763
H b 7R S YA Interest income from other deposits 100,608 34,006
=R G EE NG Interest income from deposits placed
BT F S A with a fellow subsidiary 25,904 30,098
R A [A R AR A AR Interest income from loan to
B EFF S MA an intermediate holding company - 19,689
REMRERMBRRRE Interest income from loan to a fellow
B E A EA subsidiary - 6,426
REALRQRHFEWA Interest income from joint ventures 6,277 2,784
REREYMEHES WA Rental income from
(FA¥24,512,000/5 7T investment properties
—E—hF: (outgoings of HK$4,512,000
4,554,000/ 7T)) (2015: HK$4,554,000)) 34,737 32,905

EERREZERERAF

— =R
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HE-T—R"F+-A=1+—HIFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016
B 3% AR 8. FINANCE COSTS
—E-RF —T—RF
2016 2015
FET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
UREEZHE : Interests on:
BT REMES Bank and other borrowings 239,453 226,614
BERE Senior notes 276,795 275,233
& ERRFRIEA Amounts due to joint ventures 20,061 36,327
HtRHPaE Other long-term liabilities 2,143 2,548
538,452 540,722
BR%E A %= F 9. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
—E-RF —ZE-RF
2016 2015
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
FR AR AT A 2 kR Profit before taxation has been arrived at
after charging:
BTRA Staff costs
=S (KisE11) Directors’ emoluments (note 11) 27,342 14,845
HEMET Other staff
— Fre RAA - Salaries and bonus 2,350,151 2,180,671
— HpAg A — Other benefits 452,983 434,431
— REETEI T R - Performance related incentive
TEMNES payments under the Incentive Award
(F& R MIE34) Scheme (as defined in note 34) 38,759 19,255
— RIRERIFT IR — Retirement benefits schemes
contributions 467,580 410,812
B I KALRzE Total staff costs 3,336,815 3,060,014
ZEREN BN & Auditor’s remuneration 13,751 11,372
mE - BE R Depreciation of property, plant and
RETE equipment 1,221,032 980,687
FEBRTE T L FRIA Release of prepaid lease payments 74,937 72,696
REMENE Depreciation of investment properties 2,921 3,371
R B Amortisation of operating rights
(Bt ATTEFAR) (included in administrative expenses) 64,125 60,132
EURE 5 RFREEE Impairment loss on trade receivables 23,529 28,163
HEWE - BE R Loss on disposal of property, plant and
RiEEE equipment 17,345 6,090
HERMALFIEER Loss on disposal of prepaid lease payments 774 1,061
HEMER Operating lease rentals in respect of rented
LEHRNES premises 169,406 164,871
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BE-_Z—FRF+-_A=4  IFFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

10. BB 10. TAXATION
—E-RF —Z—h%F
2016 2015
FHER FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
RIELX L BE The tax charge comprises:
BNVEATH I8 Current taxation
R TSR PRC Enterprise Income Tax 1,586,276 1,378,061
BAFEHMERE Overprovision in prior years (37,255) (13,294)
BHAPEIRERD DK F Withholding tax paid for distributed profits
FEBARNEMETT and intergroup restructuring of
HTEHIEL investments in the PRC 60,180 68,751
1,609,201 1,433,518
EIERIR (MiEE32) Deferred taxation (note 32) 141,577 74,718
1,750,778 1,508,236

FRNHE B G IR (5 EER
R FIZR &R16.5% (—Z T — R F :
16.5%) it & c KRR RER B HLK
ERMBARYEERB RN B
It WERGRE M ERERAGTIRES
ST B

REBHPEARAMBELEEXMEHE
(TEEMREBIED REEMBHIE
EhEd > PERBRARNBELS
5% EETHREERTEREER
B o

RIEI B R AR BB A T %
B (MR =T ——FF15%) - 4
BhEERAIINEREEDREN=
ZZTN\F— A — B 5B A & 7 B A]
e BMIEINT MR ZBBBIEAM
B R A 2k A9 A% BRI ZE AR R T B
REMERF27TIEA R EF A E AR
Al 59114 125%3110% M) B R 45 44
¥FBH (AFRERNR) o

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2015: 16.5%) on
the estimated assessable profits for the year. The Company and
its subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong do not have assessable
profits, accordingly, no provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has
been made in the consolidated financial statements.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the
EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% except for
certain group entities which are entitled to various concessionary
tax rates.

According to a joint circular of the Ministry of Finance and State
Administration of Taxation, Cai Shui 2011 No. 1, only the profits
earned by foreign-investment enterprise prior to 1st January, 2008,
when distributed to foreign investors, can be grandfathered and
exempted from withholding tax. Whereas, dividend distributed
out of the profits generated thereafter, shall be subject to the
Enterprise Income Tax at 5% or 10% and withheld by the PRC
entities, pursuant to Articles 3 and 27 of the New Law and Article
91 of its Detailed Implementation Rules.

EBRREREBRAE
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BHE-_T—R"F+-A=1+—"HILFE

10. 1\ (&)

For the year ended 31st December, 2016

10. TAXATION (Continued)

FABEBEI HEGEBEa REMEE The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before

Yean sk ERRDLADE M A SRR T

taxation per consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as follows:

A —ZE-RF
2016 2015
FET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
B 35 A g A Profit before taxation 6,188,586 5,311,343
1R iE A TS % 25% Tax at the applicable income
(ZZ—HF : 25%) tax rate of 25%
SHEHHIA (2015: 25%) 1,547,147 1,327,836
P B i AT F0 R B S Tax effect of expenses not deductible for
Wi E tax purposes 263,463 280,202
MR RS BARRWA Tax effect of income not taxable for
TS R 2 tax purposes (76,283) (58,411)
JELB S AR EBENTIEEE  Tax effect of share of results of associates (29,742) (30,021)
EIEAEE AT ZEENTIETE Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures (163,266) (210,107)
RERTEBEENEEZE Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 26,092 42,427
B A I AR TER Utilisation of tax losses previously not
KR B 1R recognised (19,157) (19,980)
NERIE =] IEE N Effect of tax exemptions and reliefs granted
ﬁﬁﬁg%ﬂlﬁﬁkﬁﬂﬁgﬁ“ to subsidiaries operating in the PRC (31,169) (31,897)
REBEHERAEHPIISH Income tax at concessionary rates (8,519) (7,928)
BREAPEKRERD IR E A Withholding tax for undistributed profits
R TR of investments in the PRC 215,713 157,775
EEFPBRIRED 9K ET Withholding tax paid for distributed profits
REBNEAS R and intergroup restructuring of
BV TR investments in the PRC 60,180 68,751
B FEEBERE Overprovision in prior years (37,255) (13,294)
Hith Others 3,574 2,883
FRFRIEBEL Tax charge for the year 1,750,778 1,508,236
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M. BEERTHRAZMERESR

REHES

=

ENSENEEOMESNT

Bz

T RE+ZA=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS
AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

Directors

The emoluments paid or payable to the directors are as follows:

ZE-RE 2016 ZZ-RE 1
AH RINER AN RINER
#ER i 53 Fi 1S H#eR 53 RIS
Rft8A  Performance  Retirement EfER  Performance  Retirement
Salaries related benefit Salaries related benefit
#%&  andother  incentive  schemes At w8 andother incentive schemes Bl
fE3:21 Name of directors Fees benefits ~ payments ~contributions Total Fees benefits payments  contributions Total
Tén TER TR TEn TEn Thn T Fhn Thn THn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HTEE Executive directors
TER(3) Wang Chuandong (Note) - - - - - - 599 182 138 919
RER Shi Shanbo 70 1,847 8,124 121 10,162 70 1,923 3,126 168 5,287
IR Ong Thiam Kin, Ken 70 1,639 5370 181 7,260 70 1,648 1,596 181 3,495
W Ge Bin 70 1,605 7481 4 9,200 70 1,412 2,103 9 4,284
e Non-executive directors
HXE (&) Du Wenmin (Note) - - - - - - = = = =
() Wei Bin (Note) - - - - - - = = = =
RE () Chen Ying (Note) - - - - - 70 - _ B 0
IE(#) Wang Yan (Note) - - - - - 70 = = = 70
Bl Independent non-
FHES executive directors
B Wong Tak Sing 180 - - - 180 180 - - - 180
Tl Yu Jian 180 - - - 180 180 - - - 180
AER Yu Hon To, David 180 - - - 180 180 - - - 180
F92 Qin Chaokui 180 - - - 180 180 - - - 180
930 5,091 20,975 346 21,342 1,070 5,582 7,607 586 14,845

Mzt EEREE HXREE BWE
£ RELERIERER-T—K
F(ZE—AF: TEREE) O

emER (RE) BRARAE -

Note: The emoluments of Mr. Wang Chuandong, Mr. Du Wenmin, Mr. Wei
Bin, Mr. Chen Ying and Mr. Wang Yan for 2016 (2015: Mr. Wang
Chuandong) are borne by China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited.

EBRRERERAT —Z— RFFR
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11.

R AREt+ZA=1+—HILEFE

EBENTHAIMERAR
RE¥ES (&)

B (#)

AN EMBARTESHME DT B
BREHARARAKEEEEHIRM
BVARTS o A LPREETTE S KB
FRTEENME DT EH B REE
RERBERHRT -

ASBERERARRMEE, - XA
BOEENME BB RESTRAR
RERBSAEMS -

WNTENRES DI RBAEENL
EELE  AARBRAUFELEROT
LR EEEE AR eEREN
AT EENREFERTESFD
3} 1E13,543,0008 L (Z T — A F :
5,828,000/ 7T) °

TBASHENESHERZMESF
EREEMAME -

=]
rEBLEZSHFATEERSE (Z
T—RF:MB) MITES BED
MEFBEHNLEX - AEBESK=F
ZE-RF: ZR) RaFEENM
T

For the year ended 31st December, 2016

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS

AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
(Continued)

Directors (Continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were paid for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company and the Group. The emoluments of the non-executive
directors and independent non-executive directors shown above
were paid for their services as directors of the Company.

Mr. Shi Shanbo is the chief executive officer of the Company
and his emoluments disclosed above include those for services
rendered by him as the chief executive.

Performance related incentive payments were determined with
reference to the Group’s operating results, individual performances
and comparable market statistics. Included therein were amounts
granted to directors of HK$13,543,000 (2015: HK$5,828,000) under
the Incentive Award Scheme as defined in note 34.

Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors waived any
emoluments in both years.

Employees

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included two (2015:
two) executive directors, details of whose emoluments are set out
above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2015: three) highest
paid employees of the Group are as follows:

—E-REF —E—hF

2016 2015

FET FHET

HK$’000 HK$’000

e kEMBH Salaries and other benefits 4,673 3,943
WITER S Performance related incentive payments 19,670 7,211
RIKER B Retirement benefit schemes contributions 114 245
24,457 11,399
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M. BEERTHRAZMERESR
BeHES (&)

BB (&)

LitERENBEN FIATEE

Bz

T RE+ZA=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS
AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
(Continued)

Employees (Continued)

The emoluments of the above employees are within the following

bands:
ZB-RF —E-RF
2016 2015
EEAH EBEAH
Number of Number of
employees employees
3,500,001/% 7T £4,000,000/%8 7T HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 - 3
8,000,001/ 7T £8,500,000/8 7T HK$8,000,001 to HK$8,500,000 3 -
12. RE 12. DIVIDENDS
—E-XRE —TRF
2016 2015
FHET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
FRERED RS Dividends recognised as distribution
during the year:
T NFREHRE — 158l 2016 interim dividend - 15 HK cents per share
(ZZE—R1%F : —T—hF (2015: 2015 interim dividend —
HEARR 2 — BAR107E L) 10 HK cents per share) 326,392 217,464
—E-RERMIRE — G238l 2015 final dividend - 23 HK cents per share
(ZB—F1%F: —Z—F (2015: 2014 final dividend —
KL S — BR207% L) 20 HK cents per share) 500,468 434,928
826,860 652,392

BEEEFRNEBEE-_T—~FE+=A
=+t HALFENRHREFRI0
B (ZZT—RF:2381l) @%
653,465,000 7T (=T — A F -
500,468,000/ 7T ) ©

The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of 30
HK cents (2015: 23 HK cents) per share for the year ended 31st
December, 2016 in an aggregate amount of HK$653,465,000
(2015: HK$500,468,000).

EBRRERERAT —Z— RFFR
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BHE-_T—R"F+-A=1+—"HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

13. BRER 13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

HREARRR AT EETE The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on the
following data:

—E-RE —T-1F
2016 2015
FTER FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BF Earnings:
ARG EERERZT Earnings for the purposes of basic earnings
KBF (KREHEEB A per share (profit for the year attributable
AR F s F) to owners of the Company) 3,289,399 2,837,910
—E-AE —EF-hF
2016 2015
ROHAE : Number of shares:
AUFTEERELRRFN Weighted average number of shares in issue
IEFHEEITRMNEE less shares held for incentive award scheme
WA SR B AT B A R AR (D for the purpose of basic earnings per share 2,176,106,473 2,175,077,350
HAMEFETEEBITHNEBEL S No diluted earnings per share is presented as there were no
i - B 25| GREE AR o potential ordinary shares in issue for both years.
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HE-T R+ A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

14. Y% - BERKE 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

HE BE
ELS
Plant, FHRRE
HEME  machinery MREE  Fumniture HERE RE HRIR
Leasehold and Gas and  Leasehold Motor  Construction &t
properties  equipment pipelines fixtures  improvements vehicles  in progress Total
TER TEn TER TEn TER T TEn T
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
REE THE GROUP
HE C0ST
RZZ-1%5-F-A At 1st January, 2015 2891012 2366979 14547213 357,760 144,465 691,950 2844670 23,844,109
ERAR Exchange adjustments (192,641) (174,134) (858,645) (32910) (10,520) (47.391) (263,038)  (1,569,279)
HE Addttions 247,820 228,155 650,960 123712 64,714 103,761 2221480 3,640,602
WEEHELA Acquisition of a subsidiary = = = 802 901 1678 2208 5,609
HeE Disposals (19,969) (46,454) (37,891) (13,767) (1,952) (57,810) (27,662) (205,505)
&2 Transfer 239,390 216,373 1,428,908 18,877 4,354 3498 (1,971,400) -
RZZ-REF-A=F—H At 31stDecember, 2015 3165612 2650919 15,730,605 454,474 201,962 695,686 2816278 25,715,536
B AR Exchange adjustments (214,343) (178,205)  (1,129,751) (33,450) (19,280) (44,507) (183,764)  (1,803,300)
AE Addttions 167,932 177,453 1,327,620 76,403 80,209 35,036 1712080 3576733
WEEHBAR Acquisition of a subsidiary 95,19 58,089 391,745 9,868 48,041 13,781 135,458 752,177
k= Disposals (85,684) (72,320) (52,286) (18.379) (171) (40,308) (37,633) (307,381)
&2 Transfer 152498 109,066 1,328910 2421 12,912 264 (1,606,077) -
RZE-RNETZA=+-H At31st December, 2016 3281210 2745002 17,596,843 491,343 323,073 659,952 2,836,342 27,933,765
HERAE DEPRECIATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
RZZ-1%5-A-A At 1st January, 2015 178572 344,367 1,407,629 136,640 40,89 216,843 26,831 2,351,678
EAg Exchange adjustments (24,322) (54,863) (138,692) (16,820) (4,810) (22,023) - (261,530)
TEERR Provided for the year 101,987 150,386 519,871 77,954 52399 78,090 - 980,687
it R Eliminated on disposals (8,609) (16,391) (9.672) (7,215) 2 (30,534) - (72,463)
R-E-RET-A=1-H At31st December, 2015 247,628 423,499 1,779,036 190,559 88,443 242,376 26,831 2,998,372
ERAR Exchange adjustments (20,031) (30953) (136,662) (13,620) (8,009) (16,383) - (225,658)
REERE Provided for the year 133,592 178475 708,463 61430 63,646 75,426 - 1,221,032
HERHR Eliminated on disposals (12.503) (50,190) (11,345) (11,030) (20) (33,764) - (118,852)
RZE-R"ETZA=+-H At31st December, 2016 348,686 520,831 2,339,492 221,339 144,060 267,655 26,831 3874,8%
BEf CARRYING VALUES
RZE-R"ETZA=+-H At31st December, 2016 2932524 224171 15,257,351 264,004 179,013 392,297 2809511 24,058,871
RZE-RET-A=1—H At31st December, 2015 2917984 2227420 13951569 263,915 113519 453,310 2789447 22,717,164

ERMARRERAT —T A FTHR
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BHE-_T—R"F+-A=1+—"HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

14. Y% - BERR®E (&) 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Lty BEREZEER (ERT The above items of property, plant and equipment, other than

RN REET A A E AR R A construction in progress, are depreciated over their estimated

HETRIREBEBUNESETANE : useful lives and after taking into account their estimated residual

values, using the straight-line method, as follows:

THEWE 255 40F S IR A T Leasehold properties 25 to 40 years or over the relevant
H(UABEERE) lease terms, if shorter

BRE - #WERKk 5F204F Plant, machinery and 5 to 20 years

B3 equipment

MRE B 20E304F Gas pipelines 20 to 30 years

FERERE 3F124F Furniture and fixtures 3to 12 years

THEMERE I3B5FHIREMAEE Leasehold improvements 3 to 5 years or over the relevant

(B2 E BE) lease terms, if shorter

RE 31/,E104F Motor vehicles 3'/s to 10 years

AEBMHEEYEBEMN T E i The Group’s leasehold properties comprise buildings situated on

EzEF- land in the PRC.

RZZB-—RF+-A=+—H k@ At 31st December, 2015, property, plant and equipment with an

# {8 430,798,000/ T ) 3 - BB aggregate carrying value of HK$30,798,000 were pledged to

REEDEER  URGERTAER secure the bank borrowings granted to the Group (2016: nil).

WIRITIEE (ZE—RF - T) -

15. T HLOFIE 15. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

—E-KRE —T—RF
2016 2015
FREx FHET
HK$°’000 HK$’'000

AEERFERBELRIE The Group’s prepaid lease payments

BIEALA R F Y comprise of leasehold land situated

HETH - in the PRC:

FERBEE Non-current assets 1,522,489 1,455,967
MENEE Current assets 82,837 74,683
1,605,326 1,530,650
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16. BEYH

BE-T-AE+

—A=+

BHIEFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2016

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

FHET

HK$'000
R COST
R-—ZE—HFE—H—H At 1st January, 2015 59,984
bE 5, =L Exchange adjustments (3,502)
R-ZT—HAF+-A=+—H At 31st December, 2015 56,482
bE o 2 Exchange adjustments (3,193)
NE Additions 6,961
RZZE—RE+=-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2016 60,250
e DEPRECIATION
R-—ZE—HFE—H—H At 1st January, 2015 14,227
M 4, 3 B Exchange adjustments (971)
REZ B Provided for the year 3,371
R-Z—RF+-A=+—H At 31st December, 2015 16,627
bE 7 S Exchange adjustments (938)
NEERE Provided for the year 2,921
MR-ZF—XE+-A=+—H At 31st December, 2016 18,610
REE CARRYING VALUES
RZZE—RFE+-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2016 41,640
R-ZZE—RAF+=-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2015 39,855

REBMBAEERNTZ A AR
B WAREERNZERZOME
B E ARAENE - YD BERE
BWENR - TEIDIZRSHHEFH
NEAREM R B R AGHE -

remaining terms of the leases.

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are measured
using cost model and are classified and accounted for as
investment properties. Depreciation is provided to write off the
cost of investment properties using straight-line method over the

RZE—RNEFER=ZE—AF+=A= At 31st December, 2016 and 2015, all of the Group’s investment
+—HB  AEBEMFMBREYEHLNL properties are situated in the PRC.
A E o
17. A& N EI R 17. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
—NE —hE
2016 2015
FERx FHIT
HK$’000 HK$’000
RAEENRIFEFMIRERBA  Cost of unlisted investments in joint ventures 3,290,535 3,612,197
[EES Goodwill 834,212 890,700
FEMR M1 5 A & Share of post-acquisition profits and
EfEmEA other comprehensive income,
R E AR B net of dividend received 4,904,050 5,491,051
9,028,797 9,993,948

RBEBR  AEBOEEE
FEIEH A K746 -

R A]

reporting period are set out in note 46.

EERREZERERAF

Details of the Group principal joint ventures at the end of the

=

—BAFER
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T-AE+-A=t+—BLFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2016

17. REE N RIER (&)
EEMSYEBEANESLE ATNA

17. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not individually

ER material
“E-RE —T—hfF
2016 2015
FERx FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
AR B AR T & The Group’s share of profit and
2EWA B total comprehensive income 181,814 179,031
AER B R R A The Group’s gas connection income 809,524 641,890
AEEBRZESGE TN Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s
R EATE interests in these joint ventures 2,813,945 3,007,914
18. REt& QAR 18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
—E-RE —T—AF
2016 2015
FEx FHET
HK$’000 HK$’'000
NN S 029N Cost of investments in associates
— REBUINET — Listed outside Hong Kong 1,265,608 1,396,906
— 3t — Unlisted 232,274 229,223
EES Goodwill 3,261 3,482
FEAE W B 18 5% FIl K Share of post-acquisition profits and
HEmzmiA other comprehensive income,
ORRE W B net of dividend received 361,874 323,213
1,863,017 1,952,824
EHERENATE (KisE) Fair value of listed investments (Note) 5,160,924 6,345,934
MisE : EMRMDH AT EE (E—RAF Note: The fair value measurements of the listed shares (Level 1 fair value
Bt &) JhREERTIS AT E R measurements) are derived from quoted prices in an active market.
RBERR AEENFEBHLE QT Details of the Group’s principal associates at the end of the
FEIEE R TE47 - reporting period are set out in note 47.

EBRRERERAT —Z— RFFR
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BHE-_T—R"F+-A=1+—"HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

18. REtE N RfER (&) 18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
—EEEHENTNBBERBE Summarised financial information of a material associate
AEBNEFERENREEMRIER Summarised financial information in respect of E EMREB (DB
BPERAR ([EEMR]) OFKE RARI(EEMER”), the Group’s material associate, is set out below.

FEEEIIT -

ZHE AR Ty A RER AR S B This associate is accounted for using the equity method in these
HHREF AL © consolidated financial statements.

—E-XF —E—hF

2016 2015

FEx FHT

HK$’000 HK$'000

mBEE Current assets 3,483,711 3,753,419

EREEE Non-current assets 5,956,760 5,506,899

mEaE Current liabilities (2,655,708) (2,440,171)

FERBBE Non-current liabilities (2,411,920) (2,441,568)

FEIE AR 25 Non-controlling interests 417,286 331,712

S AL 54

2016 2015

FERT FHIT

HK$’000 HK$’000

WA Revenue 6,453,229 7,396,857
FRE & Profit and total comprehensive income

2 EW AL for the year 451,345 490,565
FAB U Dividends received from the associate

N RIRE for the year 55,257 51,883

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-T R+ A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

18. REtE N RER (&) 18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

—HIEBEATNNMERREE
(#)
RS A R B RN A B R R
PO R B B A ) AR 2 0 T L
T

Summarised financial information of a material associate
(Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

S i 5%
2016 2015
FEx FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
HB AEGEE AT Net assets of the associate

WEEFE attributable to owners 3,955,557 4,046,867

AEBREERK Proportion of the Group’s ownership
BV RERE R L D) interest in EEMR 22.49% 22.49%

GEES Goodwill 3,261 3,482

PR A T EFARNZE Effect of fair value adjustments at acquisition 610,922 661,137
AEEREEMR RS Carrying amount of the Group’s
R EREE interest in EEMRR 1,503,788 1,574,759

TEMENT DT EREEAEEN
URES - HARKEHERAR LR
ERHREERRRERE KR TR
MREBEEHBES - HXT 28X
HEIARE -

The material associate is principally engaged in similar activities
as the Group and is strategic to the Group’s activities as sale of
natural gas and liquefied petroleum gas, and construction of gas
pipelines networks under gas connection contracts. Its principal
place of business is the PRC.

EEmMSUYHFBERANBEEXATNE Aggregate information of associates that are not individually

sTER material
—E-RE —T—hfF
2016 2015
FREx FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
AEBEGRF R The Group’s share of profit and
2HEIAEZE total comprehensive income 17,460 9,754
AEBRZEBRE N RER Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s
HERm4AE interests in these associates 359,229 378,065

EERREZERERAF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHE-_T—R"F+-A=1+—"HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

19. AIHHERE 19. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

—E-RF —E—AF

2016 2015

FHET FHT

HK$’000 HK$'000

R BEE EHP&D - R AF(E Listed shares in the PRC, at fair value 8,224 11,104
R R IE ETRARE Unlisted equity investments in the PRC,

E2dD RN at cost 55,759 48,701

63,983 59,805

RO AFEHNE (BE—RAF The fair value measurements of the listed shares (Level 1 fair value

Bt 2) JIREERTSNTERE - measurements) are derived from quoted prices in an active market.

EEMRAEEFRNBEFRBKLA The unlisted equity investments represent investments in unlisted

FEER (FERFRIEREERR equity securities issued by private entities established in the

REEERER) METHIELTR PRC, which are principally engaged in sales of liquefied gas

AEHFHRE - THIRP|REBHRAK and connection of gas pipelines. They are measured at cost less

TREREEEGE  AEEQATE impairment losses at the end of the reporting period because

HEHEEBRKN  WEEERAEAR the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that

FETEEA] SEHETE o the management is of the opinion that their fair values cannot be

measured reliably.

20. HE 20. GOODWILL

FAET
HK$'000

REE CARRYING VALUE
R=-—ZE—HFE—H—H At 1st January, 2015 707,479
bE 5, EE Exchange adjustments (36,460)
WeEE KT B A R Acquisition of a subsidiary 5,150
RZE—RAF+=-A=+—H At 31st December, 2015 676,169
bE 7 A% Exchange adjustments (42,883)
RN-E—XRE+=-_A=+—8H At 31st December, 2016 633,286
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20. BE (&)

HEBEHHINGHNEES SRS
BB BERZEBAHIREEE
B ([ReELEM]) - LA ERE
AAmE  BEEERSMBRFTRE
VYHREELBMN RBEHAKR B
BOREETIZEARBUATHER
AIFTEERNEE

e M B|RME

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

s —

20.

NETZA=A | IFFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

GOODWILL (Continued)

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to cash
generating units (*“CGUs”) that are expected to benefit from that
business combination. The management considers each subsidiary
represents a separate CGU for the purpose of goodwill impairment
testing. At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount of
goodwill mainly represents goodwill arising from the acquisition of
subsidiaries as follows:

—B-RF s

2016 2015

FER FT

HK$°000 HK$'000

ZMEBRRERAR (MizEa) ZINEBER R AR 2 F(Note a) 213,741 228,214
RZERMRERAR (Fiza) 2 MR R BR A F(Note a) 118,654 126,689
EBgELEBRRER AT (Mita) HEE LEBR R AR 2R (Note a) 114,798 122,571
REEBRRER AT (MizEb) REZE BRI AR 2 E(Note b) 50,731 54,166
ZHEBREBRAE (Hita) ZI5EBR A B R A E(Note a) 30,427 32,487
)N ERRR RN AR AR (HisEa) Ep)N R AR 1D B IR A B(Note a) 27,296 29,144
ARAZEBRRERAR (HizEa) AFRZE R AR A F(Note a) 20,868 22,281
HAb (Mizka) Others (Note a) 56,771 60,617
633,286 676,169

a. REBRLELEBEMNEG()HEERDE
[EME REBER  (RREK
(i) HEM R -

b. ZERSELBNHB()HERDH
REMRE RABESR  (MREK :
(il)SHEMREEER ¢ R(iv) IR

ReEsBunr oS REDRER
EFFEHAEE - st EERAERE
ERJ[A/ITRE - HEREIREEEE
BERANTERES - BEEETHEHRMAA
FREHREELSMBAENEEE
B R AR e IRITH 5T A B AT
RAEFHRER - WRTIFERNERE
REFE - EEBREERANEDHANZ
BEBEHIRFARTISARKE L MEE -

Notes:

a. These CGUs are engaged in the operating segments of (i) sale and
distribution of gas fuel and related products; (ii) gas connection; and
(iii) sale of gas appliances.

b. These CGUs are engaged in the operating segments of (i) sale and
distribution of gas fuel and related products; (ii) gas connection; (iii)
sale of gas appliances; and (iv) gas stations.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based on
value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in
use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth
rates and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs.
Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that
reflect current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are based
on industry growth forecasts. Changes in selling prices and direct
costs are based on past practices and expectations of future
changes in the market.

EBRREREBRIE —F

NEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R AREt+ZA=1+—HILEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

20. B8 (&)

AEERBSREEEEGBRK
PO ST M REE GHERIER
RMREREBN —RERY) HE
Ren8A - RiRE N\Fobatiy
REBE%LIZHF T EFRN[ETIERE
R0% (ZZE—FHF: BNFR%N
RIERF R0%) K T8 & HI1L 21
MRERE - RARSELEMNE
EREMBIERER10% (ZF—
hF10%) c EERAR - NBEH
R AREREBNHELEHREMNS
ABEER BEERR ZERR
MEMAEAEEH I SEYEREE
EEUNRAAEBAZRSELE
7 By AJ U [ 2 FE AR R

21, &

20. GOODWILL (Continued)

The Group prepares cash flows forecasts derived from the most
recent financial budgets approved by senior management for the
next 4 years, which is the general development period for sales
of liquefied gas and gas connection business and extrapolates
cash flows for the period beyond the budget period based on
the estimated growth rate of 5% for the first 8 years and 0% for
the remaining 7 years (2015: 5% for the first 8 years and 0% for
the remaining 7 years). The rate used to discount the forecast
cash flows for the CGUs is 10% (2015: 10%). In the opinion of the
directors, no material impairment loss of goodwill on gas operation
is identified at the end of the reporting period. Management
believes that any reasonably possible change in any of these
assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying amount of
the CGU to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of the CGU.

21. OPERATING RIGHTS

FAET

HK$’000
2% COST
RZZE—HE—H—H At 1st January, 2015 1,473,254
TE 54 A% Exchange adjustments (88,788)
NE Additions 67,733
R-ZE—hF+-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2015 1,452,199
BE o, 28 Exchange adjustments (83,460)
NE Additions 87,499
AN Acquisition of a subsidiary 3,194
RZT—A~"F+=ZA=+—H At 31st December, 2016 1,459,432
ey AMORTISATION
RZZE—HFE—HA—H At 1st January, 2015 102,153
P H A% Exchange adjustments (8,460)
INF S Provided for the year 60,132
N-_E—RE+_A=+—H At 31st December, 2015 153,825
RS Exchange adjustments (5,357)
REE R Provided for the year 64,125
RZE—RF+-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2016 212,593
BREE CARRYING VALUES
RZZE—R"F+=ZA=+—H At 31st December, 2016 1,246,839
RZE—RF+=-A=+—H At 31st December, 2015 1,298,374

W EBBEHNEERTIAERER
EFT R A F 210 =50F A sH -

The operating rights for city pipeline network are amortised over
the estimated useful life ranging from 10 to 50 years on a straight-
line basis.
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22. 7E

T RE+ZA=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

22. INVENTORIES

—E-RF —E—AF

2016 2015

FHT FHT

HK$’000 HK$’000

ML Construction materials 274,100 394,229
L Finished goods 139,326 176,287
413,426 570,516

23. B E 5 AR H R

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

—B-RF s
2016 2015
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEWE 5 ER X Trade receivables 4,644,654 4,194,908
B REREE Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (190,381) (179,257)
4,454,273 4,015,651
WA &R RRIE (Hizka) Amounts due from joint ventures (Note a) 747,349 836,404

FEUIEYE PR IR B 308 (MisEb)  Amounts due from non-controlling
shareholders (Note b) 19,539 22,735
R (Ffifste) Deposits (Note ¢) 1,052,444 947,564
TEfTFRIE (KtsEd) Prepayments (Note d) 1,295,478 1,334,404
E fh MR Other receivables 451,564 212,230
8,020,647 7,368,988

Bt Notes:

a. BREWSE SR FFIEI3,834,000/8 7T a.  Except for the amounts due from joint ventures of HK$33,834,000

— T —FF : 37,577,000 7T) A
ML - 2N T3.92EE4.35/E (=
T—RF  392EE4ME) TEH
FEFEMNRGFERAR-—FRNEER
N BT ESRAEIRE - 2B REAR
EREFEE -

FEU SRR AR AR SR AR AR IR - 28
RANBERIEE o

ReXTBOREXN TRREERNR
T KEEREERS -

BNREIEEEARRERANEER
REMBTEN K

(2015: HK$37,577,000) which are unsecured, bear variable interest
ranging from 3.92% to 4.35% (2015: 3.92% to 4.41%) per annum and
repayable within one year, the remaining balances are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

b. Amounts due from non-controlling shareholders are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

Ch Deposits mainly include deposits paid to gas suppliers, utility and
rental deposits.

d. Prepayments mainly include prepayments for purchase of construction
materials for gas connection contracts.

ERMARRERAT —T A FTHR
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BHE-_T—R"F+-A=1+—"HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

23. EWE ZRA K EMEWRK 23.

(&)

AEEGTEAREFPNEER—KA30
REORX - EMBRRREHENEKE
FEFNHERRENEZBH (G
EREWRAERAS) ORRONE
FIEE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The Group generally allows credit periods ranging from 30 to 90
days to its customers. The aged analysis of trade receivables, net
of allowance for doubtful debts, is presented based on the invoice
date at the end of the reporting period, which approximated the
respective revenue recognition date as follows:

= ki ik

2016 2015

TR THT

HK$’000 HK$'000

0— 90K 0 - 90 days 3,737,008 3,376,657
91— 180K 91 - 180 days 430,682 377,684
181 — 365K 181 - 365 days 238,399 221,288
365K A & Over 365 days 48,184 40,022
4,454,273 4,015,651

RZE—ARF+_A=1+—H8EK
BH5ERBERRE BHaIARTH
U BEFK 717,265,000/ 7C (=T — A
F 1 638,994,000/ 7C) ° HREBE A
MEAMRREERNEE - A&
HZEREELRE EZETZS
EUEE RO EEERRL - B
IR B BB R AR B o AN E
RRSFEBERFEEAEAR -

BEHENRBENEKE S RRIRR

Included in trade receivables as at 31st December, 2016 are
receivables of HK$717,265,000 (2015: HK$638,994,000) which are
past due at the reporting date but are regarded as not impaired
as there has not been a significant change in the credit standing
of the debtors. The directors determined that such receivables
neither past due nor impaired are of good credit quality with no
history of default. The Group does not hold any collateral over
these receivables.

Aging of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired

—g—iE —T-EF

2016 2015

FHR T

HK$°000 HK$'000

91-180X 91 — 180 days 430,682 377,684
181 — 365X 181 — 365 days 238,399 221,288
365K 1 Over 365 days 48,184 40,022
717,265 638,994

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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#*b Z
S

T RE+ZA=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

23. BWE Z R K HAi B 23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(&)
2380 5481 3 9 0 0 G R 33 R KO

R (&)

REFE BRSSO - A&
BEREBANERRARERERY
REABEESRBEMTMNESD - H
RAEEFEEREEF  MEESE
TRBRER Bl ARBTEERS
BB AR BT R o RO R BRI
' MASITIEREERE -

REBBEPEETEBABRSHE
Al B R (B FE Ui Bk & ££190,381,000
B (ZF — A F ¢ 179,257,000/%
TT) c REEHAEEEMERNIER
i B B PR B o AN 5% (B30 oK it ik R R
BRI A RS

Aging of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired
(Continued)

In determining the recoverability of a receivable, the Group
considers whether there has been adverse change in the credit
standing of the debtor from the date credit was initially granted.
The concentration of credit risk is limited as the Group’s customer
base comprises of a large number of customers. Accordingly, the
directors of the Company believe that there is no further credit
provision required in excess of the allowance for doubtful debts
already provided for in the consolidated financial statements.

Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are individually
impaired receivables due from certain debtors with an aggregate
amount of HK$190,381,000 (2015: HK$179,257,000) which have
either been placed under liquidation or are in financial difficulties.
The Group does not hold any collateral over these receivables.

RIRBHEEH Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts
—E-XEF —T—hHF
2016 2015
FET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
Rn—A—H At 1st January 179,257 161,707
[ 5, R 2E Exchange adjustments (12,405) (10,613)
BEERBEER Impairment loss recognised 23,529 28,163
R+=—A=+—8H At 31st December 190,381 179,257

EBRRERERAT —Z— RFFR
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HIEFE For the year ended 31st D

24. Bl EREBEFEHNIRE

ecember, 2016

24. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO CUSTOMERS FOR

MIE CONTRACT WORKS

—E-RF -0

2016 2015

FERT FHET

HK$’000 HK$’000

B A0 A LR INE #E725% Fl Contract costs incurred plus profits recognised 2,408,929 2,464,691
B TIREE K Less: Progress billings (11,689,815) (9,098,253)
(9,280,886) (6,633,562)

M2MMAETON - Analysis for reporting purposes as:

BREFEATIERIE Amounts due from customers for contract works 1,881,976 1,534,776
ENREA4TIENIE Amounts due to customers for contract works (11,162,862) (8,168,338)
(9,280,886) (6,633,562)

25. SIKFBITER

R-ZZFE—X"E+_A=+—8 " £
GHRERBIERENRARMERD
BB ZEANER - BEIFRITE
HIUARE (TARK]) 5HE « &W
5 E R R0.35EE2.75E (=T — A
& :0.35/EF2.75/2) it B °

26 Ht Z R RVITEHR K 26.
"e
(a) HMER (a)
RZE—R"F+=ZA=+—8"
HAh 7R iE R B RITE M LA
ARBEEHRAFR - BT
F| 21,502 £2.85/F * 18 T 10 R
R - HFHBITRENE
MmIETARBEHETANKEM
TE - AR E B 2 AT - BIEAER
MEBE 2 BRN T6E2K
(ZZ—1F : &)  HFERR
BREREWIEE AL A TE
Az AEBEIFEREME TR
ARTETR - EERA - Hit
GRORTE (K2EZHRRE
MEETUAFTE (0Bt 5E43(c)FT
WEE)) BEASREREE - HihfF
FR_E—+tF—AE-RAEE -

At 31

depo

(b) BERBELZHE (b)

RATRBBIRT 5 F F X T EIE
—F-RF FEE) A

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016

25. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

st December, 2016, bank deposits are pledged as security

for trade payables to suppliers of natural gas. The pledged bank

sits are denominated in Renminbi (*“RMB”) and carry interest

at market rates ranging from 0.35% to 2.75% (2015: 0.35% to
2.75%) per annum.

OTHER DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES AND
CASH

Other deposits

At 31st December, 2016, other deposits consisted of principal
protected deposits denominated in RMB issued by banks in
the PRC with expected interest rate from 1.50% to 2.85%
per annum, depending on the performance of the underlying
share index, money market instruments and debt instruments
invested by the counterparty banks, payable on maturity
where the maturity ranging from 6 to 92 days from the date of
purchase (2015: nil). Other deposits are designated at FVTPL
on initial recognition as they contain non-closely related
embedded derivatives. The directors considered the fair
values of other deposits, which are measured by reference
to the discounted cash flow approach as disclosed in note
43(c), approximate to their principal amounts. Other deposits
will be redeemed in January to February 2017.

Cash and cash equivalents

The bank balances carry interest at market rates ranging from
0% to 3% (2015: 0% to 3%) per annum.
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27. ENE SRR EABEN K

HE_Z—ARFTA=T—BILFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2016

27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

—E-XEF —T—RF
2016 2015
FHET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
B E SRR Trade payables 4,969,090 4,692,435
FERTS AR TEZIE (fera) Amounts due to joint ventures (Note a) 1,849,895 2,066,163
FET FEFEAR AR R R IE Amounts due to non-controlling
(Mi=Eb) shareholders (Note b) 159,515 143,660
FEUGR Receipts in advance 1,831,208 3,400,322
BUIRE Deposits received 395,430 695,234
BEDE  BEK Payables for acquisition of property,
AR FE plant and equipment 141,759 175,644
LT R A i e FE S R Payables for acquisition of operating
(HE31) rights (note 31) 23,700 23,037
U BE BT B X R FE AR (B Consideration payable for acquisition
(P 5E36) of subsidiaries (note 36) - 47,916
FERT B TRA Accrued staff costs 865,791 786,632
HihEN R R ETE A Other payables and accruals 337,635 409,994
10,574,023 12,441,037
B E - Notes:
a. BENEE AR KIE867,533,000/5 a.  Except for the amounts due to joint ventures of HK$867,533,000 (2015:

7T (=T — f F :1,769,829,000/%5
L) AERE 1B (ZF—Hh
F: NF1A5EE2.75B R EHZH
=) WEEFFIEFBREN—F
NEEIN R TERAEIRR &8
RAREKEEE -

HK$1,769,829,000) which are unsecured, bear fixed interest at 1.15%
(2015: variable interest ranging from 1.15% to 2.75%) per annum and
repayable within one year, the remaining balances are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

b. EMNFEERBRRFRAREER 28 b.
RARERFERE -

Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

EBRRERERAT —Z— RFFR 175



176

e M B|RME

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHE-_T—R"F+-A=1+—"HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

27. EREZRRREMENSK 27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)
(%)

ENESERNBEHRENEZERH The aged analysis of trade payables is presented based on invoice
HRBRR DT 25T - date at the end of the reporting period as follows:
S —=—5n%
2016 2015
FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
0— 90X 0 - 90 days 3,274,005 2,872,775
91 — 180K 91 - 180 days 453,687 489,573
181 — 365~ 181 — 365 days 606,642 741,946
365 KA E Over 365 days 634,756 588,141
4,969,090 4,692,435
BERNTHEERR7RAE180K ° K The average credit period on purchases of goods ranges from 7
SEEHIEMERRERBE - LA to 180 days. The Group has financial risk management policies in
RREBBEERNZ A ERERR place to ensure that all payables are within the credit timeframe.
28. GBI € 28. GOVERNMENT GRANTS
RZB—XF+=ZA=+—8 " BT At 31st December, 2016, government grants of HK$178,330,000
4 B £178,330,000 ;L (Z T — A (2015: HK$128,979,000) mainly represent subsidies granted by
£ : 128,979,000/ 7T ) £ E K PRC governmental authorities for the purpose of financing the
NEBERBRENER  BIEAWE acquisition of property, plant and equipment and construction of
M BELREBEARBELZRAEE gas pipelines.

RHEES -

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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29. RITRHMEE

HE_Z—ARFTA=T—BILFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2016

29. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

—B-RF —E—hF
2016 2015
FHET FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000
SRITE Bank loans 6,411,092 9,106,197
HAaE R Other loans 30,232 84,374
6,441,324 9,190,571
Vgl Secured - 182,642
s Unsecured 6,441,324 9,007,929
6,441,324 9,190,571
REERRITREMEE The Group’s bank and other borrowings
AR T EREEER are repayable*:
—FR Within one year 3,139,480 4,219,798
ZR—FR More than one year,
BB F but not exceeding two years 3,047,260 1,590,278
e =] More than two years,
TNBBEAF but not exceeding five years - 3,096,701
ZAF More than five years 254,584 283,794
6,441,324 9,190,571
B omBI A& Less: Amount due within one year
R —F A E B 5K IE shown under current liabilities (3,139,480) (4,219,798)
ERBEEMT Amount due after one year shown as
R—F & E B RIE non-current liabilities 3,301,844 4,970,773

PR
EENAYETE -

BIRBEEKIGEANFEAE :

the loan agreements.

EBMMRERERDT

The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in

—BAFER
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29. RITREMER (&)
7R A B SRAT T A1 B A R

HIEFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2016

29. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

Details of the terms of the Group’s bank and other borrowings are

LU set out below:
B F R
Effective
interest rates —E-XE —E-hF
per annum 2016 2015
FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
EEEE: Fixed rate borrowings:
LA RBIRITEHR  Unsecured RMB bank loans 4.13% - 6.15% 33,538 163,169
EIRFARBEMER Unsecured RMB other loans 2.55% - 3.21% 30,232 32,279
EIRAE ([BE]) Unsecured Japanese Yen (“JPY”)
IRITER bank loan 0.65% 254,584 245,598
BIEMARBHEMEZ  Secured RMB other loans 6.4% - 52,095
EEEBERTE Total fixed rate borrowings 318,354 493,141
FEMEE: Floating rate borrowings:
IR AREIEITER - Unsecured RMB bank loans
mEEZMPEARIEIT  at margin plus People’s Bank
S R of China Base Rate 5.23% — 7.04% 28,655 66,883
IR AREIEITER 0 Unsecured RMB bank loans
REZEMBITER at margin plus bank’s cost of
BUAG R funds 4.97% 1,594,315 =
BB TRITER Unsecured HKD bank loans
REZEMBBIRTT at margin plus Hong Kong
REHFEE Interbank Offered Rate
(TBBRIT (“HIBOR”)
REFEE]) 58 1.35% - 2.20% 4,500,000 8,500,000
B ARBIRITER ©  Secured RMB bank loans at
ZEEMHPRARELT margin plus People’s Bank of
EREF R R China Base Rate 4.97% - 130,547
FEEEBE Total floating rate borrowings 6,122,970 8,697,430
BE#EE Total borrowings 6,441,324 9,190,571

ROEFRTREMEENFERMREE

B FEIB BN HT LS9 ©

borrowings are set out in note 39.
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BE-_Z—FRF+-_A=4  IFFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

30. B EE 30. SENIOR NOTES

RZZTE——FMAARB ' ARaEE
= R W (E97.95%M) B & B % 1T A
% % /4750,000,0003% T (] & B
5,818,890,000/% T) #) & % F &
([BEER]D  -BEARBRREEXS
Fa5%:t 8 WRHEB¥EXH
—R - WER T _FMAMAEZ
B BERBRAEER WIEERF
FEL 8% E - REBEZT—RF+
ZA=+—BILFE BBEZNGRH
2RI 5276,795,000/8 7T (—Z—
T4 ¢ 275,233,000/87T) °

BEAZERFTNEZLHEXZER
RAIE™M - BAEBENREHRSN
AFE (BE—BRAFEFES
&) 45+ 5783,615,000% 7t (48
£716,112,197,00087T) (—ZT—
F4F :775,335,000% L (HHER
6,047,613,000/7T) ) - JyiR% HE)
WHEERE -

ANEBE R EE 5 B B BT ] b R
BRELEERARSTEA100%00EFT
RARFE  BEMIFBLOERIFFME
BEREE -

On 5th April, 2012, the Company issued senior notes with principal
amount of US$750,000,000 (equivalent to HK$5,818,890,000) at
an offer price of 97.95% of the face value of the notes (“Senior
Notes”). The Senior Notes bear coupon interest at 4.5% per annum
payable semi-annually in arrears and are due on 4th April, 2022.
The Senior Notes are unsecured and carry effective interest rate
of 4.8% per annum. Interest expenses of HK$276,795,000 (2015:
HK$275,233,000) was charged to profit or loss during the year
ended 31st December, 2016.

The Senior Notes are listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited. The fair value of the Senior Notes at the end of the
reporting period, which was measured at fair value on Level 1 fair
value measurement, was estimated at US$783,615,000 (equivalent
to HK$6,112,197,000) (2015: US$775,335,000 (equivalent to
HK$6,047,613,000)), which was determined based on the closing
market price at that date.

The Group has the option to redeem all of the Senior Notes, in full
but not in part, at 100% of their principal amount plus accrued and
unpaid interest at any time up to the maturity date.

EWARZRERAT T TR
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31.

HttRHBAE

HIEFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2016

31.

Yo 49 T 3 A AR A R R AN SRR Y

o

FEBEIIIT

OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

The payables for acquisition of operating rights for city pipeline

network are payable as follows:

—E-KRE =
2016 2015
FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
—FR Within one year 23,700 23,037
ZR—F More than one year, but not exceeding
BRBBRE two years 14,573 17,353
ZRME More than two years, but not exceeding
BT@EBRF five years 20,006 25,890
ZREE More than five years 153,164 146,529
211,443 212,809
B RB ARG REFAJER  Less: Amount due within one year
B 508 5k e Eo A AT K included in trade and other payables
R—FAEIHHFIEA shown under current liabilities (23,700) (23,037)
FERBEEMRN—F2 Amount due after one year shown as
S|P non-current liabilities 187,743 189,772

ZERENRTBRBESREFE I
EAMITERTDERERPN F10=
SOFHMERFMEIZE (T —H

£ :4.00F) -

The present values were based on cash flows discounted using
effective interest rate of 3.97% (2015: 4.00%) per annum for terms

ranging from 10 to 50 years.
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32. IR IE

NTREAFERATFETZEHER
BRERBEAE (AF) REZH

BE-_ZT—R"F+-A=+  IFFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

32. DEFERRED TAXATION

The followings are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities)
recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior

years:
RO BRFH

AN Hity

NEREHE Withholding ERER

Accelerated Fed- tax on Other
tax Operating  undistributed temporary &t
depreciation rights profits differences Total
THET TR TR TR TR
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
W=E—RE—F—H At 1st January, 2015 (392,249) (190,844) (284,078) 97,105 (770,066)
X R Exchange adjustments 6,603 7,999 15,953 (11,943) 18,612
FRZE (ZiH) Credit (charge) for the year 1,554 7,550 (157,775) 73,953 (74,718)
e YNg Acquisition of a subsidiary = = = 4,317 4317

RZZE—h% At 31st December,
+=-A=1+—-H 2015 (384,092) (175,295) (425,900) 163,432 (821,855)
[ 5 A% Exchange adjustments 7,236 8,559 18,113 (11,586) 22,322
FR (L) #E/ (Charge) credit for the year (2,296) 4,855 (215,713) 71,577 (141,577)
é-{i=VNG Acquisition of a subsidiary = - = (53,735) (53,735)
RZZ—REF At 31st December,
+=A=1+—-H 2016 (379,152) (161,881) (623,500) 169,688 (994,845)
PERE MBS TAOT ¢ Analysed for reporting purpose as:

—E—-RE —E—AF
2016 2015
FHExT FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
EEFIIBEE Deferred tax assets 209,637 190,323
EEFIEAE Deferred tax liabilities (1,204,482) (1,012,178)
(994,845) (821,855)

MN-Z—XNE+-_A=+—0 A&
[ & >k ) A £ 18 /&5 18499,167,0007%5
T (ZZ— A : 471,428,000/ 7T)
AR S R AR ) o B A AR 2R s ) SRR
HLARETE MY BB BEBERE
EFITBEAE - KRBiTEE1869,551,000
#L (ZZ—HF : 69,551,000/ 1)
AERBALEIN R TEBKEHAR
FEBRAFREIE -

At 31st December, 2016, the Group had unused tax losses
of HK$499,167,000 (2015: HK$471,428,000) available to offset
against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of such losses due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. Except for the tax loss of HK$69,551,000 (2015:
HK$69,551,000) which may be carried forward indefinitely, the
remaining losses will expire within 5 years from the year of
origination.

EBRARRARAT —T-AFEH
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HEZ

F-AE+-AS+-BLEE

32. IERERHIE (&2)

—E-R"F+ZA=+—8"
BEABERAREEREABNNEB
NAIRDRBHNBEBRNERZER
1,901,320,000/% 7t (= & — f1 & :
886,125,000/ 7T) - AR A& B fE T
FEREENORERAZSE8E
A B SR AT B N [ 4 - A B R
EEHEREE -

B %

N

33. Ig &

For the year ended 31st December, 2016

32. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

At 31st December, 2016, the aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised was
HK$1,901,320,000 (2015: HK$886,125,000). No liability has been
recognised in respect of these differences because the Group is
in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that such differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

33. SHARE CAPITAL
&t & B RO EE
Number Nominal
of shares value
of shares
FHT
HK$'000
R EEO0.108 T AL () Shares of HK$0.10 each
EERA : Authorised:
RZE—RE—H—H" At 1st January, 2015,
—ZT-—FF+-A=+—8 31st December, 2015
E—Z—XR&E+-_HA=+—H and 31st December, 2016 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
BEITRHR - Issued and fully paid:
R_ZE—hE—H—H" At 1st January, 2015,
—E-hE+-_A=+—H 31st December, 2015
rE=—ZE—XR&+-_A=+—H and 31st December, 2016 2,224,012,871 222,401

RRBHPEE - EBTRERBRAR

B4 A A TR B) -

There were no changes in the Company’s authorised, issued and
fully paid share capital during both years.
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&z

= T —RET A=A IEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

34. REAE BT & 34. LONG TERM AWARD SCHEME

R=TENETZA—8  ARAK
B BE RS RIS ((RE
B)) (FARBYRMETHER
UERAREHBEERER -

RIBEEE - AREEBRMD B
RRANARERMEANRSIET
LRE  YAEETARKERER
5 EERNBERBSEREA/L -
fisd 51 B 75 RCHA P AT 45 L PR ) 1 A 4R
BUBBA R BNF B B HC 21T
PRA 25% » B 15 55 4% PR il 1 Ak
0o RIFEEAE AR THERED
RO RAHE NMERBBAR
BB B BITAN20.5% °

RZZB-ZF=A+XA ARAH
REEMERERT  HFRARSMAR
PR BB A0 1F 2% B2 - AR BRIRIR 2
BIF SRR RER  SHALE
B X FEARE MR B 1 B D B PSR
F o

REZE-Z—X"F+-A=1+—AL
FE - XL ANUFHETR23.087%
T (ZZE—RHF:19158 L) M ™
% H 52,266,000k x5 (= F — =
£ : 1,310,000 & 17) - HEZER
1% K BT 15 3018 A52,302,000/%5 7T (=
T — F 4 : 25,082,000/ 7T) ° T8
HEZHEAELIEEETESRE
EMESHEE HEREREEIE
mhkEMEAKERERRFA (E
BEANHEERF) - BRHGK AL
15 3 18 2 @ K % F44,095,000/% 7T
(== — f % : 20,327,000/ 7T) &t
ARBER - LEEARBRE AR
645,797,384 19 (=T — R 4F ¢
48,063,384 %17 )

BEREZBHIASERERRD
PR IR (D -

On 1st December, 2008, the Company adopted the share
repurchased cash award scheme (“Incentive Award Scheme”)
as an incentive to retain and encourage the employees for the
continual operation and development of the Group.

Pursuant to the Incentive Award Scheme, existing shares of the
Company will be purchased by the trustee from the market out
of cash contributed by the Group and be held in trust for the
selected employees until such shares are vested with the selected
employees. No restricted shares will be granted if the aggregate
number of restricted shares awarded throughout the duration of
the scheme to be in excess of the 5% of the issued share capital
of the Company at the adoption date of the scheme. The maximum
number of restricted shares which may be awarded to a selected
employee under the Incentive Award Scheme shall not exceed
0.5% of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time.

On 16th March, 2010, the Company amended the Incentive
Award Scheme such that cash instead of restricted shares will be
awarded. The Company will utilise the proceeds generated from
disposal of the restricted shares held by the trustee for making
cash awards under the Incentive Award Scheme.

During the year ended 31st December, 2016, 2,266,000 (2015:
1,310,000) shares were disposed of by the trustee to the market
at an average price of HK$23.08 (2015: HK$19.15) per share.
The proceeds from disposal of those shares amounted to
HK$52,302,000 (2015: HK$25,082,000). The whole amount of the
proceeds was awarded in cash to certain directors and employees
of the Group, with an equivalent expense recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as employee benefits during the year. The difference of
HK$44,095,000 (2015: HK$20,327,000) between the cost of the
shares and the proceeds was credited to retained profits. There
are 45,797,384 (2015: 48,063,384) shares held by the trustee at
the end of reporting period.

No restricted shares were granted to eligible employees pursuant
to the Incentive Award Scheme.

EPRRERBARDE —Z— RFFR
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B 7 — &

#HE

35.

NE+TZA=+—HLFE

RARER G

Bt

R E B R B 2 AR R B R KR IE 5
B0 B R E MK ([RER
RREEETE]) - A RIBIEFER G
AR EIGROIK IR ATES
el ([aEestal)  ZEFEMH
EERAKBENEENHITE - L H
REAEE - HEBNBESFEIX
AT RS R R R IMRIE R B
8 BB RERERBERARRE
FEREmMSMREESETE > MR=
TETFT_A—HIz2BMBERE
BT EMEESAS MRESRE -

BERAREASBASHES KKK
BizEEELAHFOBER L (B
FHEBRENAEENIRGFHmE)
T AELHER - fiiE 8 £ EUE R
AR R SRR AR IR AT B RIBOR R
B (K& A AR R 5 B A g
Mo RMEFER - BEZI B
FRBUL MWL o

ERBESFEKNETH  AEESR
RAEHEEFMNs%ABAGARS
PR%ER1,5008 ST & st IVEH AR - ™
FHRE TS REELNSREMR -

R-E—ARFER-_T—RAF+_A=
+—8 - WEEREALWERT A
TEHUR AR R FE R B HERR o

FE

AEE T BRER ST BT BT E
BHBEREBERARBNEFTEOKE -
AEBAZRFERANEEAD LR
RKREMESELHER - EMEREHER
RAER) o ASER B 7 % F RN RE AR
ZIMME— B ERIELIEEAIHR -

For the year ended 31st December, 2016

35. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Hong Kong

The Group participates in both a defined contribution scheme
which is registered under the Occupational Retirement Scheme
Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) established under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the
schemes are held separately from those of the Group, in funds
under the control of trustees. Employees who were members of the
ORSO Scheme prior to the establishment of the MPF Scheme were
offered a choice of staying within the ORSO Scheme or switching to
the MPF Scheme, whereas all new employees joining the Group on
or after 1st December, 2000 are required to join the MPF Scheme.

The ORSO Scheme is funded by monthly contributions from both
employees and the Group based on a specified percentage of
the employee’s basic salary, depending on the length of service
with the Group. Where there are employees who leave the ORSO
Scheme prior to vesting, the contributions payable by the Group
are reduced by the amount of forfeited contributions. No forfeited
contributions were utilised in this manner for both years.

For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes 5% of
relevant payroll costs or at monthly maximum cap of HK$1,500
each person to the scheme, which contribution is matched by the
employees.

At 31st December, 2016 and 2015, the amount of forfeited
contributions available to reduce contributions payable in the
future years is insignificant.

PRC

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of
state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the local
government in the PRC. The Group is required to contribute a
specified percentage of the payroll costs to the retirement benefit
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the specified
contributions.
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BE-_ZT—R"F+-A=+  IFFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

36. WEEHIB A A 36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

BE-Z—RE+-A=t+—HLEFE

BOITEBMRRARAR ([ETHERBR
R DRBAREREMAE ERERF
B51%K49% s » ST B HE TH
BRR - EERBAR RBEEMN
HERDH  MRER - MR EH
ERABEMRIENREREIHE - %
RAERIEE S &5+ 2RI B285% [ A B
ERAIRAERANKRE] ARASA
EnE - TR P B M B S AR
REAESEIEBRR =28
EZEREMIE  MAXEEESRS
REMNEZTEKE ABILARERNLR
E-R_F—A"FE—A—H —%F
B ST IR R39%HE 25 ) AR ER B K
SEFRRTHE  ERBESED - Z%
BIR R B AR B8 T M R &€
& REKBEEBMENRE 75
FEREHAKERERNETERMN
ROMAERRERRE - Bt - ~"&EH
ARG EE  RERBERR
ARRRSE) - =itk - FOTEBMRK
RARBOHERF -

For the year ended 31st December, 2016

SETEBMRR AR AT (“Zhenjiang CR Gas”), which holds several
subsidiaries engaged in sale and distribution of gas fuel and
related products, gas connection, sale of gas appliances and sale
of gas fuel in automobile refilling stations, is 51% held by the Group
and 49% by the other joint venturers. It was accounted for as a
joint venture under HKAS 28 “Investments in associates and joint
ventures” as all of the strategic financial and operating decisions
must be approved by two-third of the members of the board of
directors in Zhenjiang CR Gas whereby the number of members
nominated by the board of directors by the Group did not meet
this requirement. On 1st January, 2016, one of the shareholders
with 39% interests in Zhenjiang CR Gas and the Group signed
a memorandum in which that shareholder would agree with the
Group’s decisions on operating, investing and financing activities
of Zhenjiang CR Gas, and would also agree the appointment of all
senior management of Zhenjiang CR Gas nominated by the Group.
Accordingly the Group is able to control the relevant activities on
the strategic operating, investing and financial decisions, at which

time, Zhenjiang CR Gas became a subsidiary of the Company.

T
HK$’'000
BB T E B A I A& E K& Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities
BERIGEH#EE BNATE of Zhenjiang CR Gas acquired at the date of
FREAT - obtaining control are as follows:
ME - BB RRE Property, plant and equipment 752177
A RARIE Prepaid lease payments 41,573
L Operating rights 3,194
REEE A Rl Interests in associates 18,326
AEfHERE Available-for-sale investments 2,788
KERIRS Deposits for operating rights 6,717
BEEFIEEE Deferred tax assets 22,377
FE Inventories 57,204
FEUE 5 BR 7 N E b B UK Trade and other receivables 760,707
RITHEMRRIRS Bank balances and cash 46,202
FERHE 5 BR 30 K2 B Ath FE 1~ 3R Trade and other payables (957,311)
FERT IR Taxation payable (4,999)
FEREFIEA & Deferred tax llabilities (76,112)
672,843
U BB BT 2B R T EE £ &S Results on the acquisition of Zhenjiang CR Gas:
USRI E R R A 3R B EFE Fair value of net identifiable assets of Zhenjiang
KA E CR Gas acquired 672,843
AR & & A RIR R R RAB T Previously held interest, represented by
FifstEem (IR A TER) interests in joint ventures, at fair value (343,150)
IR Non-controlling interests (329,693)
WEETHEBRARNRE e RN EE Analysis of net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
MASFRED - in respect of acquisition of Zhenjiang CR Gas:
FiSiRTTEB IR S Bank balances and cash acquired 46,202

EBRREREBRAE
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36.

R AREt+ZA=1+—HILEFE

WIEKE AR (&)

BE-2-—"F+-A=+—-HLHF
E (&)

HE-_ZT—RF+-_A=1+—HI*%E
E o WHEETE B RS R AE @RS
BT AUE £ A 1,399,308,000
TT K F242,509,000/8 7T ©

BE-_Z-RF+-A=t—-HLFE

%%iﬂi%ﬁﬁm”ﬂwa%uﬁ
FAR]D) DRABEAEERBMRA

R B H35% K 65%HE % )’J)\EE@J
EAERF - RZZE—RAFWMA ' &
S E R & R E AKRY54,000,0007T
(18%1168,475,000/87C) A — KB %
ARUIERE S B BRARKEING%
- WBSEER_E—HFRA
—“tRNEREK EEREBXRARHILE
HIETRRABEEEASEE - EEE
BRAREZRBRIERBEERMRT
BEERER WESEIAEER
BRERREH B AEEMNEIEZ
AT TREITENTISES
H o R HOHRARBEANK o

For the year ended 31st December, 2016

36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2016 (Continued)

During the year ended 31st December, 2016, the acquisition of
Zhenjiang CR Gas resulted in inclusion of post-acquisition revenue
of HK$1,399,308,000 and profit of HK$242,509,000 in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

For the year ended 31st December, 2015

R BRARERAA
by the Group and 65% by two other joint venturers and accounted

(“Longyan Kunrun Gas”) was 35% held

for as a joint venture. In April 2015, the Group acquired an
additional 36% equity interest in Longyan Kunrun Gas from one
joint venturer at a cash consideration of RMB54,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$68,475,000). The acquisition was completed on 26th May,
2015, on that date the control of Longyan Kunrun Gas was passed
to the Group. Longyan Kunrun Gas is principally engaged in sales
of liquefied gas and connection of gas pipelines. The acquisition
is part of the on-going expansion strategy of the Group with
the aim of becoming the market leader in the downstream city
gas industry. The transaction has been accounted for using the
acquisition method.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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36. WIEKIE AR (&)

BE-Z2-AFt+-A=1+—-HLF

PN
e (42
E (&)

HE-T R+ A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2015 (Continued)

FAT
HK$'000
BEEERERAAR Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities of
R EERERE Longyan Kunrun Gas acquired at the date of
REGESIEE AN obtaining control are as follows:
NEEFARET
Y% - WE K& Property, plant and equipment 5,609
BRI EE Deferred tax assets 4,317
T8 Inventories 1,268
JEUNE SRR R H M EU L  Trade and other receivables 506
AT UK 1% T8 Taxation recoverable 15
IRITHEBREIR S Bank balances and cash 171,542
FEREB SRR REMERMT  Trade and other payables (6,018)
177,239
DEERE (UARESXT) Consideration transferred, satisfied by cash 68,475
ERAZRQARINERKRTH Previously held interest, represented by interests
BT R in joint ventures 62,514
o SRR Plus: Non-controlling interests 51,400
B BB EERE Less: Net assets acquired (177,239)
WEEEREE Goodwill arising on acquisition 5,150
WHEESEBAARNIZE  Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
kB EEMBEFEON in respect of acquisition of Longyan Kunrun Gas:
BERNRERE Cash consideration paid (68,475)
FTiSIRITASBRRIR S Bank balances and cash acquired 171,542
103,067

RBE-F-A&+-A=+—AL
- RENBATSHAREES
B 75 95 3% A A 2 A B S
4,886,000/ 7T ©

WKEEER=_TE—RF— A —
B FRAAEEMHKRARA
31,095,756,0007% 7t + 11 4 A s Al 1%
£3,796,027,0007% 7T ° UL E & B
EHHAAE BT —TEAMKES
BHR-—Z—AF—A—HAxKAEE
BEREEERENRARLCEEENE
12 NESERRREENEA -

During the year ended 31st December, 2015, the acquisition of
the subsidiary resulted in inclusion of post-acquisition revenue of
nil and loss of HK$4,886,000 in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

Had the acquisition been completed on 1st January, 2015, the
Group’s revenue for the year would have been HK$31,095,756,000,
and profit for the year would have been HK$3,796,027,000. The
pro forma information is for illustrative purposes only and is not
necessarily an indication of revenue and results of operations of the
Group that actually would have been achieved had the acquisition
been completed on 1st January, 2015, nor is it intended to be a
projection of future results.

EBRRERERAT —Z— RFFR
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BHE-_T—R"F+-A=1+—"HILFE

37. KERY
AEBAERFEA

REBMERR  AEBEA T HHELE
HOAE  ZERENRKKEEE
NHRMBAMT

For the year ended 31st December, 2016

37. OPERATING LEASES

The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases which fall due as follows:

—E—REF —T—AhF

2016 2015

FHET T

HK$’000 HK$'000

—FR Within one year 39,152 36,500
F_FEEERF In the second to fifth year inclusive

(BEEREMFEN) 87,113 150,122

hE% After five years 44,383 9,393

170,648 196,015

REBONRIIEAREB R EE T
RERBEMENEMNES - BOTY
KERGE  HeRFH-—E=E+0F
(ZF—R%F: —E+0F) EE -

REBERHEA

RImEHR  AEBEABAD L
A BEHRETEL - RRRAAX
REESHIEMBENT

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group
for certain of its office and factory premises. Leases are negotiated
and rentals are fixed for term ranging from one to fifteen years
(2015: one to fifteen years).

The Group as lessor

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with
lessees for the following future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

—E-RE —E—HF

2016 2015

FERT FHT

HK$’000 HK$'000

—FR Within one year 24,980 22,607
F_FEERF In the second to fifth year inclusive

(BEEEMFEA) 75,494 35,376

AFE After five years 28,323 44

128,797 58,027

FAEHLEREMEEBP I —
E+_FH(CE-AF: —E+Z
FH) ALY - BIER ERAKEHED
RHHEM AR L -

The investment properties rented during the year have committed
tenants for term ranging from one to twelve years (2015: one to
twelve years). No contingent rent was arranged for the above
operating lease arrangements.
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BE-F-ATT-ASt-BLEE

For the year ended 31st December, 2016

38. H&iE 38. COMMITMENTS
—NE —T—AF
2016 2015
FHER FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
RATEEETHNERR Capital expenditure contracted for but
AEBY BHREPEE not provided in the Group’s financial
MEARAY : statements in respect of:
BEWE  BELEE Acquisition of property, plant and
T HEERIE equipment/prepaid lease payments 77,247 496,779
& (K1) Investments (Note) 53,806 =
131,053 496,779
ANEFEREREMAZ QT The Group’s share of the capital
HEEHEESE QA commitments made jointly with
ﬁ%ﬁﬂ’gﬁ;’iﬁ%ﬁﬂ? : other joint venturers relating to
its joint ventures are as follows:
BEWE  BERSRE Acquisition of property, plant and
FENHERIE equipment/prepaid lease payments 2,531 11,135

Mt  ANEBMEBYE =TT A T
AFERBIKTE TRPIEERE -

39. EEKH

R-ZE—RFE+ZA=+—8 K&
ECEW T I EEERRITEERE
T RARASRE R RO FE 1 & SRR Y

Note: The Group entered into several agreements with independent third
parties to establish certain sino-foreign joint venture enterprises in the
PRC.

39. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At 31st December, 2016, the Group pledged the following assets
as securities for bank borrowings and trade payables to suppliers
of natural gas as follows:

EIR
—RE —ZT—AF
2016 2015
FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
EIRIIRITER Pledged bank deposits 46,581 50,702
ME - BB MRE Property, plant and equipment - 82,407
B RLFIE Prepaid lease payments - 57,016
46,581 190,125
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40.

—E-ARFTZA=T—HIEFE

BEATRE
HBEALHRS

BRARBAM S BEA LR H
REBNFNEPBALETTIE

For the year ended 31st December, 2016

40. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Transactions with related parties

In addition to the related party transactions set out in the respective
notes, the Group entered into the following material transactions

ARG : with related parties during the year:
ZE-XF —E-AF
2016 2015
FERT FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
HETEZERA Sales to joint ventures 326,006 503,133
HE T QR Sales to associates 36,397 44 680
HETRAEMBAA Sales to fellow subsidiaries 2,497 17,933
HETHEARN Sales to non-controlling shareholders of
FEIERALR subsidiaries 71,630 138,450
A AR A AR A Interest income from loan to an intermediate
B FLEWA holding company - 19,689
BIGEI NGRS Interest income from loan to a fellow subsidiary
ERAE WA - 6,426
A EES =Gz R3] Interest income from deposits placed
FERF BN in a fellow subsidiary 25,904 30,098
REAERQRFBWA Interest income from joint ventures 6,277 2,784
BEEEAA Purchase from joint ventures 23,793 101,163
EEMMEA RN Purchase from non-controlling shareholders
FEFEIRALCR of subsidiaries 603,216 973,749
BEfEE RN ERT Interest expenses paid to joint ventures 20,061 36,327
ENREEMB ARSI S Rental expenses paid to fellow subsidiaries 3,924 4,159
AL ARIMNHEEHX Rental expenses paid to a joint venture 5,471 8,219
EANLIEPNGIE 2 S Rental expenses paid to non-controlling
Eokiskeatzbea shareholders of subsidiaries 878 4,794

RZBE—RNE+-A=+—8 " K&
BERARARRRHEABZKGERR
TR D AR A BITFEARIT RE AT
1,432,019,000/% 7t (= T — # F :
576,909,000/ 7T) + % ER1TF KA

NIRITHEBRNIRE -

and cash.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016

At 31st December, 2016, the Group placed bank and other
deposits of HK$1,432,019,000 (2015: HK$576,909,000) with China
Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd., a fellow subsidiary of the
Company, and these deposits were included in bank balances
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40. BEALIRE (&)

HEMATEHBRNRS &t

AEE B S /T EBTZES T EE
HEETRASEARN D MA
B B AT AT BRG] - KRR
HREMNEAFZENNEBSENR

RSB -

BRESARIENBEARNRZS (B
PR B B TS R 3k A0 A B SR AR ER)
S - AN SR [ R AR B R S B AR Sk PR R
| KEESISEINERZE N
ERTCAEXEBBREDETES &
EE AR RITIF R AR B U
A B TIRIT READEE AR AR R
BRRA - REBORERBOMRIEE

#*b Z
S

T RE+ZA=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

40. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Transactions/balances with other state-controlled entities

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies under CRNC
which is controlled by the government of the PRC and the Group
operates in an economic environment currently predominated by
entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by
the PRC government.

Apart from the transactions with the parent company and its
subsidiaries which have been disclosed in other notes to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group also conducts
businesses with entities directly or indirectly controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by the PRC government in the
ordinary course of business, including majority of its bank deposits
and the corresponding interest income, certain bank and other
borrowings and the corresponding finance costs, large portion of
purchases and part of sales of gas.

TEETEEEAEME Compensation of key management personnel of the Group
ZE-RE —T—hF
2016 2015
FHER FHT
HK$’000 HK$’'000
SRR R Short-term benefits 105,359 49,954
BIKBEF Post-employment benefits 926 760
106,285 50,714

EBRRERERAT —Z— RFFR

191



192

e M B|RME

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE_Z—ARFT-A=+—BILFE
41. L BEF

42,

FA - ARREER AN E6FTIL A8
EAE R RETRERRBEIA RN
RUMEBERAEENETEER - I
HZEXEBEENBBHEE REAS
HARkE Al felBaRkEME
E RPN - SHE KA & H b i
AL RETEEFTDBEUFERE
EWE7 - EMHEH T —RF—
A—Bk-ZE—HF+=-_A=+—H
iR A SRR R R E -

EXERER

REBERHERAM R E R
SRNEBNFHEERRITREME
EBREEHTE - REEITTE D
ERRRLRANRDHESFRENE
BRI NERABRHNZES
ERARNBERBAMERBDES
TR AREAEFBEFE 2 RER

B -

AEENEARBEEAR (BER
TREMER) RMELRE  TE%E
RITHEBREARBEE AREBRAE
(HEBITER  REBEMNREMHE
M) ©

AEBEEEEHRISEARE - B
I8 & R E AR A K AR R R B o A
NAW—F D - WRBCEE TS HE
AEBNEARARE  BERMKE -
BT - BITHESEFREER

41.

42,

For the year ended 31st December, 2016

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

During the year, the directors of the Company considered its
businesses of sale of gas appliances, design and construction
services and gas stations as described in note 6 being part of
the principal activities of the Group and classified the relevant
sales and income from these businesses as revenue. Accordingly,
the comparative figures of revenue, costs of sales and other
income in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income have been reclassified to conform to the
presentation in the current year. The reclassifications have no
impact on the consolidated statement of financial position as at
1st January, 2015 and 31st December, 2015.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to maintain a balance between
continuity of cash flows from operating activities and the flexibility
through the use of bank and other borrowings. The Group also
monitors the current and expected liquidity requirements and
its compliance with lending covenants regularly to ensure that
sufficient working capital and adequate committed lines of funding
are maintained to meet its liquidity requirements. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which include
bank and other borrowings, senior notes, net of bank balances and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
capital, retained profits and other reserves.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure on
a regular basis. As part of this review, management considers
the cost of capital and the associated risk, and take appropriate
actions to adjust the Group’s capital structure through the payment
of dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of new debts
or the redemption of existing debts.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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43. T A

(a)

(b)

s — =
BE_—=

NE+TZA=1

BIEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

SEMIAER (a) Categories of financial instruments
—E—XREF —ZE—AF
2016 2015
FHExT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
SREE Financial assets
B & EWEIE Loans and receivables
(BFERELESEEH) (including cash and cash equivalents) 11,904,791 16,619,692
AT EFAEBRE Financial assets at FVTPL
SRUEE 4,024,548 -
AHHERE Available-for-sale investments 63,983 59,805
St =L Financial liabilities
B7g: %= DN At amortised cost 19,523,096 22,237,818

MEEREERERBE

AEENIZEMTABEATH
HERE REERD  BURES
BRAR R B AR FEUER - B IR IRTT
TR RTEHKRES  Hi
TR EBNE SRR E MR
FoRITREMER BARRE
REMEHEE - ZESRTA
MFBRENESBMMIE - &
% E S BT AR R R L a0
BIEZERBRABERENTX
AEEEERERZERR - &
REEIREE ) B BERBVE B 151 ©

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s financial instruments include

available-for-sale investments, deposits for investments,

major

trade and other receivables, pledged bank deposits, bank
balances and cash, other deposits, trade and other payables,
bank and other borrowings, senior notes and other long-term
liabilities. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. The Group manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.

—E-REFR

EERREZERERAF

193



194

e M B|RME

Notes to the Consolidated Financial

Statements

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

HE-ZT—XRXFT_A=1+—HILFE  For the year ended 31st December, 2016
43. SWMITH (&)
(b) HHEREEEERKE (&) (b)

SR

PATS 8051 A5 52 (3 74 i 35 R SR DA S
(S EEER 2R EHIA
SNVEE) JIENEBEERE
Kafd (E2RERTHEHLR

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Foreign currency risk

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and
monetary liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, i.e.
currencies other than the functional currency of the respective
group entities, which are mainly bank balances and cash,

© RORHEMEERELR bank and other borrowings and senior notes, at the end of
%) MERMEE the reporting period are as follows:
—E-XRF —T—RF
2016 2015
FHT FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BE Assets
%50 ([Z51)) AR  United States dollars (“USD”) against RMB 94,560 108,551
ETRBT USD against HK$ 1,160 =
BILEARE HKD against RMB 136,211 877,520
ARSI RMB against HK$ 41,775 =
=L Liabilities
ETLEBTT USD against HK$ 5,726,370 =
ETLHARE USD against RMB - 5,708,620
BILREARE HKD against RMB - 8,500,000
HEH AR JPY against RMB 254,584 245,598
ARBH AT RMB against HK$ 1,594,315 =

REBEBE )BT IMNE E R
BB HIEINE R - REER
e S RTINS B B A KO8
HRONE R o EIR AT B R
ZEEPINE R -

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016

The Group manages its foreign currency risk by closely
monitoring the movements of foreign currency exchange
rates. The Group currently has not entered into any foreign
currency forward contracts to hedge against foreign currency
risk. Management will consider hedging foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.
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43. SRT AR (&)

(b)

MEREEBEREREE (F)

SR ()
SRR E T

TREVAEEREEEEE
I B¥ LI T A HNE EF
N T ¥%5% (—ZF — 14 :5%)
MRS o 5% (Z T — A F -
5%) REBUKER  AEEEY
SN T 3R ] B (3R 2 B A ATE Y
HEE o IRAEDITERTE N ARE
BEHNAINE BEMNNEKIEE
W F R INEE [E R5% (=&
—FHF :5%) HE(LAERE
H oo RRETTEBITE - Bt
BRESMABIEAETL BB
KR o W AR HIBEINEG &
F5% (= ZF — A% :5%) 8l
EHRTFABAEFILM : 4
AREREEINE T K5% (=
T—A%F :5%)  BIFEABADG
MR B EEERANFER
T ERERBE -

s — =
BE_—=

NE+TZA=1

BIEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial
(Continued)

risk management objectives and policies

Foreign currency risk (Continued)
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
(2015: 5%) increase and decrease in the relevant functional
currency of the group entities, against the following foreign
currencies. 5% (2015: 5%) is the sensitivity rate which
represents management’s assessment of the possible change
in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items
and adjusts their translation at the year end for 5% (2015:
5%) change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis
excludes balances which are denominated in US$ since US$
is pegged to HK$. A positive number indicates an increase in
pre-tax profit for the year when RMB strengthens 5% (2015:
5%) against the relevant foreign currencies. For a 5% (2015:
5%) weakening of RMB against the relevant currency, there
would be an equal but opposite impact on the pre-tax profit
for the year and the balances below would be negative.

ZEB-RF —T—RF
2016 2015
FHERT FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
E4 usD
FRBADEF Pre-tax profit for the year 4,728 280,003
BT HKD
FRB AR Pre-tax profit for the year 6,811 381,124
=] JPY
FRB AR Pre-tax profit for the year 12,729 12,280
ARH RMB
F AT A @ F Pre-tax profit for the year 77,627 =

ERERA  ARNEFRERD
BRI A S B 2 S g R - Bt
GURE DT T LR R E A BSMNE
[\

In management’s opinion,

the sensitivity analysis is

unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as
the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during
the year.

EPRRERBARDE —Z— RFFR
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BE_ZT—E+_A=+—HILtEE For the year ended 31st D
43. BT R (&)
(b) HHEMBREEBERBER (£) (b)

FIEEE

REBEMRITHESLS  HFEREK
ERBIRITER (EBEBRNF
52K 26 M25) < B E
W S SR EE KRR
REMEE (BEZEEENF
EELMME23 ~ 27K%29) & T
HIBTMSNEEENESRE
FIEER - BEEERFEERFX
BEBERI N T EREEE—F
PR ERR

AEENATEMEABRTRA
s BB LR (RS
28K 320 %30) A TEFIE
Bl - SR EEREEENEAE

B o
FIE GRR T

FREAE D MEURNG BRITH
% HithExR - BEMEITE
Bl EMNEERARIFIA
AR SRTT R H M B A A K&
B o DM HERENSHRERD
ZEREREBRNEFAERE
8 o R F103k501E X 2h & 1% A0
gRL  REREEEHFENE
B Al aE BB fE L MORTAS o
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial
(Continued)

risk management objectives and policies

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to prevailing market interest rate on bank balances, other
deposits and pledged bank deposits (see notes 26 and 25
for details of these balances) and floating-rate amounts due
from/to joint ventures, and bank and other borrowings (see
notes 23, 27 and 29 for details of these borrowings). The
management continuously monitors interest rate fluctuation
and will consider further hedging interest rate risk should the
need arise.

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate bank and other borrowings and senior
notes (see notes 29 and 30 for details). The management
continuously monitors interest rate exposure.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for interest bearing bank balances,
other deposits, pledged bank deposits, amounts due from/to
joint ventures and bank and other borrowings. The analysis is
prepared assuming those balances outstanding at the end of
each reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. A
10 or 50 basis points increase or decrease which represents
the management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates is used.



e M B|RME

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

43. € WMTH (&)

(b)

BREREEEEREE (&)
FIEmEE ()

FIE GRS ()

W2 BT EMRITES - Efth
TR EERBRITERRER
EREERRFIENFIE L,
TEAOEER AFTE i Hs
BAE  ABE_T—AF+=
A=+—R8 Lt FEOBAE G
# i,/ 8 19,606,000/ 7T (—
T — F £ 9,069,000/ L) °
W2 BRITREMEENFIR L
M, TRS0EESBEFRAEM
FHRBETE  ARE-T—X
F+_A=+—HALFENFM
& ) ¥ 8 4 1130,615,000
BT (ZZ—F4F : 43,487,000
BIL) e EXERARALEET
Eﬂ“&ﬁﬂﬁ%%ﬂ%uﬁﬁ
RITREREAERE - AZFIE
BB FTEL

AEFHGNRESRENXER
TEREBRITEAERELTE
ARRITEEN R Z K E

=EmE
MR ZHFREBTABSES
BRAEMEENERME - MIAKE

EER R FIAGE B IR R
%W%%%ﬁ?@@@%@°%
BEREEERR  AEESET
ﬁ%M%IEEE% ﬁﬁﬁA
BMLEMEERRF - AHEREE
ﬁﬁﬁﬁ@@%%%m$ﬁo

BE-_ZT—R"F+-A=+  IFFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Interest rate risk (Continued)
Interest rate sensitivity analysis (Continued)

If the interest rate on bank balances, other deposits, pledged
bank deposits and amounts due from/to joint ventures carried
at variable rates had been 10 basis points higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, the pre-tax profit for the
year ended 31st December, 2016 would increase/decrease
by HK$9,606,000 (2015: HK$9,069,000). If the interest rate
on floating-rate bank and other borrowings had been 50
basis points higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the pre-tax profit for the year ended 31st December,
2016 would decrease/increase by HK$30,615,000 (2015:
HK$43,487,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group’s
exposure to interest rates benchmarked to HIBOR on its
floating-rate bank and other borrowings.

The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR and People’s Bank
of China Base Rate.

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations in
relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the
carrying amount of those assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position. In order to minimise the credit
risk, the Group has policies in place for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts.

NEFR

EBRREREBRIE —F
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BE_ZT—E+_A=+—HILtEE For the year ended 31st D
43. BT R (&)
(b) HHEMBREEBERBER (£) (b)

FEmE (&)

REMEFHZLA - NEER
MEPMEEETHE  FHEE
EEFPHNEREERIRERFH
EERE - BTEPHEERSE
BFERI—R

BEAN - ANSR [ E B a & R (E B
BHEBEDAWRE - ARERL
A R] Y [BBROR A R S0 (B &S
18- st ARERRERERR
BEARER D -

RZT—R"FE+=ZA=+—8"
AEEBBREARSNEERR
/5684,732,0008 7t (=T — F
£ :731,098,000/5 7T) » M R
RERETHE  AEEKFE
—RALEEE ([REHR]) KN
49% IS - AEEBRIFEHR
EARE  AEDQR (REBXRA
RIHERMREBER) Bk
BUHREIAEERBBER - &
BHRMOK Y BAREE T -
REBE T EREHROT BN
N WRBREHSHEBEEDN
MREN -t s - AEER
BiEERBERIE -

MR HHF RAERIFEER
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EERRER -
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial
(Continued)

risk management objectives and policies

Credit risk (Continued)

Before accepting any new customer, the Group carries
out searches on the creditability of the new customer and
assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and defines
credit limits by customer. Limits attributed to customers are
reviewed once a year.

In addition, the Group reviews the recoverability of each
individual trade debt on a regular basis to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the Group considers that the credit
risk is significantly reduced.

At 31st December, 2016, the Group has credit risk in relation
to deposits for investments, which upon completion the Group
will hold 49% interest in a private entity (the “Investee”),
amounting to HK$684,732,000 (2015: HK$731,098,000). The
Group will inject cash and the joint venturer, which is engaged
in sale of natural gas and connection of gas pipelines, will
inject its assets and related business in the Investee. The
establishment of Investee is subject to approval of certain
documents. The Group has assessed the financial position
of the Investee and considers that the Investee is of strong
financial strength. In this regard, the Group considers that
the credit risk is low.

The credit risk on bank deposits is limited because the
counterparties are financial institutions with high credit
standing.
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43. ST R (&)

(b)

MEEREEBERBEK (&)

EERRE (&)
R_ZE—X"F+=-_A=+—8 "
AEBEBBRERAERRFKIEN
EE & HE R A747,349,00075
JL (ZZ — A F : 836,404,000
BIT) - AEEREEERR -
EEENSREHRHFNSE
EWREEE R RIFER A KEE
B DR E S EED
RHRERE - BLmE - A2
REERAREENEERRE
ERD o

mBEEmEE

ERRBHESRRE - AEEE
RYRFERERRRABAAR
SEEBNBRESRREFENK
FORERBEHRSRENT
2 - EEENEFRRITEENDY
A ERETERZS (NF)

RZE—ARAF+=ZA=+—
B - AEBRBEEFEA
5,445,570,0007% 7T ° &L & AR
EEMARESABTEREAE
NEEEMNE S K E2FT A
HihEAZE  AEEEBERENE
BESAMEEE T —A~F T+
ZA=Zt+—HRBRR+Z@EAHN
WEEEK o
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial
(Continued)

risk management objectives and policies

Credit risk (Continued)

At 31st December, 2016, the Group has concentration of
credit risk in relation to the receivables from joint ventures
amounting to HK$747,349,000 (2015: HK$836,404,000).
In order to minimise the credit risk, the management has
reviewed the recoverable amount of each receivable from its
joint ventures at the end of each reporting period to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management also monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants, if
any.

At 31st December, 2016, the Group has net current liabilities
of HK$5,445,570,000. Taking into account of the unutilised
banking facilities and internally generated funds of the Group
and the other factors described in note 2, the Group has
sufficient working capital for its present requirements for the
next twelve months from 31st December, 2016.

EPRRERBARDE —Z— RFFR
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NFETZA=+—BIFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

43. ST R (&)

(b)

BEEREEAERBE (£)

TEELREE (&)

TRAAFINAEESBAEDN
AW FEHR - ZRREBA
B (ERARE AR ERIATH
REAH) OARBRASRER
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and
principal cash flows.

BE-F
RERY  BFRBIE AR
METHRIE FE-%  Over1year ReREAE
Weighted ~ On demand but not BRLE Total REE
average o less than more than Over undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 5 years 5 years cash flows amounts
% TR TR TR TR TAR

HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

WZZ-AETZA=1-H At 31st December, 2016
ENEFETREMENT  Trade and other payables

-%8 - interest-free

-it& - interest bearing
FIRAMEE Bank and other borrowings
BERE Senior notes
AREER Other long-term liabilties

- 6,276,426 - - 6,276,426 6,276,426
115 877510 - - 877510 867,533
2.03 3,204,324 3,172,305 277,834 6,654,463 6,441,324
4.80 261,734 1,046,936 6,078,044 7,386,714 5,726,370
3.97 24,642 40,063 193,504 258,209 211,443

10,644,636 4,259,304 6,549,382 21,453,322 19,523,096

W=Z-FE+=A=+-0 At 31st December, 2015
EREFETREMEMNS  Trade and other payables

-%8 - interest-free

-it8 - interest bearing
BIREMEE Bank and other borrowings
BrER Senior notes
2 EHARE Other long-term liabilities

= 5,355,989 = = 5,355,989 5,365,989
1.26 1,792,092 = = 1,792,092 1,769,829
2.11 4,309,592 4,989,081 323,488 9,622,161 9,190,671
4.80 261,595 1,046,380 6,336,410 7,644,385 5,708,620
4.00 23,958 48,335 178,275 250,568 212,809

11,743,226 6,083,796 6,838,173 24,665,195 22,231,818

PRI 0B B ER TS B
B OFE AR - B3
P SBE EEE R TAS B
EHERD -

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject
to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments

This note provides information about how the Group
determines fair values of various financial assets and financial
liabilities.

Some of the Group’s assets are measured at fair value for
financial reporting purposes.

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group establishes the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to perform the
valuation.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs
that are not based on observable market data to estimate
the fair value of certain types of financial instruments. The
valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions used in the
determination of the fair value of various assets and liabilities
are stated below.

ERMARRERAT —T A FTHR
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43. €@ T A (&) 43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) £MIAENATEE (&) (c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments

(Continued)
AR LR BN FEGT
BENEHEENLFE
REREHR  *AEENHHE
BEETIE QT ERFE - TRH
i EEZE 2 EERN TE
WEKR (CERMAERMNMBER
ERBABIE) ©

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis.

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The following
table gives information about how the fair values of these
financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation
technique(s) and inputs used).

TABRRA
YBEATE
HERER EXTUEE  WER
IZHAEE BAgE Relationship of
ATEER Valuation Significant unobservable
SHEE RTSIRENATE Fair value technique(s) unobservable  inputs to REE
Financial assets Fair value as at hierarchy and key input(s) input(s) fair value Sensitivity
i it
2016 2015
AfHERE Lakags-  oRAES- 58 ERTHHREAE. TER R NER
8,224,007 11,104,000
Avallable- Listed equity Listed equity Level 1 Quoted bid pricesin -~ N/A N/A N/A
for-sale investments  securities - securities - an active market.
HK$8,224,000 HK$11,104,000
FERBAMENER RPEERERE 1@ 2=h ERReRE AN EEUEENT BRGEAR AT E232R AREIH
BERAATED SRENBERMEY  150%%285% ) ERG - HEE - AR
EfERIEER - RETRENIANE H2ZEERME VS E L
4,024,548,00037 BRREEE ZRY ¥ RORANEYR NATENFEITE
SEUFANEERR TRIARBHIA N G G
BIRIEEER « Er- A o
Other deposits placed  Structured deposits N/A Level 3 Discounted cash Expected yields, The higher the The directors consider
with banks in the PRC with flow. Future cash determined by expected yields, the that the impact of
non-closely flows are estimated ~ reference to higher the fair value. the fluctuation in
related embedded based on share index  the underlying expected yields
derivatives - and expected yields  share index, the to the fair value of
HK$4,024,548,000 of the instruments money market other deposits was
invested by the instruments and the insignificant as the
banks, discounted at  debt instruments deposits have short

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016

a rate that reflects the
credit risk of various
counterparties.

invested by the
banks, of 1.50% to
2.85%

maturities, and
therefore no sensitivity
analysis is presented.
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(c)
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RAFERBEFE  F—H -
E_RMRE =Rz FI EAEME
B o

ARBEERR  NFREVHR
RIBBHERAANRNE M RE
ERemafE (M E30MEN
BARERIN) WEEEREE
MR ERE

TREENERABENATET
RIBAREERN - RIBRLIRR
EREDTETE °

I A BT BN ERITEY E b 17 5K
WBE-Z—RFt+t-_A=+—
BIEFEEAaNERERAR
RAprF A TEKX - Bt - I
E2NE=RATFEFENY
BE o

s — =
BE_—=

NETZA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial
(Continued)

instruments

There were no transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3 in the
current and prior years.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of other financial assets and financial liabilities
(except for senior notes as disclosed in note 30) recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate to their fair values.

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities have
been determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

No gains or losses for the year ended 31st December,
2016 relating to other deposits placed in the banks were
recognised in profit or loss as the amount involved was
insignificant. Therefore no reconciliation of Level 3 fair value
measurements was presented.
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44. XD BB BAARR K

For the year ended 31st December, 2016

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

—E-XEF —ZT—FRF
2016 2015
FHExT T
HK$’000 HK$'000
EREEE Non-current assets
LE N L Property, plant and equipment 574 649
RHTB AR A EHIRE Unlisted investments in subsidiaries 13,210,231 12,890,687
FEULHT B~ R RIE Amounts due from subsidiaries 11,540,310 13,133,573
mkE A FRENER Loan to a subsidiary 2,745,846 2,856,603
27,496,961 28,881,512
MEEE Current assets
H e GR Other receivables 81,023 71,728
FEUL I B A R FRIE Amounts due from subsidiaries 88,088 514,782
WITEB LIRS Bank balances and cash 86,808 610,082
255,919 1,196,592
mEEE Current liabilities
HEh R ERTE B Other payables and accrued charges 196,069 191,058
FETB B A | 308 Amounts due to subsidiaries 1,151,801 348,158
HEBARRENER Loan from a subsidiary 1,051,128 1,111,986
RITEE Bank borrowings 3,094,315 4,000,000
5,493,313 5,651,202
mEAEEE Net current liabilities (5,237,394) (4,454,610)
22,259,567 24,426,902
BN R E Capital and reserves
R A Share capital 222,401 222,401
itz Reserves 13,310,796 13,995,881
13,533,197 14,218,282
ERBEE Non-current liabilities
SRITEE Bank borrowings 3,000,000 4,500,000
BRERE Senior notes 5,726,370 5,708,620
8,726,370 10,208,620
22,259,567 24,426,902
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44, KD T HBEARREK (4F) 44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY (Continued)

ARBIFEEEE Movement in the Company’s reserves:
ARBE
FEZRA
Shares
held for
BARE BB incentive EXfmE REEF
Share  Contributed award  Translation Retained ast
premium surplus scheme reserve profits Total
FET FET FET TET TET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-Z-H5—A—H At 1st January, 2015 6,378,643 7,388,600 (179,212) 314,093 1,539,803 15,441,927
FEREE Loss for the year - - - - (25,938) (25,938)
FRREEER Exchange difference arising on
EREER translation and other
Hith 2 RN comprehensive
expense for the year - - - (792,798) - (792,798)
FARERXATE Total comprehensive expense
for the year - - - (792,798) (25,938) (818,736)
HE R REN T2 Disposal of shares held for
BHZKG incentive award scheme - - 4,755 - 20,327 25,082
BERKRE Dividends paid - - - = (652,392) (652,392)
RZZ—HF At 31st December, 2015
+=-A=1+—8~ 6,378,643 7,388,600 (174,457) (478,705) 881,800 13,995,881
FR A Profit for the year = = = = 302,630 302,630
FRB/EEEM Exchange difference arising on
EREER translation and other
Hi2ERX comprehensive expense
for the year - - - (213,157) - (213,157)
FR2E (%) Total comprehensive (expense)
BNt income for the year = = = (213,157) 302,630 89,473
& A RENRTE Disposal of shares held for
A 2 kin incentive award scheme = = 8,207 = 44,095 52,302
A Dividends paid - - - - (826,860) (826,860)
RZZ—RF At 31st December, 2016
+=A=1+—8~ 6,378,643 7,388,600 (166,250) (691,862) 401,665 13,310,796
EHRIIERBRDF T RNFFH
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45. TEHMBE AT ER 45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
Ft S BBy — AR & R General information of subsidiaries
RBESRR AEERBERARINER Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of the reporting
AT o period are set out below.
EMERL BRTRER
FR L3t 2 g7 At rEBELRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
NG incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
ZE-RF _ThF
2016 2015
% %
ERREARRARA Y robeeid=) L@R4ET 100 100 REER
China Resources Gas Limited  British Virgin Ordinary US$4 Investment holding
Islands
AEI China Gas Limited REES EimA%1,000E T 100 100 REZER
Cayman Islands Ordinary US$1,000 Investment holding
AREERRERAR FE AR#50,000,0007C 80.4 80.4 HERIR
PRC RMB50,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas
HMNEERRERAR HE 15,000,000% 7T 70 70 SHER(ERRERGR
PRC US$15,000,000 B8
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
EGERRRERAR? FE 16,000,000% 7T 50 50 SHERECERERHR
PRC US$16,000,000 BB
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
BREERRERRA R HE 4,000,000 7T 100 100 SHER(EREERBR
PRC US$4,000,000 EiE

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
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For the year ended 31st December, 2016

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

Eaii g ERITRAR
R 3L 3t B R/ ERBRA FEEEGRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
DABRE incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
—A"E “T-0F
2016 2015
% %
EILERMR AR AR FE 11,000,000 7T 57.11 5711 HERICREEBBR
PRC US$11,000,000 B8
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
PNGESE vl NG HE AR #94,000,0007T 75 75 HERLRRESBR
PRC RMB94,000,000 EE
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
GRERREERAR FE AR#50,000,0007T 75 75 HEERICRRERBR
PRC RMB50,000,000 BiE
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
ZEGEBERIBR AR FE AR#70,000,0007T 71.43 71.43 HERER EERESR
PRC RMB70,000,000 B
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
EREBRRERADF HE AR#10,000,0007T 100 100 HERERRERER
PRC RMB10,000,000 el

EERRERERAT —F—

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines

NEFH
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45. TEHBELARER (&) 45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
MEBLARN—RER (&) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)
FMRL ERITRAR
R B B3/ A KEBEMGRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
NE BB incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEEK
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
ZE-RF _T-0F
2016 2015
% %
BELEBRRARRF el AR#10,000,00070 100 100 HERELEREEHSR
PRC RMB10,000,000 B8

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
REEEMRBERAR HE AR#51,300,00070 51 51  HERCEREZHR
PRC RMB51,300,000 EiE

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
FE IR S R A A A 7,788,900 7T 100 100 HERERKEEGSR
PRC US$7,788,900 B8

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
FrERRRERAR) FE AR #29 890,6007T 51 51 HEREREEEGR
PRC RMB29,890,600 BB

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
BNEERRARAR e AR #80,000,0007T 70 70 HERLERERSS
PRC RMB80,000,000 BB

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
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MEQBRN—RER (&)

NREH
Name of company

b s —
BE—

B

BHIEFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2016

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Eaii g
BR324 B
Place of
incorporation/
establishment

(Continued)

General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

BRTRBE
Bt TR A
Issued and

fully paid share/
registered capital

FEBELRE
Attributable
equity interest
of the Group
ZB-R§ —ZT-1F
2016 2015
% %

TEXK

Principal activities

AWEBRRERAR

ERMMEE BN AERA R

WHEBRERHERAT

AR IEEBRRARAR

FREBITARAR o

B
PRC

i
PRC

hE

PRC

HE

PRC

B
PRC

AR®5,000,0007T
RMB5,000,000

AR #50,000,0007T
RMB50,000,000

AR #125,150,0007T

RMB125,150,000

AR #665,700,0007T

RMB665,700,000

29,980,000 7T
US$29,980,000

100 100

100 100

88 88

70 70

50 50

EERREZERERAF

HERERRERBSR
BB

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines

HERILRARERHR
B8

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines

HERRRE NEHIR
1B AR e B RdsE
MREB

Sales of natural gas
pressure control
equipment and gas
appliances and
construction of gas
pipelines

HERERRERBSR
Bl

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines

HERERRERBSR
BB

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines

—E-REFR
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45. TEHBELARER (&) 45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
MEBLARN—RER (&) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)
EMRL ERITRAR
FR ALt B Bt TR A REBEMGRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
AEER incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEEK
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
ZB-RF _T-0F
2016 2015
% %
BEERRRARAFNC FE AR#286,582,8587T 51 51  HERCLREEESR
PRC RMB286,582,858 Bl

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
ENEBRRARRA! i AR#50,000,0007T 95.95 95.95 HERLARER@BIR
PRC RMB50,000,000 BB

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
REZEBRRERLQF i AR#55,000,0007T 70 70 HERLERERHR
PRC RMB55,000,000 BiE

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
REBERRARAR HE AR#300,190,0007T 55 59 HERIER EERESR
PRC RMB300,190,000 EiE

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
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NREH
Name of company

HEZZ—ARF+ZA=+

BILFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2016

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

MR, ERITRAR
FR ALt B B3/ SR A
Place of Issued and

incorporation/ fully paid share/

establishment registered capital

FEBELRE
Attributable
equity interest
of the Group

—E-XE —T—1F

TEXK

Principal activities

2016 2015
% %
REEME (BU2) BRAR  HE AR #300,000,0007T 50 50 HERCRKRERBR
PRC RMB300,000,000 B8
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
ZEEBRRER AR HE AR#258,686,1007T 65 65 HERILRARERGR
PRC RMB258,686,100 B
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
REAERREARRAF FE AR#252,000,0007T 65 65 HERICRRESBR
PRC RMB252,000,000 BiE
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
BIEBRRERAR"C FE AR#150,000,0007T 51 TER  HERERRERER
PRC RMB150,000,000 (PB7E36) B
N/A  Sales of liquefied gas
(Note 36) and connection of

gas pipelines

ERMARRERAT —T A FTHR
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45. T EMBEATER (&) 45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

MEQBRN—RER (&)

1 FZERAEFBEAFIEERENTY

2 AR AEBAIRE50% A EHESA
B AEERNARESZNEA
RAIMERES) - At - ZARWER
AEBBOHB AR °

3  ZEARETBIINEBEECENT

4 RNEFFHH B R R54%MH - iR
BRERZEDES7.11%m H) ©

5 ZATARTEKIHBRNDAERA
A HEHERER T ——F—-A+WmA
RIERE AP £ o

6 RIZE—RF AREAEEFRITH
B B —ARRER B ALY
ZHBARMKE RERBARES
FERPRE - B —2BRRERER
FHASERANAAESREERE
WAL EEEIEE LN R RA0 AR
EE) o Fit - RARARINEALE
ME AT -

BREBRRARDBRADE EERE
BHN - A E M Lt = ZHE A FY
MARRRERFE - L E EEFMAK
SRR ET o

R-E—RNFER-_ZE—RF+_A=
+—BHEREAER - ZHBAR
MEAAREREES -

ARBEERR - ERAIIOAER
MEAREAEENEEREESRR
BEBEAXE ARBEZERS #H
SR B RRMNFHB KBS ABE B
RITE °

(Continued)

General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

1 These companies were established in the PRC in the form of
sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise.

2 The Group has existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the subsidiary as the Group is able to nominate
over 50% of the board of directors. Accordingly, the company is
regarded a subsidiary of the Group.

3 These companies were established in the PRC in the form of wholly
foreign-owned enterprise.

4 The Group holds 54% equity interest in the subsidiary and shares profit
at 57.11% according to the shareholders’ agreement.

5 The company was established in the PRC as a joint stock limited
company and its H shares were listed on the Stock Exchange until
14th February, 2012.

6 In 2016, the Group has rights to direct the relevant activities of the
subsidiary as the Group signed a memorandum in which the other
shareholder would agree with the Group’s decisions on operating,
investing and financing activities of the subsidiary, and the other
shareholder would agree the appointment of all senior management
nominated by the Group. Accordingly, the company is accounted for
as a subsidiary of the Group.

Except for China Resources Gas Limited which is directly held by
the Company, all other above principal subsidiaries are indirectly
held by the Company and are operating principally in their place
of incorporation/establishment.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at
31st December, 2016 and 2015 or at any time during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
result in particulars of excessive length.
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45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material

non-controlling interests

The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries of

EIF2EM B QRS : the Group that have material non-controlling interests:
RItHK REREERFERES
TEEEBE FsREELH AETFHFERERN
Place of Proportion of Al (E8) Rt ERER
establishment ownership interests and Profit (loss) allocated Accumulated
i) PNEECE and principal voting rights held by to non-controlling non-controlling
Name of subsidiary place of business non-controlling interests interests interests
ZE-A " ~“T-1F ZB-xf “T-1Ff ZE-"§ “ZT-1F
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
% % FHER THEL TR TET
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BNEBRRERAR FE
PRC 30 30 30,563 32,268 92,504 98,442
EEERRAERAR FE
PRC 50 50 18,971 15,728 131,088 116,458
ELERREARAR FE
PRC 28.57 28.57 39,619 41,826 77,594 82,547
REEBRABRAF FE
PRC 49 49 52,514 50,942 213,288 190,904
HRIEERRAEERAR FE
PRC 30 30 31,218 32,639 301,925 298,301
EHEBRRERDA FE
PRC 50 50 351,697 326,928 774,427 794,003
EILEBREERAA FE
PRC 42.89 42.89 38,053 33,184 113,441 81,450
RAERRABRAR FE
PRC 45 45 4,580 2,852 152,927 151,429

EPRRERBARDE —Z— RFFR
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45. TEMBRARER (&)

BEEAEEREZNIZENEL

RIHRES ()

(Continued)

non-controlling interests (Continued)

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material

BB R BEERGERFERESR
TEEEBY P R R ARFFERERN
Place of Proportion of w7 (E8) Rt ERER
establishment ownership interests and Profit (loss) allocated Accumulated
- PNEEA and principal voting rights held by to non-controlling non-controlling
Name of subsidiary place of business non-controlling interests interests interests
ZE-AE CZZ-hE ZB-AE C—T-1§F ZB-AE C—T-I%
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
% % THET TEL TR TET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
RMEERE (F) BRAF  +E
PRC 50 50 15,793 12,791 188,766 192,131
BHERRRERRA HE
PRC 20 20 170,765 141,156 980,049 878,129
zHEERRBRAR HE
PRC 35 35 23,165 34,964 195,161 196,844
REHERRRERAR FE
PRC 35 35 4,926 (2,284) 121,276 122,453
EEEERRERRA HE
PRC 49 49 54,754 57,817 345,240 309,096
HIZERREERAR FE TR
PRC (Kt3£36)
N/A @A TEA
49 (Note 36) 118,829 N/A 333,963 N/A
BB IR R A R
FERMBEAR
Individually immaterial
subsidiaries with
non-controlling interests 1,914,901 1,965,460
5,936,550 5,477,647

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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46. TE|ELTER

NRAER
Name of company

#*b Z
B2

BR L 2
Place of
establishment

—E-RFTZA=+

VENTURES

AR A
Registered capital

BHIEFE

For the year ended

rEEELRE
Attributable

equity interest
of the Group

31st December, 2016

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT

TERH
Principal activities

-R"E —T-RHF
2016 2015
% %
REBRTRRAREEAA FE AR #800,000,0007T 36 36 HERLRRERBR
PRC RMB800,000,000 EiE
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
BMNERRERRERA FE AR#117,939,5007C 40 40 BERRARERER
PRC RMB117,939,500 Rl
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
BIEBRRARAR HE AR#150,000,0007T TEA 51 HERLRRERER
PRC RMB150,000,000  (F{736) BE
N/A Sale of liquefied gas
(Note 36) and connection of
gas pipelines
HEEERRAR FE AR#194,541,0007T 51 51 HERILRRERBR
PRC RMB194,541,000 BE
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
EFERRRERAR HE AK#1,000,000,0007T 49 49 HERCRRERER
PRC RMB1,000,000,000 BE
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
HEEFRMRARR F AR #200,000,0007T 50 50 HERLRRERAR
PRC RMB200,000,000 BE

EERREZERERAF

Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines

—E-REFR
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HIEFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2016

46. TESENTER (&)

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT
VENTURES (Continued)

FEEEERE
BRI 2 Attributable
NEER Place of AR A equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment Registered capital of the Group Principal activities
ZB-XF —T-IF
2016 2015
% %
WIEBRRERATF F AR#129,068,8007C 51 51 HERILRRERBR
PRC RMB 129,068,800 BB
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
RILERRTRRERAF F AE148,000,0007T 49.9 49.9 HERILRRERBR
PRC RMB148,000,000 BE
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
mIEBEERRROERART FE AR#122,423,3727T 50 50 HERERRESER
PRC RMB122,423,372 BB
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
FILARREERAR HE AR 164,444,4007T 55 55 HERLRRERER
PRC RMB164,444,400 BE
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
HEMRRERAF HE AR #100,000,0007T 49 49 HERLRRERAR
PRC RMB100,000,000 EiE
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
BHEBRIARAR FE AR #488,376,0007T 49 49 WERERERSR
PRC RMB488,376,000 BB

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED

Annual Report 2016

Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
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HE-T R+ A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016

46. TESENTER (&) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT

VENTURES (Continued)

TEEEERE
FROL 3 2 Attributable
NEER Place of AR A equity interest TEER

Name of company establishment Registered capital of the Group

“E-xE —2-R%F

Principal activities

2016 2015
% %
EREBRRARRF FE AR#5,000,000,0007C 49 49 HERILRRERBR
PRC RMB5,000,000,000 BB
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
REBERRRERAH HE AR#600,000,0007T 49 49 HERILRRERBER
PRC RMB600,000,000 BE
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
1 RZT—RF  BREREEETTH 1 In 2016, the Group has rights to direct the relevant activities of the

BT B —ARRERBEAEEL
ZARMEE  RERBEBEBAE
FRE - BE—BRR AR EER
FEERENABESREERE B8R
SEAEREZARNARES -
It RARARIMEREBENIER

company as the Group signed a memorandum in which the other
shareholder would agree with the Group’s decisions on operating,
investing and financing activities of the company, and the other
shareholder would agree the appointment of all senior management
nominated by the Group. Accordingly, the company is accounted for
as a subsidiary of the Group.

Ej o
AR BB RROITEREE R The Group is able to exercise joint control over these companies
BERAN—HAE  WAKEAH which the decisions about the relevant activities require the
ZERNATEE L RIEGIRE o Bt - Z unanimous consent of the Group and the joint venturers.
FRNAHEHEATEENEE AR ° Accordingly, these companies are regarded as joint ventures of

the Group.

ARBEERR - ERAIIOAEE
BERRHAEEFANEEFEEXN

The above table lists the joint ventures of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the

FTEIABRAKREEEFEEARR
Do ARREERR  BIEMAEE
RANFHBERCAREBNITR °

results of the year or form a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other joint ventures would, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of
excessive length.

EPRRERBARDE —Z— RFFR
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BHE-_T—R"F+-A=1+—"HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2016
47. TEHEQTEHR 47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES
RENT/HEAR
BENRE FEEELERE
R Equity interest Attributable
NRER Place of BlEEN held by the joint equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment Registered capital ventures/subsidiaries of the Group Principal activities
ZE-AE 1% ZB-A§f —Z-1%E
2016 2015 2016 2015
% % % %
FRURAEREEAR e AE#95,590,0007C 27 27 25.92 2592  HEXRARE  KILAH
PRC RMB95,590,000 ARMRRARRE
mREE
Sale of natural gas,
LPG and gas
appliances and
construction gas
pipelines
ERMASERMARDA  ©E AR1,556,000,0007 22.49 22.49 22.49 249 BERREERSR
PRC RMB1,556,000,000 B
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
ERRLPRAERIR e ARH40,000,0007 49 49 245 2245  HERILRR
ARAF PRC RMBA40,000,000 ERERER
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
EHTAERERERLRE  HH AR 40,000,000 36 36 36 36 HERILRR
ARAF PRC RMB40,000,000 REBREE
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
IERAREEARAT il AR 30,000,000 49 49 49 49 HERRRRES&R
PRC RMB30,000,000 B8
Sales of natural gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
* % RRIZBRHELEIZHFR S L * The company listed its shares on the Shanghai Stock Exchange.
7 o
RAEZRAR  EXRFAINAEE The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the
?%?} AIEASENEENEERS opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
BEEEAZE - AR 7§$w7,% £ results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other
FlIE-gi: NG R AN e associates would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
RITE ° result in particulars of excessive length.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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Financial Summary

E RESULTS
BE+T-_A=T—HLFE
Year ended 31st December,
—T-CZF —T-=F —T-QEF —T-A1F —E-RE
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
AL THAL THAT FHAT TEr
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
(& E=5)
(Restated)
WA REVENUE 13,621,787 22,288,027 28,717,025 32,834,025 32,916,149
FEREF PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 2,029,284 2,823,754 3,349,129 3,803,107 4,437,808
i ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
FUNGIE DN OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 1,645,543 2,160,945 2,479,898 2,837,910 3,289,399
R ES NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 383,741 662,809 869,231 965,197 1,148,409
2,029,284 2,823,754 3,349,129 3,803,107 4,437,808
EERAE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
+-A=t-8
31st December,
—T-CZF —T-=F —T-QEF —Z-AfF —E-RE
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
THT THAT THT THAT TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BEHAE TOTAL ASSETS 37,682,535 50,481,791 57,751,698 59,896,272 59,675,118
BE4E TOTAL LIABILITIES (22,996,545) (31,865,953) (36,623,779) (37,409,266) (35,970,325)
RAAE TOTAL EQUITY 14,685,990 18,615,838 21,127,919 22,487,006 23,704,793
ADTERA EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO
EiERA OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 11,698,852 14,182,935 16,063,368 17,009,359 17,768,243
FERER NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 2,987,138 4,432,903 5,064,551 5,477,647 5,936,550
RAAE TOTAL EQUITY 14,685,990 18,615,838 21,127,919 22,487,006 23,704,793

EBRRERERAT —Z— RFFR 223
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Chuandong (Chairman)

Mr. SHI Shanbo (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. GE Bin (Vice Chairman)

Mr. ONG Thiam Kin (Chief Financial Officer)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. DU Wenmin
Mr. WEI Bin

Mr. CHEN Ying
Mr. WANG Yan

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. WONG Tak Shing
Ms. YU Jian

Mr. YU Hon To, David
Mr. QIN Chaokui

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. YU Hon To, David (Chairman)
Mr. WEI Bin

Mr. WANG Yan

Mr. WONG Tak Shing

Ms. YU Jian

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. WONG Tak Shing (Chairman)
Mr. DU Wenmin
Mr. YU Hon To, David

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. WANG Chuandong (Chairman)
Mr. SHI Shanbo

Mr. DU Wenmin

Mr. WONG Tak Shing

Ms. YU Jian

Mr. YU Hon To, David

Mr. QIN Chaokui

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. WEI Bin (Chairman)
Mr. WANG Chuandong
Mr. CHEN Ying

Mr. WONG Tak Shing

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Ms. YU Jian (Chairman)
Mr. SHI Shanbo

Mr. ONG Thiam Kin

Mr. WONG Tak Shing
Mr. QIN Chaokui
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Canon’s Court
22 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM12
Bermuda

TRERME
w5

i

6%

ES N
1901-02%

EEEE

ERE AR ETT

3 4]
15 « BEEDT B 1T

FERGBFETE

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
The Belvedere Building

69 Pitts Bay Road

Pembroke HM08

Bermuda

BEERODBFETTE

BEWMERBERAA
&5

BRERNEFR1835
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COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. ONG Thiam Kin

REGISTERED OFFICE

Canon’s Court
22 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM12
Bermuda

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

Room 1901-02

China Resources Building
26 Harbour Road
Wanchai

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISOR
Reed Smith Richards Butler

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
The Belvedere Building

69 Pitts Bay Road

Pembroke HMO08

Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Secretaries Limited
Level 22, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong
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China Resources Gas Group Limited

EBEFBEE265 Room 1901-02, China Resources Building,
#FEAE1901-02Z 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

&4 Telephone : 2593 8200
{85 Facsimile : 2598 8228
#841E Website : www.crgas.com.hk

B E Email . investor-relations@crgas.com.hk
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